WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Executive Director

Member Agencies

Marva M. Sheehan, CPA
HF&H Consultants, LLC
201 North Civic Drive, Suite 230
Walnut Creek, CA 94596
Telephone • (925) 977-6961
Facsimile • (925) 977-6955
E-mail • msheehan@hfh-consultants.com

City of Campbell
Town of Los Gatos
City of Monte Sereno
City of Saratoga

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
May 6, 2021
5:00 p.m.
Teleconference/Public Participation Information
This meeting will be held exclusively via teleconference participation by the Board
members in locations not open to the public in order to be in compliance with the
Governor’s Executive order N-25-20 (March 12, 2020), superseded by Order N-29-20
(March 17, 2020), allowing physical location and teleconference meetings required by
the Ralph M. Brown Act. The purpose of the order is to ensure the safest environment
for both staff and the public, consistent with Santa Clara County Public Health
Department’s current recommendations.
For this meeting, there will be no physical location from which members of the public
may observe the meeting. Instead, members of the public can attend and/or participate
using the following:
•

•

Submit written comments via email to Hailey Gordon at hgordon@hfhconsultants.com prior or during the time for public comment at the meeting. Ms.
Gordon will share all comments with the Board at the meeting and make them
part of the public record.
Observe and address the Board telephonically, at the appropriate time for public
comment during the meeting, following these instructions:
Link to join the Virtual Meeting:
Zoom ID: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82370077465
Call in Phone Number: +1 (669) 900-9128
Meeting ID: 823 7007 7465

•

During the meeting, the Chairperson will call for public comment. If you wish to
address the Board, please use the “raise hand” feature and Chairperson will call
on you when it is your turn.
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Note: To improve everyone’s opportunity to participate, please mute your
phone until you are called to speak.
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, California Law, and the
Governor’s Executive Orders, it is the policy of the West Valley Solid Waste Authority
to offer its public meetings in a manner that is readily accessible to everyone, including
those with disabilities. An individual may request reasonable modifications or
accommodations so that they may observe and address the Board at this teleconference
meeting. If you are disabled and require accommodations to participate, please contact
Ms. Hailey Gordon at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting at hgordon@hfhconsultants.com with the following information: name, phone number, email, and type
of assistance required.
CALL TO ORDER
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
ROLL CALL
CONVENE TO CLOSED SESSION
PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT
Legal Authority: Govt Code section 54957(b)(1)
Position:
Executive Director, Authority Counsel
Staff Present:
Executive Director, Authority Counsel

RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION
REPORT ON ACTION TAKEN IN CLOSED SESSION
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS
None
OLD BUSINESS
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None
CONSENT CALENDAR
1. Approve Resolution No. 2021-02 Approving The Amendment To Professional
Services Agreement With Logan & Powell, LLP.
2. Approve Resolution No. 2021-03 Approving The Amendment To West Valley Solid
Waste Management Authority Agreement For Executive Director Services With
HFH Consultants, LLC.
3. Approve minutes of February 4, 2021 Regular Board Meeting.
4. Receive and file the Executive Director financial report for the 9 months ended
March 31, 2021.
5. Receive and file a report on the West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority’s
FY 19-20 Audited Financial Statements.
NEW BUSINESS
6. Consider Board Meeting Schedule for FY 2021-22.
7. Receive a report on recent regulatory changes and program updates.
8. Receive a report on status of SB 1383 implementation.
9. Approve Resolution 2021-04 approving the form of and authorizing the execution of
a first amendment to Amended and Restated Franchise Agreement Between West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority and West Valley Collection & Recycling,
LLC for the Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food
Scraps and Construction and Demolition Debris within the Authority, the
Transportation of Such Materials to Appropriate Places of Processing, Recycling,
Composting and/or Disposal, and the Processing of Recyclable Materials and Food
Scraps
10. Approve Resolution 2021-05 adopting the FY 2021-22 budget.
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PUBLIC HEARINGS
11. Approve Resolution 2021-06 ratifying the Guadalupe Landfill contractual disposal
proprietary rate increase of 1.80% effective July 1, 2021.
12. Approve Resolution 2021-07 ratifying the West Valley Collection & Recycling
contractual collection rate increase effective July 1, 2021.
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
BOARD MEMBER REPORTS
ADJOURNMENT
Next Regular Meeting:

September 2, 2021, 5:00 p.m.

AGENDA ITEM NO.
MEETING DATE:

WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
AUTHORITY

1
MAY 6, 2021

AGENDA REPORT

Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

Approve Resolution 2021-02 Approving The Fifth Amendment to
Professional Services Agreement With Logan & Powell, LLP

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Consider the Resolution of the Board of Directors of the West Valley Solid Waste
Management Authority Approving the Fifth Amendment to Professional Services
Agreement with Logan & Powell, LLP.
DISCUSSION
Logan & Powell, LLP, and its predecessor, have provided legal services to the West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority (the “JPA”) since the establishment of the
JPA. The Professional Services Agreement was last amended in 2012. Since that time,
the JPA has paid the firm on an hourly basis for legal services. The rate for those
services is $200, which is the same rate that has been charged since 2012. The Fifth
Amendment will increase that hourly rate to $275/hour.
FISCAL IMPACT
Approval of the resolution will increase the hourly rate for the Authority Counsel to
$275/hour. With this amendment, the budget for legal services for Fiscal Year 2021-22
will be $27,775.00.

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Page 2

AGENDA REPORT
May 6, 2021

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Resolution No. 2021-02 Approving The Fifth Amendment To Professional Services
Agreement
The Fifth Amendment to Professional Services Agreement with Logan & Powell, LLP

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-02
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE WEST VALLEY SOLID
WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY APPROVING THE AMENDMENT TO
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH LOGAN & POWELL, LLP
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY that the document entitled “Fifth
Amendment to Professional Services Agreement”, a copy of which is attached hereto
and incorporated herein by reference, is hereby approved.
This resolution was passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of the West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority at a regularly scheduled meeting on the 6th
day of May, 2021, by the following vote:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
Approved:

__________________________
Paul Resnikoff, Chairperson

Attest:

__________________________
Marva Sheehan, Executive Director
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FIFTH AMENDMENT TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT
This Fifth Amendment to Professional Services Agreement is made and entered
into this 6th day of May, 2021, by and between Logan & Powell, LLP (“Attorney”) and the
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority (“Authority”).

RECITALS
A. Attorney and Authority have previously entered into that certain Professional
Services Agreement and amendments thereto.
B. The Fourth Amendment permits an amendment to the rates charged by Attorney
if approved by resolution of Authority.
C. Attorney and Authority desire to amend the rates charged by Attorney.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals and the mutual promises
contained herein, Authority and Attorney agree as follows:

AGREEMENT
1. Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
“2. Compensation and Reimbursement: Beginning July 1, 2021, Attorney
shall be compensated at an hourly rate of $275.00. Thereafter, compensation
paid to Attorney shall be adjusted annually on July 1st by 2%. Authority shall
reimburse Attorney for all customary and reasonable out-of-pocket costs and
expenses advanced or paid on behalf of Authority in the performance of any
legal services, including all travel expenses incurred in the performance of the
legal services described herein. Mileage shall be reimbursed at the rate of
.57 per mile.”
2. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement and amendments thereto shall
remain unchanged and in effect during the term of the Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Fifth Amendment to the Professional Services
Agreement is executed this 6th day of May, 2021.

AUTHORITY:

ATTORNEY:

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE
MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY

LOGAN & POWELL, LLP

By: ____________________________
Paul Resnikoff
Chairperson

By: ____________________________
Kirsten M. Powell
Managing Partner
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Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Authority Counsel

Subject: Approve Resolution 2021-03 Approving The Amendment to The West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Agreement For Executive
Director Services with HF&H Consultants, LLC

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Consider the Amendment to the West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Agreement for Executive Director Services with HF&H Consultants, LLC and Adopt
Resolution No. 2021-03 approving the amendment.
DISCUSSION

HF&H Consultants, LLC has served as the Executive Director to the West Valley Solid
Waste Management Authority (the "JPA") since the establishment of the JPA. In 2013,
following the issuance of an RFP for Executive Director Services, the JPA selected HF&H
Consultants, LLC, (HF&H) for Executive Director Services and named Marva Sheehan as
Executive Director of the Authority. The agreement that was executed in 2013 included
a scope of services for the following year and associated rates. A copy of that agreement
is attached to this report. Since that time, numerous regulatory obligations have been
imposed on the JPA and requirements under the JPA's contracts have changed. As such,
it is appropriate to amend the scope of services.
Staff is recommending that the scope of services be defined in broad terms in the
agreement but the work for each year will be further refined through the budget process.
The tasks proposed for the upcoming fiscal year is attached to the amendment but going
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forward the tasks will be approved with the budget. By keeping the scope of services to
broad categories, the need to amend the contract on a yearly basis to adjust the scope of
services is eliminated.
The hours associated with the tasks proposed for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 are as follows:
Contract
Exhibit A Task
Number

11

.,

.•

n

Task Description

Regulatory Complia nee, and

Proposed Cost

Total Hours

~---

Contract Management,
1, 3,4, 5

,,

582

$126,200

314

$60,890

395

$75,485

261

$50,030

Authority Administration*
2

6

7

SB 1383 Regulatory Compliance
Cost-Based Review Rate Setting
Process
Collection Contract
Procurement Process
Out-of-Pocket Expenses

Total Budget

$1,000

1552

$313,605

* Includes Engagement Management

The tasks include several items that represent one time tasks or a significant increase in
time for particular tasks due to statutory or contractual obligations. Those tasks are
described below:
•

SB 1383 Regulatory Compliance - SB 1383 places significant requirements on the
Member Agencies to achieve compliance and not be assessed penalties by
CalRecycle. HF&H, as Executive Director with accompanying staff, will provide
assistance and guidance to the Member Agencies, up to and including the filing
of reports with CalRecycle.
o FY 2021-22 Amount and Hours -$60,890-314 hours

•

Cost-Based Review Rate Setting Process -The current contract with West Valley
Collection & Recycling (WVC&R) requires collection rates for Rate Year 16 (FY
2022-23) be calculated based on WVC&R' s actual costs and revenues based on
methodology prescribed in the contract. This requires additional review time of
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the rate adjustment application than in the index-based years. This rate setting
process was last done in 2012.
o FY 2021-22 Amount and Hours -$75,485-395 hours
•

Collection Contract Procurement Process - The WVC&R contract will expire in
February 2024. The procurement process, whether sole-source or competitive
requires approximately 24 months lead time. HF&H performs this service for
many other agencies in California. It is anticipated the process will begin in late
FY 2021-22 with meetings with the Board, Member Agency staff in developing
the desired programs or changes to existing programs.
o FY 2021-22 Amount and Hours - $50,030 - 261 hours

In addition to the amended scope of services, the amendment includes an adjusted rate
schedule and a CPI adjustment to the rates each year.

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Resolution No. 2021-03 Approving The Amendment To West Valley Solid Waste
Management Authority Agreement For Executive Director Services
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Agreement For Executive Director
Services with HF&H Consultants, LLC.

FISCAL IMPACT
The estimated cost for Executive Director services for Fiscal Year 2021-22 is $313,605.00.

Authority Counsel
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-03
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE WEST VALLEY SOLID
WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY APPROVING THE AMENDMENT TO WEST
VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
AGREEMENT FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SERVICES
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE WEST VALLEY SOLID
WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY that the document entitled “AMENDMENT TO
WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY AGREEMENT FOR
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SERVICES”, a copy of which is attached hereto and
incorporated herein by reference is hereby approved.
This resolution was passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of the West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority at a regularly scheduled meeting on the 6th
day of May, 2021, by the following vote:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:

Approved:

__________________________
Paul Resnikoff, Chairperson

Attest:

__________________________
Marva Sheehan, Executive Director
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AMENDMENT TO WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
AGREEMENT FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SERVICES

THIS AMENDMENT is dated this 6th day of May, 2021, and is made by and between the
WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY, a California joint powers
authority, ("Authority") and HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC, a limited liability company,
("Consultant") .

I.

RECITALS

1.1

On September 5, 2013, the Authority and Consultant entered into that certain "West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Agreement for Executive Director
Services" (the "Agreement").

1.2

The parties desire to enter into this Amendment to update the scope of services to
be performed by Consultant.

II.

AMENDMENT
1.1 Section 2.1

Scope of Services is hereby amended to read as follows:

"Section 2.1 Scope of Services. Consultant shall act as the Executive Director of
the Authority and provide all services necessary to assist the Authority in performing
those services outlined in the formation documents of the Authority or required by
law including, but not limited to, contract administration, implementation and
monitoring of statutory requirements, regulatory compliance and monitoring,
facilitation of board meetings, and administrative services for the Authority. Each
year as part of the budget process, Consultant shall provide a scope of services and
budget for the following fiscal year consistent with the duties of the Executive Director
outlining the tasks to be performed that year and associated costs. For Fiscal Year
2021-2022, Consultant shall perform those services outlined in Exhibit A."
1.2
Section 2.6 is amended to provide an updated Compensation Schedule, a
copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit Band incorporated herein. In addition,
the rates included in Exhibit B shall be adjusted annually by an amount equal to the
percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index for all Urban Wage Earners and
Clerical Workers, for the San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward, CA, Base Period 19521984 = 100, not seasonally adjusted ("CPI"), compiled and published by the United
States Bureau of Labor Statistics, from the immediately preceding calendar year
times the rates and charges in effect for the immediately preceding calendar year.
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Ill.

Except as expressly provided in this Amendment, all other terms and conditions
of the Agreement shall remain unchanged and in effect during the term of the
Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and Consultant have executed this Amendment.
AUTHORITY:
West Valley Solid Waste
Management Authority

CONSULTANT:
HF&H Consultants, LLC

BY:

BY: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Marva Sheehan, Vice President

-Pa
-u- - -Chair
-----I Resnikoff,

Page 2 of 2
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Exhibit A - Scope of Services

SCOPE OF SERVICES
The tasks that HF&H will perform include, but are not limited to, the following:

Task 1: Contract Administration
la

Ensure that WVC&R and Guadalupe comply with requirements to furnish certificates of insurance
and performance bonds in accordance with the agreements.

lb

Review the companies' operational performance and calculate the amount of liquidated
damages, if any, under the agreements.

le

Manage the revision of these contracts for implementation of new programs, changes to
recyclable materials, or other changes as directed by the Board.

ld

Work with the companies to respond to complaints and inquiries from Member Agencies'
residents and businesses regarding services provided under the agreements.

le

Enforce the collection franchise agreement provisions and respond to violations (e.g., rogue
dumpsters).

1f

Support, either directly or through the management of a procurement consultant, any future solid
waste collection and /or disposal procurement contract(s).

Task 2: SB 1383 Implementation and Monitoring
2a

Ensure that WVC&R's container colors and labeling are compliant with SB 1383 through reviewing
orders and conducting side visits.

2b

Develop and implement the Authority's generator waiver verification procedures in cooperation
with WVC&R and a third-party reporting system.

2c

Support Member Agencies with ordinance adoptions, including attending Member Agency
Council Meetings.

2d

Provide assistance to Member Agencies with the development of individual procurement plans
and use plans for organic materials.

2e

Support Member Agencies with the development of new and ongoing outreach programs for
single-family, multi-family, and commercial customers, edible food generators, and self-haulers.

2f

Determine standards and protocols for annual inspections of edible food generators. Inspections
for calendar year 2022 will occur in HF&H's FY 22-21 scope of work.

2g

Determine approach and investigation procedures for SB 1383-realted complaints and conduct
investigations beginning January 1, 2022.
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2h

Determine approach and procedures for annual verification of self-hauler compliance with SB
133. Verification of self-haulers for calendar year 2022 will occur in HF&H's FY 22-21 scope of
work.

2i

Prepare and submit Member Agencies' Initial Compliance record to CalRecycle on behalf of each
Member Agency. Additionally, we will respond to CalRecycle questions.

2j

Provide assistance implementing a software program.

2k

Develop and maintain an Implementation Record on behalf of each Member Agency.

Task 3: Other Regulatory Compliance Monitoring
3a

Assist Member Agencies with compliance for other regulations.

3b

Attend monthly meetings with Member Agency staff.

3c

Provide periodic reports on the status of federal and state legislation impacting the Member
Agencies' refuse and recycling programs at regularly scheduled Board Meetings. Provide
information on industry trends.

3d

Represent the Authority at County TAC meetings and other relevant regional and statewide
meetings as needed and as directed by the Member Agencies' staff and/or Board and
communicate relevant information to Member Agencies.

3e

Prepare and submit miscellaneous reports requested by local agencies related to the Authority's
solid waste and recycling collection and disposal programs. These include, for example, Santa
Clara County's recycling hotline and HHW program and collection rate surveys.

3f

Prepare and submit the Member Agencies' Annual Reports to CalRecycle on behalf of each
Member Agency. This includes accompanying the CalRecycle representative on site visits in the
Authority jurisdictions. Additionally, we will respond to CalRecycle questions related to the
annual reports and site visits.

Task 4: Facilitate Board Meetings
4a

Prepare for and conduct quarterly Board Meetings. This task includes preparing the public
notices, agendas, agenda reports, resolutions, Board Member agenda packets, public meeting
binders, and meeting minutes. In addition, prepare for and conduct "agency review" meetings
with Member Agency staff prior to regularly scheduled Board Meetings or special Board Meetings.

4b

Prepare a financial report of the Authority's activities for each quarter, showing actual
expenditures against the approved budget. These reports are presented at the next regularly
scheduled Board Meeting following the close of each quarter.

4c

Present status reports on each of the Authority projects or activities at regularly scheduled Board
Meetings, as needed.

4d

Follow-up on action items from the Board Meeting, including maintaining a record of all Authority
actions.
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Task 5: Authority Administration
Sa

Conduct conference calls with Member Agencies' staff on an as needed basis (at least quarterly)
to report on issues and receive direction from staff between Board Meetings, including special
Board Meetings. This task includes preparing the agenda and agenda materials. There are times
when topics require face-to-face meetings. We will discuss the options with the Member
Agencies' staff and will schedule the appropriate time and place for the meeting(s).

Sb

Respond to inquiries from Member Agencies' residents and businesses regarding the Authority's
solid waste and recycling services in a timely manner.

Sc

Manage the procurement of legal services, liability insurance and other services and supplies
required for the conduct of the Authority's business.

Sd

Manage the submission of Fair Political Practices Commission forms (Form 700) by the Executive
Director, Legal Counsel, and Board Members.

Se

Prepare the annual Authority budget for approval by the Board.

Sf

Prepare and provide orientation materials (including copies of the collection and disposal
agreements, Rules of Conduct, and Joint Powers Authority agreement) to new Board members as
needed.

Sg

Meet with the Member Agencies' Councils as requested for Council workshops to review changes
to solid waste and recycling collection programs.

Sh

Work with the City of Campbell auditors to complete the annual financial audit of the Authority's
financial statements. This includes preparing the financial statements, reviewing the footnotes,
preparing the management letter, and responding to inquiries from the auditors.

Si

Lead in the maintenance of the Authority's website. We collaborate with WVC&R and the
Member Agencies' staff to maintain the website.

Sj

Review public education material provided by WVC&R for proper content prior to final
publication.

Task 6: Cost-Based Rate Adjustment
6a

Prepare for and meet with WVC&R to receive its application and obtain an explanation for any
changes in its compensation for Rate Year Sixteen, provide an initial request for documents and
information that are necessary for our review, and, establish a schedule.

6b

Review the application for mathematical accuracy and compliance with the Franchise Agreement,
notify WVC&R and the Authority of any areas of non-compliance, and request additional
information necessary to bring the applications into compliance.

6c

Reconcile Rate Year Fourteen revenues and expenses reported in the applications to WVC&R's
audited financial statements and its general ledger and review the reasonableness of any adjusted
costs in accordance with Section 8.4.2 of the Franchise Agreement.
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6d

Review the calculation of, and support for, any adjusted Rate Year Fourteen labor, vehicle-related
costs, and other costs, in accordance with Section 8.4.2.B of the Franchise Agreement, and
summarize Rate Year Fourteen allowed costs.

Ge

Calculate allowed profit, based on the adjusted forecasted Rate Year Sixteen operating costs
eligible for profit, in accordance with Section 8.4.2.C of the Franchise Agreement.

6f

Review the calculation and support for the WVC&R's forecasted pass-through costs, including
disposal and lease costs, in accordance with Section 8.4.2.D of the Franchise Agreement.

6g

Review forecasted regulatory, franchise fees, and compensation review fees using Rate Year
Sixteen values in accordance with Section 8.4.2.D.

6h

Meet with WVC&R to review preliminary findings, receive comments and any additional
information, and adjust our preliminary findings, as appropriate.

6i

Prepare for and attend a conference call with WVC&R and the Authority to discuss preliminary
findings.

6j

Prepare a draft report of any findings from our review of WVC&R's Rate Year Sixteen proposed
costs and present a final report to the Authority.

Task 7: Collection Procurement
7a

Develop the Process Design Outline for all policy, business term, service, and regulatory
compliance issues for the upcoming franchise, including documentation of current practices in
the Franchise Agreement.

7b

Facilitate meetings with Member Agency staff to discuss the key issues and alternatives and
complete the Design Recommendation .

7c

Document and present Proposed Process Design for Board Meeting (PowerPoint-style) and
receive Board Member input. Revise Proposed Process Design based on Board Member input.

7d

Develop a draft franchise agreement, a draft RFP, and draft proposal cost forms (Draft RFP
Package) based on the Process Design Outline for all policy, business term, service, and regulatory
compliance areas required for the upcoming franchise.

7e

Prepare a Final RFP Package and present for Board Meeting to receive finalization of the RFP
package from Board Members.
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HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC
STANDARD HOURLY RATES AND BILLING
ARRANGEMENTS
(Effective January 1, 2021) 1

Professional Fees
Hourly rates for professional and administrative personnel are as follows:
Position
President
Senior Vice President & Vice President
Senior Project Manager
Senior Associate/Project Manager
Associate Analyst
Assistant Analyst
Administrative Staff

Rate
$305
$280-$300
$260-$285
$199-$235
$159 -$165
$120-$160
$100-$120

Direct Expenses
Standard charges for common direct expenses are as follows:
Automobile Travel
Airfare and Public Transit

Prevailing IRS mileage rate
Actual Cost

Billing Policies
Our policy is to bill for our services based on the standard hourly rates of the staff member assigned,
multiplied by the time required to perform the client-related tasks, plus the direct expenses as described
above. In implementing this policy we adhere to the following practices:
•

It is our standard practice to e-mail invoices to our clients, although hard copies of invoices can be
sent to clients on request.

•

We round to the nearest one-quarter hour (e.g., if two hours and 55 minutes are spent on a task, it
is recorded as three hours, if two hours and 5 minutes are spent on a task, it is recorded as two
hours). A minimum charge of one-quarter hour is charged for any client work performed in a day.

•

We do not markup out-of-pocket expenses, however, we may charge administrative or professional
time related to the provision of the goods and services associated with these charges.

•

If subcontractors are used, HF&H reserves the right to charge a 5% markup should the
subcontractor's services require cumbersome administrative oversight (e.g., multiple
subcontractors; engagement turns out to solely require services of subcontractor, but HF&H as the
prime must prepare billings).

1

Litigation Support and Expert Witness Services are not covered by this schedule of fees and expenses.

HF&H Consultants, LLC
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HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC
STANDARD HOURLY RATES AND BILLING
ARRANGEMENTS
•

Mileage fees are based on the round-trip distance from the point of origin.

•

If a client's change to a previously scheduled meeting results in penalties being assessed by a third
party (e.g., airline cancellation fee), then the client will bear the cost of these penalties.

While no minimum fee for a consulting engagement has been established, it is unlikely (given the nature
of our services) that we can gain an understanding of a client's particular requirement, identify
alternatives, and recommend a solution in less than twenty-four consulting hours.

Insurance
We maintain the following policies of insurance with carriers doing business in California:
•

Comprehensive General Liability Insurance ($2,000,000 Occurrence/$4,000,000 Aggregate)

•

Workers' Compensation ($1,000,000)

•

Professional Liability Insurance ($2,000,000 Occurrence/$2,000,000 Aggregate)

•

Hired and Non-Owned Auto Liability2 ($2,000,000)

•

Umbrella Liability ($3,000,000 Occurrence/$3,000,000 Aggregate)

All costs incurred in complying with additional coverages or limits (excluding additional insured and
waiver of subrogation endorsements) become the responsibility of the client and are not included in the
fees for services or direct charges but are billed in addition to the contract at cost, plus any professional
or administrative fees.

Invoices and Payment for Services
Our time reporting and billing system has certain standard formats that are designed to provide our
clients with a detailed invoice of the time and charges associated with their engagement. (We typically
discuss these with our clients at our kick-off meeting.) We are also pleased to provide our clients with a
custom invoice format but we will have to bill the client for time spent conforming our invoices to their
unique requirements.
Billings for professional services and charges are submitted every month, in order that our clients can
more closely monitor our services.

2

HF&H Consultants does not own any company automobiles.

HF&H Consultants, LLC
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AGENDA REPORT

WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

AUTHORITY

Date:

September 5, 2013

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Authority Counsel

Subject:

Approval of Contract with HFH Consultants, LLC for Executive Director Services

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Authorize the Board Chair to execute the agreement with HFH Consultants, LLC, for
Executive Director Services and name Marva Sheehan Executive Director of the Authority.
DISCUSSION

In April 2013, the Board issued an RFP for Executive Director services. The Authority received
three responses to the RFP. After interviewing the candidates, the Authority Board
determined to appoint Marva Sheehan of HFH Consultants, LLC, as the Executive Director.
The scope of services HFH Consultants, LLC will provide was included in the proposal
submitted by HFH Consultants, LLC on April 17, 2013. The summary of expected costs was
also included in the proposal. The Executive Director will act at the direction of the Board.
FISCAL IMPACT

The estimated cost for Executive Director services is $80,650.00.
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Agreement for Executive Director Services
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WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
AGREEMENT FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SERVICES
THIS AGREEMENT is dated this 5th day of September, 2013, and is made by and
between the WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY, a California
joint powers authority, (“Authority”) and HFH CONSULTANTS, LLC, a limited liability
company, (“Consultant”).
I.

RECITALS

1.1

The Authority desires to engage Consultant to provide executive director services
to the Authority.

1.2

The Consultant represents and affirms that it is qualified and willing to perform the
desired work pursuant to this Agreement.

II.

AGREEMENT

2.1

Scope of Services. Consultant shall provide services as described in that certain
Proposal’s Scope of Services sent to the Authority on April 17, 2013, which is
hereby incorporated by reference and attached as Exhibit A.

2.2

Time of Performance. Consultant shall perform the services described in this
agreement in accordance with the Proposal and as directed by the Authority.

2.3

Compliance with Laws. The Consultant shall comply with all applicable laws,
codes, ordinances, and regulations of governing federal, state and local laws.
Consultant represents and warrants to Authority that it has all licenses, permits,
qualifications and approvals of whatsoever nature which are legally required for
Consultant to practice its profession.

2.4

Sole Responsibility. Consultant shall be responsible for employing or engaging all
persons necessary to perform the services under this Agreement. Marva Sheehan
shall act as the Executive Director for the Authority.

2.5

Information/Report Handling. All documents furnished to Consultant by the
Authority and all reports and supportive data prepared by the Consultant under this
Agreement are the Authority’s property and shall be delivered to the Authority upon
the completion of Consultant's services or at the Authority's written request. All
reports, information, data, and exhibits prepared or assembled by Consultant in
connection with the performance of its services pursuant to this Agreement are
confidential until released by the Authority to the public, and the Consultant shall
not make any of the these documents or information available to any individual or
organization not employed by the Consultant or the Authority without the written
consent of the Authority before such release. The Authority acknowledges that the
reports to be prepared by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement are for the
purpose of evaluating a defined project, and Authority's use of the information
contained in the reports prepared by the Consultant in connection with other
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projects shall be solely at Authority's risk, unless Consultant expressly consents to
such use in writing. Authority further agrees that it will not appropriate any
methodology or technique of Consultant which is and has been confirmed in writing
by Consultant to be a trade secret of Consultant.
2.6

Compensation. Compensation for Consultant's professional services shall be paid
on a time and material basis in accordance with the Compensation Schedule
attached hereto as Exhibit B. Payment shall be based upon Authority approval of
each task.

2.7

Billing. Billing shall be monthly by invoice within thirty (30) days of the rendering of
the service and shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the work
performed by whom at what rate and on what date. Also, plans, specifications,
documents or other pertinent materials shall be submitted for Authority review,
even if only in partial or draft form. Additional Consultant billing information is
provided in Attachment C.

2.8

Availability of Records. Consultant shall maintain the records supporting this billing
for not less than three (3) years following completion of the work under this
Agreement. Consultant shall make these records available to authorized personnel
of the Authority at the Consultant's offices during business hours upon written
request of the Authority.

2.9

Assignability and Subcontracting. The services to be performed under this
Agreement are unique and personal to the Consultant. No portion of these
services shall be assigned or subcontracted without the written consent of the
Authority.

2.10

Independent Contractor. It is understood that the Consultant, in the performance of
the work and services agreed to be performed, shall act as and be an independent
contractor and not an agent or employee of the Authority. As an independent
contractor he/she shall not obtain any rights to retirement benefits or other benefits
which accrue to Authority employee(s). With prior written consent, the Consultant
may perform some obligations under this Agreement by subcontracting, but may
not delegate ultimate responsibility for performance or assign or transfer interests
under this Agreement. Consultant agrees to testify in any litigation brought
regarding the subject of the work to be performed under this Agreement.
Consultant shall be compensated for its costs and expenses in preparing for,
traveling to, and testifying in such matters at its then current hourly rates of
compensation, unless such litigation is brought by Consultant or is based on
allegations of Consultant's negligent performance or wrongdoing.

2.11

Equal Employment Opportunity. Consultant warrants that it is an equal opportunity
employer and shall comply with applicable regulations governing equal employment
opportunity. Neither Consultant nor its subcontractors do and neither shall
discriminate against persons employed or seeking employment with them on the
basis of age, sex, color, race, marital status, sexual orientation, ancestry, physical
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or mental disability, national origin, religion, or medical condition, unless based
upon a bona fide occupational qualification pursuant to the California Fair
Employment & Housing Act.
III.

INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION

3.1

Minimum Scope of Insurance:
i.

Consultant agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract,
General Liability insurance policies insuring him/her and his/her firm to an
amount not less than: one million dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit per
occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage.

ii. Consultant agrees to have and maintain for the duration of the contract, an
Automobile Liability insurance policy ensuring him/her and his/her staff to an
amount not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit per
accident for bodily injury and property damage.
iii. Consultant shall provide to the Authority all certificates of insurance, with
original endorsements effecting coverage.
Consultant agrees that all
certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by the Authority
before work commences.
iv. Consultant agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract,
professional liability insurance in amounts not less than $1,000,000 which is
sufficient to insure Consultant for professional errors or omissions in the
performance of the particular scope of work under this agreement.
General Liability:
i.

The Authority, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered
as insured as respects: liability arising out of activities performed by or on
behalf of the Consultant; products and completed operations of Consultant,
premises owned or used by the Consultant. This requirement does not apply to
the professional liability insurance required for professional errors and
omissions.

ii. The Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the
Authority, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers. Any insurance or
self-insurances maintained by the Authority, its officers, officials, employees or
volunteers shall be excess of the Consultant's insurance and shall not contribute
with it.
iii. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not affect
coverage provided to the Authority, its officers, officials, employees or
volunteers.
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iv. The Consultant's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against
whom a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the
insurer's liability.
3.2

All Coverages. Each insurance policy required in this item shall not be suspended,
voided, cancelled, reduced in coverage or in limits except after thirty (30) days' prior
written notice has been given to the Authority by Consultants.

3.3

Workers’ Compensation. In addition to these policies, Consultant shall have and
maintain Workers' Compensation insurance as required by California law and shall
provide evidence of such policy to the Authority before beginning services under
this Agreement. Further, Consultant shall ensure that all subcontractors employed
by Consultant provide the required Workers' Compensation insurance for their
respective employees.

3.4

Indemnification. The Consultant shall save, keep, hold harmless and indemnify
and defend the Authority its officers, agent, employees and volunteers from all
damages, liabilities, penalties, costs, or expenses in law or equity that may at any
time arise or be set up because of damages to property or personal injury received
by reason of, or in the course of performing work which may be occasioned by a
willful or negligent act or omissions of the Consultant, or any of the Consultant's
officers, employees, or agents or any subconsultant.

IV.

GENERAL TERMS

4.1

Waiver. No failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or remedy
hereunder shall operate as a waiver of any other right or remedy that party may
have hereunder, nor does waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement
constitute a continuing waiver of a subsequent breach of the same or any other
provision of this Agreement.

4.2

Governing Law. This Agreement, regardless of where executed, shall be governed
by and construed to the laws of the State of California. Venue for any action
regarding this Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the County of Santa
Clara.

4.3

Termination of Agreement. The Authority and the Consultant shall have the right to
terminate this agreement with or without cause by giving not less than fifteen days
(15) written notice of termination. In the event of termination, the Consultant shall
deliver to the Authority all plans, files, documents, reports, performed to date by the
Consultant. In the event of such termination, Authority shall pay Consultant an
amount that bears the same ratio to the maximum contract price as the work
delivered to the Authority bears to completed services contemplated under this
Agreement, unless such termination is made for cause, in which event,
compensation, if any, shall be adjusted in light of the particular facts and
circumstances involved in such termination.
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4.4

Amendment. No modification, waiver, mutual termination, or amendment of this
Agreement is effective unless made in writing and signed by the Authority and the
Consultant.

4.5

Disputes. In any dispute over any aspect of this Agreement, the prevailing party
shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees, including costs of appeal.

4.6

Notices. Any notice required to be given shall be deemed to be duly and properly
given if mailed postage prepaid, and addressed to:
WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE
MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Attn: Kirsten M. Powell
18041 Saratoga-Los Gatos Road
Monte Sereno, CA 95030

HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC
Attn: Marva Sheehan
201 N. Civic Drive, Suite 230
Walnut Creek, CA 94596

or personally delivered to Consultant or Authority to such address or such other address
as Consultant or Authority designates in writing.
4.7

Order of Precedence. In the event of any conflict, contradiction, or ambiguity
between the terms and conditions of this Agreement in respect of the Products or
Services and any attachments to this Agreement, then the terms and conditions of
this Agreement shall prevail over attachments or other writings.

4.8

Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the complete
and exclusive statement of the Agreement between the Authority and Consultant.
No terms, conditions, understandings or agreements purporting to modify or vary
this Agreement, unless hereafter made in writing and signed by the parties to be
bound, shall be binding on either party.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and Consultant have executed this Agreement.
AUTHORITY:
West Valley Solid Waste
Management Authority

CONSULTANT:
HF&H Consultants, LLC

BY:______________________________
Howard Miller, Chair

BY:_________________________
Marva Sheehan, Vice President
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Scope of Services
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EXHIBIT A - SCOPE OF SERVICES
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Scope of Services
Proposal for Executive Director Services

SCOPE OF SERVICES
The tasks that HF&H will perform include, but are not limited to, the following:

Task 1: Contract Administration
1a

Verify on an annual basis that the rate adjustment calculations are prepared by WVC&R and
Guadalupe in accordance with the agreements.

1b

Ensure that WVC&R and Guadalupe comply with requirements to furnish certificates of
insurance and performance bonds in accordance with the agreements.

1c

Review the companies’ operational performance and calculate the amount of liquidated
damages, if any, under the agreements.

1d

Manage the revision of these contracts for implementation of new programs or recyclable
materials or other changes as directed by the Board. An example of this was the addition of the
commercial food scrap collection program. We reviewed WVC&R’s cost proposal, proposed
rates and prepared the amendment to the Agreement.

1e

Work with the companies to respond to complaints and inquiries from Member Agencies’
residents and businesses regarding services provided under the agreements.

1f

Enforce the collection franchise agreement provisions and respond to violations (e.g., rouge
dumpsters).

1g

Support, either directly or through the management of a procurement consultant, any future
solid waste collection procurement contract.

Task 2: AB 939 and Other Regulatory Compliance
2a

Prepare and submit the Member Agencies’ annual applications for AB 2020 beverage container
recycling funds distributed by the Department of Conservation.

2b

Provide periodic reports on the status of federal and state legislation impacting the Member
Agencies’ refuse and recycling programs at regularly scheduled Board Meetings. Additionally,
we will provide information on trends in the industry.

2c

Represent the Authority at County TAC meetings and other relevant regional and statewide
meetings as needed and as directed by the Member Agencies’ staff and/or Board.

2d

Prepare and submit miscellaneous reports requested by local agencies related to the Authority’s
solid waste and recycling collection and disposal programs. These include, for example, Santa
Clara County’s recycling hotline and HHW program and collection rate surveys.

2e

Prepare and submit the Member Agencies’ Annual Reports to CalRecycle on behalf of each
Member Agency. This includes accompanying the CalRecycle representative on the site visits in
the Authority jurisdictions. Additionally, we will respond to CalRecycle questions from the
annual reports and site visits.

April 17, 2013
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EXHIBIT A - SCOPE OF SERVICES
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Scope of Services
Proposal for Executive Director Services

Task 3: Facilitate Board Meetings
3a

Prepare for and conduct the quarterly meeting of the Board. This task includes preparing the
public notices, agendas, agenda reports, resolutions, Board Member agenda packets, public
meeting binders, and meeting minutes. In addition, prepare for and conduct “agency review”
meetings with Member Agency staff prior to regularly scheduled Board meetings or special
Board meetings.

3b

Prepare a financial report of the Authority’s activities for each quarter, showing actual
expenditures against the approved budget. These reports are presented at the next regularly
scheduled Board Meeting following the close of each quarter.

3c

Present status reports on each of the Authority projects or activities at regularly scheduled
Board meetings as needed.

3d

Follow‐up on action items from the Board meeting, including maintaining a record of all
Authority actions.

Task 4: Authority Administration
4a

Conduct conference calls with the Member Agencies’ staff on an as needed basis (at least
quarterly) to report on issues and receive direction from the staff between Board Meetings,
including special Board meetings. This task includes preparing the agenda and agenda
materials. There are times when topics require face‐to‐face meetings. We will discuss the
options with the Member Agencies’ staff and schedule the appropriate time and place for the
meeting.

4b

Respond to inquiries from Member Agencies’ residents and businesses regarding the Authority’s
solid waste and recycling services in a timely manner.

4c

Manage the procurement of legal services, liability insurance and other supplies and services
required for the conduct of the Authority’s business.

4d

Manage the submission of Fair Political Practices Commission forms by the Executive Director,
Legal Counsel, and Board Members.

4e

Prepare the annual Authority budget for approval by the Board.

4f

Prepare and provide orientation materials, including copies of the collection and disposal
agreements, Rules of Conduct, and Joint Powers Authority agreement, to new Board members
as needed.

4g

Meet with the Member Agencies’ Councils as requested for Council workshops to review
changes to solid waste and recycling collection programs.

4h

Work with the City of Campbell auditors to complete the annual financial audit of the
Authority’s financial statements. This includes preparing the financial statements, reviewing the
footnotes, preparing the management letter, and responding to inquiries from the auditors.

April 17, 2013
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EXHIBIT A - SCOPE OF SERVICES
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Scope of Services
Proposal for Executive Director Services

4i

Lead in the development and maintenance of an Authority website. We will review websites of
other Authorities and municipal agencies and collaborate with WVC&R and the Member
Agencies’ staff to develop the website.

4j

Review public education material provided by WVC&R for proper content prior to final
publication.

April 17, 2013
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EXHIBIT B

Compensation Schedule

$229 $135 $100
Task 1
1

Verify rate adjustment calculations
Ensure compliance with insurance and performance bond
requirements

1c

Review the companies' operational performance and calculate
the amount of liquidated damages, if any, under the
agreements.

1d

If requested by Board, negotiate revisions to agreements and
monitor implementation of new programs or other changes to
improve the quality and efficiency of collection, processing, and
recycling of solid waste materials.

1e

Work with the companies to respond to complaints and
inquiries from Member Agencies' residents and businesses
regarding services provided under the agreements. This
includes evaluating possible service options allowable under
the agreements.
Enforce collection franchise agreement provisions and
responding to violations (e.g., rogue dumpsters)

Proposed
Cost

Other tasks as requested by Board, including supporting, either
directly or through management of a procurement consultant,
any future solid waste collection procurement process.
Task 1

Task 2

Total
Hours

Manage agreements with WVC&R and Guadalupe Rubbish and
Disposal Company

1a

1g

$98

Contract Administration

1b

1f

K Erwin

Assistant

M Gan

M Sheehan

EXHIBIT B - FEE ESTIMATE

32

38

6

0

76

$13,058

31

114

0

0

145

$22,489

AB 939 and other Regulatory Compliance

2a

Prepare and submit annual reports for AB2020, if available.

2b

Provide periodic reports on the status of federal and state
legislation impacting the Member Agencies' refuse and
recycling programs at regularly scheduled Board meetings.

2c

Represent the Authority at County TAC meetings and other
relative regional and statewide meetings as needed and as
directed by the Member Agencies' staff and/or Board.
1) Attend TAC sub‐committee meetings, as requested by
staff/Board
2) Summarize meeting notes and distribute to staff

2d

2e

Prepare and submit miscellaneous reports requested by local
agencies related to the Authority's solid waste and recycling
collection and disposal programs.
Prepare and submit annual reports to CalRecycle.
1) Accompany CalRecycle representative on site visits and
respond to questions from visits and annual reports
Task 2

HF&H Consultants, LLC
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$229 $135 $100
Task 3

Prepare and distribute meeting agendas, reports and minutes
and comply with all legal noticing requirements. In addition,
prepare and conduct an "agency review" with Member Agency
staff prior to the Board meetings. Facilitate quarterly Board
meetings.

3b

Prepare financial reports showing actual
revenues/expenditures to date compared to budget

3c

Prepare status reports of agenda items as appropriate

3d

Follow up on action items from the Board meeting, including
maintaining a record of all Authority actions
Task 3

4a

4b

4c

4d

Total
Hours

Proposed
Cost

88

56

14

20

178

$31,072

22

39

16

12

89

$13,079

JPA Administration
Maintain regular communication with the Board members and
staff regarding relevant issues, particularly those of local and
regional importance.
Respond to inquiries from Member Agencies' staff, residents
and business regarding the Authority's solid waste and
recycling services in a timely manner
As needed, procure legal services, liability insurance and other
services and supplies required for the conduct of the
Authority’s business.
Notify WVSWA Board Members and Officers of FPPC filings.

4e

Annually, prepare and present Authority budget for Board
Approval.

4f

Prepare and provide orientation materials, including copies of
the collection and disposal agreements, Rules of Conduct, and
Joint Powers Authority agreement, to new Board members, if
needed. Meet one on one with new Board members for
orientation.
Meet with Member Agencies' councils as requested for Council
workshops to review changes to solid waste and recycling
collection programs.

4g

$98

Facilitate Board Meetings

3a

Task 4

K Erwin

Assistant

M Gan

M Sheehan

EXHIBIT B - FEE ESTIMATE

4h

Coordinate the preparation of the annual financial report and
audit (currently performed in coordination with the City of
Campbell, the Authority fiscal agent.)

4i

Lead development and maintenance of Authority website.

4j

Review public education material provided by WVC&R for
proper content prior to final publication.
Task 4

Engagement Management
$0

Total Costs
Labor

173

247

36

32

488

$79,698

Out‐of‐Pocket Expenses

$952

Total Budget

$80,650

HF&H Consultants, LLC
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EXHIBIT C - BILLING ARRANGEMENTS

HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC
STANDARD HOURLY RATES AND BILLING ARRANGEMENTS
(Effective January 1, 2013)1

Professional Fees
Hourly rates for professional and administrative personnel are as follows:
Position
President
Senior Vice President & Vice President
Senior Project Manager
Senior Associate/Project Manager
Associate Analyst
Assistant Analyst
Administrative Staff

Rate
$255
$225 ‐ $255
$215 ‐ $225
$170 ‐ $215
$130 ‐ $155
$100 ‐ $125
$95 ‐ $100

Direct Expenses
Standard charges for common direct expenses are as follows:
Automobile Travel
Document Reproduction
Facsimile
Telephone
Public Conveyances
Postage
Overnight Mail and Couriers

Prevailing IRS mileage rate
15 cents per page (black & white)
75 cents per page (color)
No charge
No charge
Actual
Actual
Actual

Billing Policies
Our policy is to bill for our services and direct expenses based on the standard hourly rates of the staff
member assigned, multiplied by the time required to perform the client‐related tasks, plus the
subcontractor services as described above. In implementing this policy we adhere to the following
practices:


It is our standard practice to e‐mail invoices to our clients, although hard copies of invoices can be
sent to clients on request.



We round to the nearest one‐half hour (e.g., if two hours and 50 minutes are spent on a task, it is
recorded as three hours, if two hours and 10 minutes are spent on a task, it is recorded as two
hours). A minimum charge of one‐half hour is charged for any client work performed in a day.

1

Litigation Support and Expert Witness Services are not covered by this schedule of fees and expenses.

HF&H Consultants, LLC
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EXHIBIT C - BILLING ARRANGEMENTS
HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC
STANDARD HOURLY RATES AND BILLING ARRANGEMENTS1
(Effective January 1, 2013)


We attempt to schedule travel time before and after normal work hours and we do not bill for this
time. If travel occurs during normal work hours and we can use public conveyances, we attempt to
use the time productively for the benefit of the client or for another client and this time is billed to
the appropriate client. If we must travel during business hours and cannot use the time productively
or use a public conveyance, we bill the time to the client on whose behalf we are traveling.



Because public meetings (e.g., Board of Supervisors, City Council, and Board of Directors meetings)
generally occur after business hours and are not conducted in accordance with strict schedules, our
standard policy is to bill a minimum two‐hour charge.



We do not mark up out‐of‐pocket expenses, however, we may charge administrative or professional
time related to the provision of the goods and services associated with these charges. Costs for
outside consultants and subcontractors are billed at actual cost plus a 15 percent administrative fee.



Mileage fees are based on the round‐trip distance from the point of origin.



If a client's change to a previously scheduled meeting results in penalties being assessed by a third
party (e.g., airline cancellation fee), then the client will bear the cost of these penalties.

While no minimum fee for a consulting engagement has been established, it is unlikely (given the nature
of our services) that we can gain an understanding of a client's particular requirement, identify
alternatives, and recommend a solution in less than twenty‐four hours.

Insurance
We maintain the following policies of insurance with carriers doing business in California:


Comprehensive General Liability Insurance ($2,000,000)



Workers’ Compensation ($1,000,000)



Professional Liability Insurance ($2,000,000)



Hired and Non‐Owned Auto Liability ($2,000,000)

All costs incurred in complying with special insurance, licensing, or permit requirements, including but
not limited to naming client as an additional insured and waiver of subrogation, become the
responsibility of the client and are not included in the fees for services or direct charges but are billed in
addition to the contract at cost, plus any professional or administrative fees.

HF&H Consultants, LLC
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EXHIBIT C - BILLING ARRANGEMENTS
HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC
STANDARD HOURLY RATES AND BILLING ARRANGEMENTS1
(Effective January 1, 2013)

Invoices and Payment for Services
Our time reporting and billing system has certain standard formats that are designed to provide our
clients with a detailed invoice of the time and charges associated with their engagement. (We typically
discuss these with our clients at our kick‐off meeting.) We are also pleased to provide our clients with a
custom invoice format but we will have to bill the client for any additional costs associated with their
unique requirements.
Billings for professional services and charges are submitted every month, in order that our clients can
more closely monitor our services. A late fee of one and one‐half percent per month is applied to
balances unpaid after thirty (30) days.

HF&H Consultants, LLC
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WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Executive Director

Marva M. Sheehan, CPA
HF&H Consultants, LLC
201 North Civic Drive, Suite 230
Walnut Creek, CA 94596
Telephone • (925) 977-6961
Facsimile • (925) 977-6955
E-mail • msheehan@hfh-consultants.com

Member Agencies

City of Campbell
Town of Los Gatos
City of Monte Sereno
City of Saratoga

MEETING MINUTES
February 4, 2021
Monte Sereno City Hall
18041 Saratoga-Los Gatos Road
Monte Sereno, CA 95030
CALL TO ORDER
At 5:07 pm, Chair Resnikoff called the meeting to order.
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
ROLL CALL
Chair Paul Resnikoff, representing the City of Campbell, Member Mary Badame,
representing the Town of Los Gatos, Member Rishi Kumar, representing the City of
Saratoga, and Member Bryan Mekechuk, representing the City of Monte Sereno, were
present. Also present were Executive Director Marva Sheehan and Authority Counsel
Kirsten Powell.
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
None
WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS
None
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
None
OLD BUSINESS

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
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February 4, 2021 Minutes

1. The Board considered an updated report on WVC&Rs liquidated damages. Upon a
motion by Member Badame and a second by Member Mekechuck, the Board
unanimously imposed the $21, 375.96 fine.
NEW BUSINESS
2. Upon a motion by Member Kumar and a second by Member Badame, the Board
unanimously elected Chair Resnikoff to service as Chair for 2021. Upon a motion by
Member Badame and a second by Member Kumar, the Board unanimously elected
Member Mekechuk to serve as Vice Chair for 2021.
3. The Board received and filed a report summarizing the key point and dates from
the collection agreement with West Valley Collection & Recycling (WVC&R).
4. The Board received and filed a report summarizing the key points and dates from
the disposal agreement with Guadalupe Landfill and key points of the new
disposal agreement.
5. The Board received and filed a report on SB 1383 implementation.
6. The Board received and filed a report on recent regulatory changes and program
updates.
7. The Board considered a resolution establishing a Code of Conduct for the collection
agreement amendment process. Upon a motion by Member Badame and a second
by Member Kumar, the Board unanimously approved Resolution 2021-01.
PUBLIC HEARINGS
None
CONSENT CALENDAR
8. Upon a motion by Vice Chair Mekechuk and a second by Member Badame, the
Board voted 4-0 to approve the minutes of the November 5, 2020 Regular Board
Meeting and Year to Date Financial Report.

ADDRESSING THE BOARD
Any person shall have the right to address the Board during consideration of any item on the Board’s
agenda or during the time for oral communication if not on the agenda but pertaining to subject matter
within the jurisdiction of the Board. Any person wishing to address the Board should stand or raise the
hand and wait to be recognized by the Chairperson. Please stand at the podium, if able, state your name
and address for the record, and proceed to address the Board. All remarks and questions should be
addressed to the Board through the Chairperson and not to any member thereof or to the public. No
question should be asked a Board member or a member of Authority staff without first obtaining
permission of the Chairperson.

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
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February 4, 2021 Minutes

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT
None
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
None
BOARD MEMBER REPORTS
None
CONVENE TO CLOSED SESSION
RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION
REPORT ON ACTION TAKEN DURING CLOSED SESSION
There were no reportable actions from the closed session.
ADJOURNMENT
Chair Resnikoff adjourned the meeting 6:19 pm until the next regular meeting, which
will be held May 6, 2021.

ADDRESSING THE BOARD
Any person shall have the right to address the Board during consideration of any item on the Board’s
agenda or during the time for oral communication if not on the agenda but pertaining to subject matter
within the jurisdiction of the Board. Any person wishing to address the Board should stand or raise the
hand and wait to be recognized by the Chairperson. Please stand at the podium, if able, state your name
and address for the record, and proceed to address the Board. All remarks and questions should be
addressed to the Board through the Chairperson and not to any member thereof or to the public. No
question should be asked a Board member or a member of Authority staff without first obtaining
permission of the Chairperson.
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AGENDA ITEM NO.
MEETING DATE:

WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
AUTHORITY

4
MAY 6, 2021

AGENDA REPORT

Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

YTD Financial Report

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Accept report on the Authority’s FY 2020-21 financial status.
DISCUSSION
The report titled “Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –
Budget and Actual” shows the approved budget, the year to date actual amounts, and
the preliminary fund balance through March 31, 2021 for FY 2020-21. With 75% of the
fiscal year passed, the report shows that the Authority received $656,202 or 86% of
revenues and expended $547,562 or 69% of expenses for the approved FY 2020-21
budget.
In February 2011, the Board adopted a policy that requires it to maintain an operating
reserve of $100,000 and a rate stabilization reserve of $100,000. The preliminary fund
balance of $383,244 is more than the $200,000 and an increase of $108,640 from the July
1, 2020 starting balance of $274,604. Included in the preliminary fund balance are
unbudgeted revenues of $37,341 for assessed liquidated damages and $58 for interest
income. After Authority revenues and expenses are posted in the 4th quarter, the
remaining fund balance is projected to be $243,045.

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Page 2 of 3

AGENDA REPORT
May 6, 2021

FISCAL IMPACT
None
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and
Actual March 31, 2021.

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
March 31, 2021

Acct #

Description

JPA Budget
FY 2020-21

Year to
Date
Actual

Balance

YTD %

Revenues
4410
4431
4968
4970
4970
4970
4970
4975
4965

Interest
Unrealized Gains/Losses
Expense Abatement
City of Campbell
Town of Los Gatos
City of Monte Sereno
City of Saratoga
Franchise Agreement WVC&R
Other
Total Revenues

$

$

58
117,487
84,178
10,287
85,316
337,500
21,376
$ 656,202

$

$

117,487
84,178
10,287
85,316
450,000
15,965
763,233

(58)
-

N/A
N/A

112,500
(5,411)
$ 107,031

100%
100%
100%
100%
75%
N/A
86%

Office Expense
$
Special Departmental Exp. (Legal Services)
Prof. & Special Services (Executive Director)
Prof. & Special Services (Other)
Other Contractual Services (Countywide Support)
Other Contractual Services (Website Administration)
Other Contractual Services (Audit Svcs.)
Insurance (Liability)
Travel/Conf. & Meetings
Other Charges (Accounting & Bookkeeping)
SB 1383 Outreach
JPA Solid Waste Distribution
Total Expenditures
$

500
22,597
276,285
5,000
1,000
1,177
6,167
2,732
4,000
9,369
15,965
450,000
794,792

$

$

0%
89%
66%
0%
0%
N/A
0%
142%
0%
291%
0%
70%
69%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

(31,559)

108,640

Expenditures:
Services and Supplies:

7424
7427
7430
7430
7432
7432
7432
7433
7435
7438
7443
7675

20,200
181,394
3,882
27,265
314,821
$ 547,562

Beginning Fund Balance 7/1/20 (Audited)

$

231,559

$ 274,604

Ending Fund Balance

$

200,000

$ 383,244

500
2,397
94,891
5,000
1,000
1,177
6,167
(1,150)
4,000
(17,896)
15,965
135,179
$ 247,230

(140,199)
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AGENDA ITEM NO.
MEETING DATE:

WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
AUTHORITY

5
MAY 6, 2021

AGENDA REPORT

Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

Fiscal Year 2019-20 Audited Financial Statements

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Receive and File a report on the West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority’s FY
2019-20 Audited Financial Statements.
DISCUSSION
The City of Campbell (City) provides financial services (general ledger, bookkeeping,
etc.) to the Authority. The City, on behalf of the Authority, hired Eide Bailly, LLP to
perform the annual audit of the Authority’s financial statements.
The Authority’s FY 2019-20 Financial Audit is presented to the board to receive and file.
In the Auditor’s opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Authority as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in financial
position and cash flows for the year ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
FISCAL IMPACT
None
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority’s FY 2019-20 Audited Financial
Statements.

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Board of Directors
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Campbell, California
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of West Valley Solid Waste Management
Authority (Authority), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial statements as listed in the table
of contents.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the Authority, as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in financial position, and cash flows
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion
or provide any assurance.
Report on Summarized Comparative Information
The June 30, 2019 financial statements of the Authority were audited by other auditors whose report dated
February 27, 2020, expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements. In our opinion,
the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020 is
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 22, 2021, on our
consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.

Menlo Park, California
April 22, 2021
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2020

This section of the Authority’s financial statements, referred to as management’s discussion and analysis,
provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the Authority’s financial statements that follow.
Fiscal Year 2019‐20 Financial Highlights
The primary revenue source for the Authority comes from each member agency based upon the estimated
expenses for the upcoming year and a franchise agreement with West Valley Collection and Recycling that
provides revenues of $450,000 annually for the Authority. Operating revenues decreased in the current year by
$61,946 from 2019. Total revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, were $577,234 compared to
expenses of $624,105, resulting in a decrease in net position of $46,871 for the fiscal year. Ending net position
was $274,604, consisting of cash and investments in the amount of $302,182 and accounts payable and other
liabilities of $28,547.
Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis serve as an introduction to the Authority’s basic financial statements.
These basic financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the Authority’s
finances in a manner similar to a private sector business. They consist of the statement of net position, the
statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, the statement of cash flows, and the related
notes.
The statement of net position includes all of the Authority’s investments in resources (assets and deferred
outflows of resources) and the obligations to creditors (liabilities and deferred inflows of resources). It also
provides the basis for computing rate of return, evaluating the capital structure of the Authority, and assessing
the liquidity and financial flexibility of the Authority. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are
accounted for in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. This statement measures
the success of the Authority’s operations over the past year and can be used to determine whether the
Authority has successfully recovered all of its costs through its assessments, fees and other charges,
profitability, and creditworthiness. The final required financial statement is the statement of cash flows. The
primary purpose of this statement is to provide information about the Authority’s cash receipts and cash
payments during the reporting period. The statement reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in
cash resulting from operating, investing, and financing activities and provides answers to such questions as
where did cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in cash balance during the
reporting period. The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to
a full understanding of the data provided in the basic financial statements. They can be found immediately
following the financial statements.
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2020

Financial Analysis of the Authority
This analysis focuses on the net position and changes in net position at the Authority‐wide level as presented in
the statement of net position and the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.
Net position for the Authority is summarized below and analysis follows:
Statement of Net Position

Total assets decreased $63,560 (17.3%) from the prior year is a result of being able to use accumulated cash
balances to current year fund operations which allowed the Authority to collect lower member assessments
during the year. Total liabilities decreased $16,689 (36.9%) from prior year due to the fiscal year 2019 accrual
of the remaining monthly HF&H Consulting services outstanding at year end. Below is a summary of
components that resulted in the changes in net position.
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2020

Revenues and expenses remained relatively consistent with the prior year.
Budgetary Highlights
There were no material variances between the current‐year budget and actual results.
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget
Next year’s budget is based on current‐year actual results with a modest inflation factor of less than 4%. It also
includes additional funds to finalize the negotiations for one of the Authority’s major contracts and preparation
for the implementation of California Senate Bill 1383.
Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the West Valley Solid Waste Management
Authority’s finances for residents, taxpayers, creditors and any other interested parties. Questions about this
report can be directed to the City of Campbell’s Finance Department at 70 North First Street, Campbell, CA
95008.
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020 (with Comparative totals at June 30, 2019)

2020
ASSETS:
Cash and investments
Accounts receivable

$

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and other liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET POSITION:
Unrestricted
TOTAL NET POSITION

See Notes to Financial Statements

$

302,182
969

2019

$

365,151
1,560

303,151

366,711

28,547

45,236

28,547

45,236

274,604

321,475

274,604

$

321,475
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended June 30, 2020 (with Comparative totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2019)

2020
OPERATING REVENUES:
Member assessments:
City of Campbell
Town of Los Gatos
City of Monte Sereno
City of Saratoga

$

2019

42,680
30,590
3,629
31,424

$

69,653
51,049
5,707
49,835

108,323

176,244

10,975
450,000

5,000
450,000

569,298

631,244

450,000
158,630
8,900
3,605
2,970

450,000
130,985
6,940
1,377
2,829

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

624,105

592,131

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

(54,807)

39,113

7,936

7,205

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

(46,871)

46,318

NET POSITION AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

321,475

275,157

Total member assessments
Reimbursement from collection service provider
Annual fee payment
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Distribution to member agencies
Professional and special services
Legal
Insurance
Audit

NONOPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES):
Investment income

NET POSITION AT END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

$

274,604

$

321,475
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2020 (with Comparative totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2019)

2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from member agencies
Cash received from service providers
Cash payments to member agencies
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services

$

108,914
460,975
(450,000)
(190,794)

$

(70,905)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest received

2019

$

7,936

250,072
455,000
(450,000)
(103,179)
151,893

$

7,205

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(62,969)

159,098

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

365,151

206,053

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

$

302,182

$

365,151

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used for) operating activities:

$

(54,807)

$

39,113

$

591
(16,689)
(70,905)

$

73,828
38,952
151,893

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

See Notes to Financial Statements
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020

Note 1 ‐

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reporting Entity
The West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority (the Authority) was formed on October 1, 1997, to
implement and administer the West Valley Solid Waste Management Plan, manage rate studies, and negotiate
the related contracts for member entities. The Authority is the only entity included in these financial
statements.
The Authority includes the Cities of Campbell, Monte Sereno, and Saratoga and the Town of Los Gatos. The City
of Campbell (the City) maintains the financial records and provides accounting services for the Authority.
Measurement Focus and Basis ofAccounting
The Authority is accounted for as an enterprise fund (proprietary fund type). A fund is an accounting entity
with a self‐balancing set of accounts established to record the financial position and results of operations of a
specific governmental activity. The activities of enterprise funds closely resemble those of ongoing businesses
in which the purpose is to conserve and add to basic resources while meeting operating expenses from current
revenues. Enterprise funds account for operations that provide services on a continuous basis and are
substantially financed by revenues derived from user charges.
The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and
basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured, such as current
financial resources or economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or
events for recognition in the financial statements.
The Authority’s financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are defined as short‐term, highly liquid
investments that are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash or so near their maturity that they
present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates and have an original maturity
date of three months or less.
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020

Fair Value Measurements
The Authority categorizes its fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy established by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The hierarchy is based on the relative inputs used
to measure the fair value of the investments. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets, Level 2 inputs are quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, and Level 3 inputs are significant
unobservable inputs.
The Authority’s investment in the City of Campbell investment pool is not subject to the fair value hierarchy.
Classification of Revenues
Operating revenues consist of charges to member agencies, franchise fees, and reimbursements charged to
West Valley Collection and Recycling. Nonoperating revenues consist of investment income.
Net Position Flow Assumption
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Authority’s policy to use
unrestricted resources first and then use restricted resources as they are needed.
Prior‐Year Data
Selected information regarding the prior year has been included in the accompanying financial statements. This
information has been included for comparison purposes only and does not represent a complete presentation
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, such
information should be read in conjunction with the Authority’s prior‐year financial statements from which this
selected financial data was derived.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that effect certain
reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from the estimates.
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West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020

Cash and Investments
The Authority does not have a separate bank account, however, pools its cash with the City’s portfolio of
investments. Investments are stated at fair value. The Authority is a voluntary participant in that pool. This pool
is governed by and under the regulatory oversight of the Investment Policy adopted by the City Council of the
City. The fair value of the Authority’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial
statements at amounts based upon the Authority’s pro rata share of the fair value calculated by the City for the
entire City portfolio. The balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by
the City, which are recorded on an original cost basis. At June 30, 2020, the Authority had a cash balance of
$302,182.
Franchise Agreement
On March 1, 2014, the Authority entered into a franchise agreement with West Valley Collection and Recycling.
Under this agreement, the Authority will receive a payment of $450,000 annually for the right to continue to
hold the franchise for the collection of solid waste, recyclable materials, green waste, food scraps, and
construction and demolition debris within the Authority; the transportation of such material to appropriate
places of processing, recycling, composting, and/or disposal; and the processing of recyclable materials and
food scraps for a period of 10 years ending February 28, 2024. The Authority has recorded the fee revenues of
$450,000 from this agreement in the accompanying statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position.
On May 1, 2014, the Authority agreed that the proceeds from the franchise agreements would be distributed
to each member agency based on the population. Accordingly, the Authority has recorded distributions to
member agencies of $450,000 in operating expenses in the accompanying statement of revenues, expenses,
and changes in net position. The distributions were as follows:

City of Campbell
Town of Los Gatos
City of Monte Sereno
City of Saratoga

$

Total distrbutions

$

Amount
177,850
127,427
15,573
129,150
450,000

At June 30, 2020, there was no balance due to these member agencies.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards

To the Board of Directors
of the West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Campbell, California
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the single enterprise fund of the West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority (Authority), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial statements,
and have issued our report thereon dated April 22, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or,
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not
been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective
of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Menlo Park, California
April 22, 2021
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AGENDA REPORT

Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

Board Meeting Schedule

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Consider Board Meeting Schedule for FY 2021-22.
DISCUSSION
The attached schedule reflects the regularly scheduled meetings for FY 2021-22.
Certain items must be addressed at specific meetings during the year due to procedural
or contractual commitments. For example, the Authority must ratify the collection rates
no later than the May meeting in order for the rates to be effective July 1 in accordance
with the agreement with WVC&R. Also, new Board officers must be elected at the first
meeting of the calendar year. These items are shown in bold type in the attached
schedule. The schedule for other items is more flexible; these are shown in normal type.
The attached schedule is meant to be a guide, not a rigid schedule. Regular meetings
may be cancelled and special meetings may be scheduled as needed. Board Members,
the Authority Attorney, or the Executive Director may add agenda items, accelerate or
delay items, or delete items from the schedule. Agendas will continue to be published
prior to each meeting with the items to be discussed at that particular meeting.

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Page 2 of 2

AGENDA REPORT
May 6, 2021

RECOMMENDED ACTION
The Board should review the attached schedule and provide feedback to staff regarding
needed changes to the proposed schedule.
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Proposed Schedule of Meetings
FISCAL IMPACT
None

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
FY 2021-22 Proposed Schedule of Meetings
Meeting Date
Discussion Items
September 2, 2021 • Receive and file annual CalRecycle Annual Reports
November 4, 2021

February 3, 2022

May 5, 2022

•

Closed Session – annual evaluations of Authority Attorney and
Executive Director

•

Consider a report on WVC&R’s prior Fiscal Year

•

Complaints/Liquidated Damages

•

Elect new officers

•

Review of Collection and Disposal contracts

•

Review Executive Director and Authority Counsel contracts

•

Accept Audited Financial Statements

•

Board meeting schedule

•

Ratify Waste Management disposal contractual rate adjustment
(not applicable for FY 22-23)

•

Ratify WVC&R contractual collection rate adjustment

•

Approve Authority budget

•

Review Executive Director and Authority Counsel contracts

Recurring Meeting Agenda Items
•

Approval of prior meeting minutes

•

Receive and file the Executive Director financial report

•

Regulatory and program updates

•

SB 1383 Implementation
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AGENDA ITEM NO.
7
MEETING DATE:
MAY 6, 2021

WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
AUTHORITY

AGENDA REPORT

Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

Recent Regulatory Changes and Program Updates

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Receive a report on the recent regulatory changes and program updates.
DISCUSSION
Proposed Legislation
SB 619
SB 619 is currently active in the California State Senate and is related to SB 1383
regulations. If passed in its current version, the bill would prevent CalRecycle from
assessing SB 1383 related penalties against a local jurisdiction until January 1, 2023, if the
jurisdiction has made a “reasonable effort” to comply with the regulations. The
qualifications for “reasonable effort” are not currently outlined in the bill and would be
determined by CalRecycle. The California State Senate has until September 10, 2021 to
pass this bill. It is currently being reviewed in the Committee on Environmental Quality.
Legislation
SB 1335
SB 1335, the Sustainable Packaging for the State of California Act of 2018, will require all
state-owned facilities or operations on state-owned properties providing food service to
serve food using food service packaging that is reusable, recyclable, or compostable.
Currently in the formal rulemaking process, the regulations were approved by
CalRecycle on December 31, 2020. CalRecycle is preparing to submit the final regulatory
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packaging to the OAL for approval. After receiving OAL approval, CalRecycle will
publish a list of approved packing on its website.
Ongoing
AB 1826
AB 1826 had a phased in approach for implementation. Commercial generators of solid
waste materials (4 cubic yards or greater of weekly volumes) were required to subscribe
to organic material collection effective January 1, 2019. In 2020, CalRecycle conducted a
review to determine if the statewide disposal of organic waste in 2020 had been reduced
by 50% of the level of disposal during 2014 and determined the state did not reach the
required level. As a result, effective January 1, 2021, AB 1826 requirements are expanded
to cover businesses that generate 2 cubic yards or more of commercial solid waste per
week.
WVC&R has reported all customers with 4 cubic yards or more of solid waste are in
compliance with AB 1826 regulations. WVC&R determined there were 1,356 customers
producing 2 cubic yards or more of solid waste who needed organics service to be
brought into compliance with AB 1826. Of the 1,356 customers, WVC&R has provided
the appropriate service level to all but 25 customers. WVC&R has been unable to get
ahold of these customers, likely due to temporary closures. Additionally, WVC&R has
identified 25 customers, including schools and churches, who are currently in
compliance but will need to be reassessed when regular business hours resume and the
locations start producing more than the 2 cubic yards. It is anticipated that schools will
begin producing more than 2 cubic yards in the upcoming Fall 2021-Spring 2022 school
year.
AB 341
AB 341 became effective on July 1, 2012 mandating all businesses generating 4 cubic
yards or more of solid waste per week to have recycling service. Businesses include
commercial customers producing 4 or more cubic yard of solid waste per week and all
multi-family residential dwellings with five or more units regardless of the amount of
solid waste generated. Although the bill does not mandate diversion standards for each
jurisdiction, it sets a statewide goal of 75% disposal reduction by 2020. WVC&R has
indicated our commercial customers have met the requirements of AB 341.
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AB 827
AB 827 became effective on July 1, 2020 and applies to AB 1826 and AB 341 covered
businesses. It requires that these businesses provide organics and recycling containers
at “front-of-house” to collect waste generated from products purchased and consumed
on the premises. These containers must be placed adjacent to trash and be visible,
accessible, and clearly marked.
Local
The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) of the Santa Clara County Recycling and
Waste Reduction Commission meets monthly and SB 1383 is the primary topic.
Representatives from the various agencies are meeting off-line to discuss various
approaches to SB 1383 implementation. Member Agency representatives and Authority
representatives are attending the meetings.
FISCAL IMPACT
None
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
None

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director
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AGENDA ITEM NO.
8
MEETING DATE:
MAY 6, 2021

WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
AUTHORITY

AGENDA REPORT

Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

SB 1383 Implementation

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Receive a report on SB 1383 implementation.
DISCUSSION

Legislation

SB 1383 was signed by Governor Brown on September 19, 2016. The primary goals of SB
1383 are to reduce organic waste disposed in landfills 50% by 2020 and 75% by 2025 (2014
baseline), and to reach recovery of 20% of edible food that would otherwise be disposed
of in landfills by 2025. To achieve these goals, SB 1383 requires action in the following
areas: Organics, Ordinances, Education and Outreach, Contamination Monitoring,
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Procurement of Organic Materials, Edible Food Recovery, and Compliance Reporting.
Enforcement and penalties for non-compliance begin January 1, 2022 for jurisdictions
and January 1, 2024 for generators, haulers, and processors.
Exemption waivers exist for both generators and jurisdictions if they have low-volume,
low-population, or physical space constrains (§18984.11).

SB 1383 Regulations
The Office of Administrative Law (OAL) approved the final SB 1383 regulations on
November 3, 2020. CalRecycle published a model ordinance and franchise agreement,
as well as a procurement calculator tool, to assist agencies throughout the State with the
implementation of SB 1383.

Update on Implementation
Model Ordinance
We are in the process of finalizing a model ordinance for each Member Agency based on
the model provided by CalRecycle (HF&H prepared the model ordinance for
CalRecycle). We have been having on-going meetings with Member Agency staff to
review various sections of the ordinance to ensure we are consistent with Member
Agency policies.
West Valley Collection and Recycling Collection Agreement Negotiations
We have completed our negotiations with WVC&R to amend the current collection
agreement to meet SB 1383 requirements.
Education and Outreach
We have presented a SB1383 update to each of the Member Agency’s councils to ensure
the council members and public are aware of the upcoming changes.
We are in the process of developing the education and outreach plan and plan to have
the social media content out within the next week. We have collaborated with
MetroVancouver, a regional district in British Columbia, Canada. MetroVancouver
provided education materials from their food scraps recycling campaign for the
WVSWMA to use as part of our campaign. The Member Agencies and Authority will
use the outreach materials to post a consistent message across social media platforms
above the upcoming change to service. Public education will be partially funded from
liquidated damage payments received from WVC&R in prior years.
County Group Collaboration
Representatives from various agencies in Santa Clara County are meeting bi-weekly to
discuss the various components of SB1383 regulations with the desire to provide
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consistent messaging to the residents and businesses of the County and to share ideas of
implementation plans.

Action Plan
Our next steps are to:
• Finalize the Draft Ordinance
o Member Agency Specific
 Procurement Requirements
• Paper & Paper-related Materials
• Organic Products
 CalGreen & Mandatory Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance
(MWELO)
o Ordinances to be brought to councils
• Coordinate Edible Food Recovery with the County
• Public Education and Outreach Plan
o Bring Public Education and Outreach budget and timeline to September
Board meeting
o Bring the recordkeeping options to the September Board meeting
o Introductory outreach posted on Member Agencies’ and Authority’s social
media platforms
o Coordinate with WVC&R to incorporate consistent SB 1383 messaging on
WVC&R and Member Agency Outreach
• Begin roll-out of kitchen pail delivery in the November– December timeframe.
FISCAL IMPACT
The 35 Gallon residential rate will increase between $3.36 and $3.61 per month to cover
the costs associated with SB 1383 effective July 1, 2021 and approximately $2.00 per
month effective July 1, 2022.
Commercial monthly rates, which include multi-family customers, will increase by
approximately 7% effective July 1, 2021 and approximately 3% to cover costs associated
with SB 1383.
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
None

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director
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Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

Contract Amendment for SB 1383

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Approve Resolution 2021-04 approving the form of and authorizing the execution of a
first amendment to Amended and Restated Franchise Agreement Between West Valley
Solid Waste Management Authority (Authority) and West Valley Collection &
Recycling, LLC (WVC&R) for the Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green
Waste, Food Scraps and Construction and Demolition Debris within the Authority, the
Transportation of Such Materials to Appropriate Places of Processing, Recycling,
Composting and/or Disposal, and the Processing of Recyclable Materials and Food
Scraps.
DISCUSSION
Background
In 2016, Governor Brown signed SB 1383. The primary goals of SB 1383 are to reduce
organic waste disposed in landfills 50% by 2020 and 75% by 2025 (2014 baseline), and to
reach recovery of 20% of edible food that would otherwise be disposed of in landfills by
2025. To achieve these goals, SB 1383 requires each jurisdiction to take action in the
following areas:
• Capturing Organics that would other be disposed in landfills;
• Adopting model Ordinances;
• Providing Education and Outreach to promote new programs and incentivize
customer participation;
• Implementing Contamination Monitoring programs;
• Procuring Organic Materials (compost) for local use;
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• Participating in Edible Food Recovery programs; and,
• Establishing Compliance Reporting.
Non-compliant jurisdictions will be assessed penalties. On November 3, 2020, the Office
of Administrative Law approved the final SB 1383 regulations.
In response to new responsibilities placed on each jurisdiction by SB 1383 regulations,
Authority staff prepared an analysis of the Member Agency’s current compliance and
met with Member Agency staff to assign the new responsibilities to Member Agency
staff, Authority staff, Hauler staff, County staff, etc. Since September 2019, we have been
reporting to the Board at its quarterly meetings updates to the SB 1383 regulations when
it was in the drafting phases and the status of the Authority’s Implementation Plan. In
order to achieve compliance with the many requirements of SB 1383, Authority staff
recommended pursuing assistance from WVC&R. At the September 3, 2020 Board
Meeting, the Board directed the Authority to pursue collection negotiations with
WVC&R, and the February 2021 Board Meeting, the Board approved Resolution 202101 adopting a Code of Conduct for the current collection amendment process. All SB
1383 requirements that are the responsibility of WVC&R outside of the current collection
agreement with the Authority are included in the amendment to the current agreement
with WVC&R.
Contract Amendment
Authority staff requested HF&H prepare a draft contract amendment to reflect necessary
changes ensuring Member Agencies’ compliance with SB 1381 regulations. Marva
Sheehan, Executive Director, and Kirsten Powell, Authority Counsel for the WVSWMA,
reviewed the amendment, which was then provided to WVC&R for review. HF&H
conducted multiple negotiations with WVC&R to finalize the language. The attached
amendment reflects the final language.
The amendment includes the following major changes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Updates to definitions and language to provide mixed organic materials
collection for all generators;
Expanded processing requirements for compliance with Title 14 requirements;
Option for C&D materials to be delivered to high diversion facilities;
WVC&R to purchase and distribute food pails to single-family and multi-family
generators;
Updated container colors and labeling;
Annual noticing to all generators and commercial edible food generators;
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Annual route reviews by WVC&R to review a selection of generators’ containers
and document contamination for subsequent noticing to the individual generator
if determine to out of compliance;
Monthly reporting to maintain an accurate and up-to-date Implementation
Record for CalRecycle;
The compensation section is updated to include the new program costs and are
included as a component to the existing rates. The SB 1383 rate component is
subject to the annual contractual adjustment of 80% of CPI; and,
Additional liquidated damages for SB 1383 specific compliant requirements.

The rate impact from the amendment to the collection contract with WVC&R is as
follows:
•
•

Residential rates will increase by $1.85 per month, including Member Agency
Fees; and,
Commercial rates will increase by 6.40%, including Member Agency Fees.

Recommendation
I recommend that the Board approve Resolution 2021-04 approving the form of the
amendment and authorizing the execution of the amendment.
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
First Amendment to Amended and Restated Franchise Agreement Between West Valley
Solid Waste Management Authority and West Valley Collection & Recycling, LLC for
the Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps and
Construction and Demolition Debris within the Authority, the Transportation of Such
Materials to Appropriate Places of Processing, Recycling, Composting and/or Disposal,
and the Processing of Recyclable Materials and Food Scraps
Resolution 2021-04
FISCAL IMPACT
None

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-04
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OFTHE WEST VALLEY SOLID
WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITYAPPROVING THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO
THE AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT BETWEEN WEST VALLEY SOLID
WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY AND WEST VALLEY COLLECTION &
RECYCLING, LLC FOR THE COLLECTION OF SOLID WASTE, RECYCLABLE
MATERIALS, GREEN WASTE, FOOD SCRAPS AND CONSTRUCTION AND
DEMOLITION DEBRIS WITHIN THE AUTHORITY, THE TRANSPORTAION OF SUCH
MATERIALS TO APPROPRIATE PLACES OF PROCESSING, RECYCLING,
COMPOSTING AND/OR DISPOSAL, AND THE PROCESING OF RECYCLABLE
MATERIALS AND GOOD SCRAPS
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORIITY that the document entitled
“AMENDMENT #1 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY AND WEST
VALLEY COLLECTION & RECYCLING, LLC FOR THE COLLECTION OF SOLID
WASTE, RECYCLABLE MATERIALS, GREEN WASTE, FOOD SCRAPS AND
CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION DEBRIS WITHIN THE AUTHORITY, THE
TRANSPORTATION OF SUCH MATERIALS TO APPROPRIATE PLACES OF
PROCESSING, RECYCLING, COMPOSTING, AND/OR DISPOSAL, AND THE
PROCESSING OF RECYCLABLE MATERIALS AND FOOD SCRAPS” is hereby
approved and the Chairperson is hereby authorized to execute same.
This resolution was passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of the West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority at a meeting on the 6th day of May, 2021, by
the following vote:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
Approved: _____________________________
Paul Resnikoff, Chairperson
Attest:

________________________________
Marva M. Sheehan, Executive Director
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AMENDMENT #1 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
AUTHORITY
AND WEST VALLEY COLLECTION & RECYCLING, LLC
FOR THE COLLECTION OF SOLID WASTE, RECYCLABLE
MATERIALS, GREEN WASTE, FOOD SCRAPS AND
CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION DEBRIS WITHIN THE
AUTHORITY,
THE TRANSPORTATION OF SUCH MATERIALS TO
APPROPRIATE PLACES OF PROCESSING, RECYCLING,
COMPOSTING AND/OR DISPOSAL,
AND THE PROCESSING OF RECYCLABLE MATERIALS AND
FOOD SCRAPS

APRIL 30, 2021

This Amendment #1 to the Amended and Restated Franchise Agreement between the WEST VALLEY SOLID
WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY of Santa Clara County, California, a Joint Powers Authority organized
under the laws of the State of California (hereafter “AUTHORITY”), and WEST VALLEY COLLECTION &
RECYCLING, LLC, a California corporation (hereafter “COMPANY”), for the Collection of Solid Waste,
Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris within the AUTHORITY,
the Transportation of Such Materials to Appropriate Places of Processing, Recycling, Composting and/or
Disposal, and the Processing of Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition
Debris, each of which may be referred to individually as “Party” or together as the “Parties”.

RECITALS
This Amendment #1 is made and entered into on the basis of the following facts, understandings, and
intentions of the parties:
WHEREAS, effective October 1, 1997, the Cities of Campbell, Monte Sereno, and Saratoga, and the Town
of Los Gatos formed the AUTHORITY pursuant to Government Code Section 6500 et. Seq. to manage and
oversee the Franchised Services originating in the Cities of Campbell, Monte Sereno and Saratoga and the
Town of Los Gatos; and,
WHEREAS, the Parties entered into an Agreement for Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials,
Green Waste, Food Scraps and Construction and Demolition Debris within the AUTHORITY, the
Transportation of Such Materials to Appropriate Places of Processing, Recycling, Composting and/or
Disposal, and the Processing of Recyclable Materials and Food Scraps on March 1, 2014 (“Agreement”
capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Agreement)
providing terms and conditions for the provision of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food
Scraps and Construction and Demolition Debris Collection in the AUTHORITY; and,
WHEREAS, the Agreement provides the AUTHORITY the right to direct COMPANY to modify the scope of
one or more service described in the Agreement, or to otherwise modify its performance under the
Agreement, subject to providing additional compensation; and,
WHEREAS, SB 1383 establishes regulatory requirements for jurisdictions, Generators, haulers, Solid Waste
facilities, and other entities to support achievement of State‐wide Organic Waste Disposal reduction
targets; and,
WHEREAS, SB 1383 requires the AUTHORITY and its Cities to implement Collection programs, meet
Processing facility requirements, conduct contamination monitoring, provide education, maintain
records, submit reports, monitor compliance, conduct enforcement, and fulfill other requirements; and,
the AUTHORITY has chosen to delegate some of its responsibilities to the COMPANY, acting as the
AUTHORITY’s designee, through this Agreement; and,
WHEREAS, both Parties have, in good faith, negotiated changes to the Agreement necessary to support
compliance with SB 1383, as set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, and conditions herein contained,
AUHTORITY and COMPANY do hereby agree as follows:
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I.

EFFECTIVE DATE

This Amendment #1 shall become effective on the date this Amendment is signed by both Parties.

II.
A.

SB 1383 PROGRAM AMENDMENTS TO AGREEMENT
ARTICLE 1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add, modify, or remove the following definitions,
all other definitions remain as stated in the Agreement, and numbering of all definitions in Article 1
of the Agreement shall be removed as follows:

“Article 1 Definitions
AB 341. The Assembly Bill approved by the Governor of the State of California on October 5, 2011,
which amended Sections 41730, 41731, 41734, 41735, 41736, 41800, 42926, 44004, and 50001 of,
and added Sections 40004, 41734.5, and 41780.01 and Chapter 12.8 (commencing with Section
42649) to Part 3 of Division 30 of, and added and repealed Section 41780.02 of, the Public Resources
Code, relating to Solid Waste, as amended, supplemented, superseded and replaced from time to
time.
AB 1826. The Assembly Bill approved by the Governor of the State of California on September 28,
2014, which added Chapter 12.9 (commencing with Section 42649.8) to Part 3 of Division 30 of the
Public Resources Code, relating to Solid Waste, as amended, supplemented, superseded, and
replaced from time to time.
Affiliate. All businesses (including corporations, limited and general partnerships, and sole
proprietorships) that are directly or indirectly related to Company by virtue of direct or indirect
ownership interest or common management and shall be deemed to be “Affiliated with” Company
and included within the term “Affiliates” as used herein. An Affiliate shall include a business in which
Company owns a direct or indirect ownership interest, a business that has a direct or indirect
ownership interest in Company, and/or a business that is also owned, controlled, or managed by
any business or individual that has a direct or indirect ownership interest in Company. For purposes
of determining whether an indirect ownership interest exists, the constructive ownership provisions
of Section 318(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as in effect on the date of this Agreement,
shall apply; provided, however, that: (i) “ten percent (10%)” shall be substituted for “fifty percent
(50%)” in Section 318(a)(2)(C) and in Section 318(a)(3)(C) thereof; and (ii) Section 318(a)(5)(C) shall
be disregarded. For purposes of determining ownership under this paragraph and constructive or
indirect ownership under Section 318(a), ownership interest of less than ten percent (10%) shall be
disregarded, and percentage interests shall be determined on the basis of the percentage of voting
interest or value which the ownership interest represents, whichever is greater.
Alternative Daily Cover (ADC). Disposal Site cover material, other than Compostable material and at
least six (6) inches of earthen material, placed on the surface of the active face of the refuse fill area
at the end of each operating day to control vectors, fires, odors, blowing litter, and scavenging, as
defined in 20690 of Title 27 of the California Code of Regulations.
Alternative Intermediate Cover or AIC. Has the same meaning as in Section 20700 of Title 27 of the
California Code of Regulations.
Alternative Facility. Any facility approved by Authority for use pursuant to Section 6.7.1, Section
6.12, and Section 6.16.
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Applicable Law. All Federal, State, and local laws, regulations, rules, orders, judgments, degrees,
permits, approvals, or other requirement of any governmental agency having jurisdiction over the
Collection, Transportation, Processing, and Disposal of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, and
Organic Materials that are in force on the Effective Date and as they may be enacted, issued or
amended during the Term of this Agreement. Applicable Law includes, but is in no way limited to,
AB 939, AB 341, AB 1826, and SB 1383.
Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site. Facility used to Process Construction
and Demolition Debris, compliant with CalGreen standards, which guarantees a higher Diversion
Rate than the Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site. The Zanker Materials
Processing Facility, owned and operated by GreenWaste Recovery Incorporated, at 675 Los Esteros
Road, San Jose, California, the Zanker Road Landfill, owned and operated by GreenWaste Recovery
Incorporated, at 705 Los Esteros Road, San Jose, California, the Newby Island Resource Recovery
Park, owned and operated by Republic Services Inc., at 1601 Dixon Landing Road, Milpitas,
California, or the Premier Recycling Materials Recovery Facility, at 260 Leo Ave, San Jose, California,
which were selected by Company and approved by the Authority in writing.
Approved Organic Materials Processing Site. The Z‐Best Composting Facility at 980 State Highway
25, Gilroy, California, which was selected by Company and approved by the Authority in writing.
Approved Facilities. Any one of or any combination of the: Approved Recyclable Materials
Processing Site; Approved Organic Materials Processing Site; and, Approved Construction and
Demolition Debris Processing Site, each of which are defined in this Article and listed in Exhibit 11.
Authority Contract Manager. The Authority’s Executive Director, or their designee, who is
responsible for the administrative management of this Agreement.
Back‐Haul. Generating and Transporting Organic Waste to a destination owned and operated by the
Generator using the Generator’s own employees and equipment, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR
Section 18982(a)(66)(A).
Bin. Any front‐load Container which is able to accept Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green
Waste, Organic Materials, and Food Scraps.
CalGreen. California Green Building Standards Code, 24 CCR, Part 11 as amended July 1, 2019 and
effective January 1, 2020.
California Code of Regulations or CCR. The State of California Code of Regulations. CCR references
in this Agreement are preceded with a number that refers to the relevant Title of the CCR (e.g., “14
CCR” refers to Title 14 of CCR).
Commercial or Commercial Property. A non‐Residential Property including a firm, partnership,
proprietorship, joint‐ stock company, corporation, or association, where business activity is
conducted, including, but not limited to, retail sales, services, wholesale operations, manufacturing
and industrial operations, but excluding businesses conducted upon Residential Property which are
permitted under applicable zoning regulations and are not the primary use of the property, whether
for‐profit or nonprofit, strip mall, or industrial facility, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section
18982(a)(6), with the exception that Multi‐Family is excluded from the definition of Commercial
Property for the purposes of this Agreement.
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Commercial Edible Food Generators. Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generators and Tier Two
Commercial Edible Food Generators, as described in the tables below, or as otherwise defined in 14
CCR Section 18982(a)(7). For the purposes of this definition, Food Recovery Organizations and Food
Recovery Services are not Commercial Edible Food Generators, or as otherwise specified by 14 CCR
Section 18982(a)(7).
Tier One Edible Food Generators include:
Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generator
Supermarket. Full‐line, self‐service retail store with gross annual sales of two million
dollars ($2,000,000), or more, and which sells a line of dry grocery, canned goods,
or nonfood items and some perishable items.
Grocery Store with a total facility size equal to or greater than 10,000 square feet.
Food Service Provider. An entity primarily engaged in providing food services to
institutional, governmental, commercial, or industrial locations of others based on
contractual arrangements with these types of organizations.
Food Distributor. A company that distributes food to entities including, but not
limited to, supermarkets, and grocery stores.
Wholesale Food Vendor. Business or establishment engaged in the merchant
wholesale distribution of food, where food (including fruits and vegetables) is
received, shipped, stored, prepared for distribution to a retailer, warehouse,
distributor, or other destination.

Tier Two Edible Food Generators include:
Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator
Restaurant with 250 or more seats, or a total facility size equal to or greater than 5,000
square feet.
Hotel with an on‐site food facility and 200 or more rooms.
Health facility with an on‐site food facility and 100 or more beds.
Large Venue. A permanent venue facility that annually seats or serves an average of
more than 2,000 individuals within the grounds of the facility per day of operation of the
venue facility. For purposes of 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 and this Agreement, a
venue facility includes, but is not limited to, a public, nonprofit, or privately owned or
operated stadium, amphitheater, arena, hall, amusement park, conference or civic
center, zoo, aquarium, airport, racetrack, horse track, performing arts center,
fairground, museum, theater, or other public attraction facility. For purposes of 14 CCR,
Division 7, Chapter 12 and this Agreement, a site under common ownership or control
that includes more than one Large Venue that is contiguous with other Large Venues in
the site, is a single Large Venue. If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(39) differs
from this definition, the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(39) shall apply to this
Agreement.
Large Event. An event, including, but not limited to, a sporting event or a flea market,
that charges an admission price, or is operated by a local agency, and serves an average
of more than 2,000 individuals per day of operation of the event, at a location that
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Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator
includes, but is not limited to, a public, nonprofit, or privately owned park, parking lot,
golf course, street system, or other open space when being used for an event. If the
definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(38) differs from this definition, the definition in 14
CCR Section 18982(a)(38) shall apply to this Agreement.
A State agency with a cafeteria with 250 or more seats or total cafeteria facility size equal
to or greater than 5,000 square feet.
A local education agency with an on‐site food facility.

Commercial Organic Materials Processing Fee. The per‐Ton tip fee for the Transport and Processing
of Food Scraps, applied to each Ton as delivered to GreenWaste Recovery, Incorporated’s transfer
station.
Community Composting. Any activity that Composts green material, agricultural material, food
material, and vegetative food material, alone or in combination, and the total amount of feedstock
and Compost on‐site at any one time does not exceed 100 cubic yards and 750 square feet, as
specified in 14 CCR Section 6 17855(a)(4); or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(8).
Compostable Plastics or Compostable Plastic. Plastic materials that meet the ASTM D6400 standard
for compostability. Compostable Plastics is a subset of Organic Waste.
Composting (or Compost). Has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 17896.2(a)(4), which stated,
as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, that “Compost” means the product resulting from the
controlled biological decomposition of organic Solid Wastes that are Source Separated from the
municipal Solid Waste stream, or which are separated at a centralized facility.
Compost Product. The product resulting from the controlled biological decomposition of organic
materials that are Source Separated from the municipal solid waste stream, or which are separated
at a centralized facility, and meets the Compost procurement requirements described in 14 CCR
Section 18993.1(f).
Construction and Demolition Debris. Construction materials resulting from construction,
remodeling, repair or demolition operations, as part of a total service offered by a duly‐licensed
demolition company or the City, including rocks, soil, tree remains, and other Green Waste which
normally results from land clearing or land development operations for a construction project and
such materials as defined as "construction and demolition debris" by applicable local ordinances in
existence as of the Effective Date of this Agreement. Construction and Demolition Debris shall be
Source Separated from Solid Waste at the site of generation and contain no more than thirty
percent (30%) by volume of Residue.
Construction and Demolition Debris Government Fee. The total of taxes and fees assessed to the
Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site solely for purposes related to the
Processing operation.
Construction and Demolition Debris Surcharge. The difference between the Construction and
Demolition rate at the Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site the for
Construction and Demolition Debris and the rate for Transportation and Processing of Construction
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and Demolition Debris at an Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site,
pursuant to Section 6.4.1.
Designated Facility(ies). Any one of or any combination of the: Designated Construction and
Demolition Processing Site; Designated Disposal Site; and, Designated Organic Materials Processing
Site.
Designated Organic Materials Processing Site. The Altamont Covered Aerated Static Pile (CASP)
Composting Facility, which is owned and operated by Waste Management of Alameda County, Inc.,
unless the Company designates in writing, with Authority approval, a different drop‐off site, where
the material will be delivered to Guadalupe Landfill, which is owned and operated by Waste
Management of Alameda County, Inc.
Discarded Materials. For purposes of this Agreement, material is deemed to have been discarded,
without regard to whether it is destined for Recycling or Disposal, and whether or not is has been
separated from other Solid Wastes, in all cases where a fee or other compensation, in any form or
amount, is directly or indirectly solicited from, or levied, charged, or otherwise imposed on, or paid
by, the Generator or Customer in exchange for handling services. As used herein, handling services
include, without limitation, the Collection, removal, Transportation, delivery, and Processing and/or
Disposal of the material. Discarded Materials do not include Edible Food that is recovered for human
consumption and is not discarded. For the purposes of this Agreement, Discarded Materials include
Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris once
the materials have been placed in Containers for Collection.
Disposal Government Fee. The total taxes and fees assessed to the Designated Disposal Site solely
for Disposal purposes related to the waste program.
Edible Food. Food intended for human consumption. For the purposes of this Agreement, Edible
Food is not Solid Waste if it is recovered and not discarded. Nothing in this Agreement requires or
authorizes the recovery of Edible Food that does not meet the food safety requirements of the
California Retail Food Code. If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(18) for Edible Food differs
from this definition, the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(18) shall apply to this Agreement.
Excluded Waste. Hazardous Substance, Hazardous Waste, Infectious Waste, Designated Waste,
volatile, corrosive, medical waste, infectious, regulated radioactive waste, and toxic substances or
material that approved or designated facility operator(s) reasonably believe(s) would, as a result of
or upon acceptance, Transfer, Processing, or Disposal, be a violation of local, State, or Federal law,
regulation, or ordinance, including: land use restrictions or conditions, waste that cannot be
Disposed of in Class III landfills or accepted at the facility by permit conditions, waste that in
Company’s reasonable opinion would present a significant risk to human health or the environment,
cause a nuisance or otherwise create or expose Company or Authority to potential liability; but not
including de minimis volumes or concentrations of waste of a type and amount normally found in
Single‐Family or Multi‐Family Solid Waste after implementation of programs for the safe Collection,
Processing, Recycling, treatment, and Disposal of batteries and paint in compliance with Sections
41500 and 41802 of the California Public Resources Code. Excluded Waste does not include used
motor oil and filters, E‐Waste Items, and household batteries when such materials are defined as
allowable materials for Collection through this Agreement and the Generator or Customer has
properly placed the materials for Collection pursuant to instructions provided by Authority or
Company as set forth in this Agreement.
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Food Recovery. Actions to collect and distribute food for human consumption which otherwise
would be disposed, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(24).
Food Recovery Organization. An entity that primarily engages in the collection or receipt of Edible
Food from Commercial Edible Food Generators and distributes that Edible Food to the public for
Food Recovery either directly or through other entities, including, but not limited to:
1.

A food bank as defined in Section 113783 of the Health and Safety Code;

2.

A nonprofit charitable organization as defined in Section 113841 of the Health and Safety
code; and,

3.

A nonprofit charitable temporary food facility as defined in Section 113842 of the Health and
Safety Code.

Food Recovery Service. A Person or entity that collects and transports Edible Food from a
Commercial Edible Food Generator to a Food Recovery Organization or other entities for Food
Recovery; or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(26).
Food Scraps. All food that will decompose and/or putrefy including (i) all kitchen and table food
waste, and animal or vegetable waste that attends or results from the storage, preparation, cooking
or handling of food stuffs, and (ii) un‐coated paper waste contaminated with Food Scraps and placed
in Containers for Collection. Food Scraps includes Food‐Soiled Paper. Edible Food separated for
Food Recovery shall not be considered Food Scraps. Food Scraps is a subset of Organic Materials.
Food‐Soiled Paper. Pre‐ and post‐consumer compostable paper material that has come in contact
with food or liquid, such as, but not limited to, compostable paper plates, paper coffee cups, coffee
filters, napkins, pizza boxes, and milk cartons. Food‐Soiled Paper is a subset of Food Scraps.
Green Waste. Tree trimmings, grass cuttings, dead plants, leaves, branches and dead trees (not
more than three (3) inches in diameter), garden and tree fruits and vegetables, and similar materials
generated and separated from other materials at the Premises. Green Waste is a subset of Organic
Materials.
Gross Revenues. Any and all revenue or compensation in any form to Company or subsidiaries, or
Parent Companies of Company, for the Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green
Waste, Food Scraps, and Construction and Demolition Debris within the Authority, the
Transportation of such material to appropriate places of Processing, Recycling, Composting and/or
Disposal, and the Processing of Recyclable Materials and Food Scraps pursuant to this Agreement,
including Franchise Fees, HHW Fees, Street Sweeping Fees, Vehicle Impact Fees, Recycling
Surcharge, Construction and Demolition Debris Surcharge, JPA Administrative Costs or any other
cost of doing business.
Gross Revenues Collected. Cash receipts collected by the Company for the Collection of Solid Waste,
Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, and Construction and Demolition Debris within
the Authority, the Transportation of such material to appropriate places of Processing, Recycling,
Composting and/or Disposal, and the Processing of Recyclable Materials and Food Scraps, excluding
Street Sweeping Fees, HHW Fees, Recycling Surcharge, JPA Administrative Costs, and Construction
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and Demolition Debris Surcharge. Gross Revenues Collected is the base for the Franchise Fee
calculation in 5.1.
Hauler Route. The designated itinerary or sequence of stops for each segment of the Authority’s
Collection service area, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(31.5).
Large Event. As defined under Commercial Edible Food Generators in Article 1 of this Agreement.
Large Venue. As defined under Commercial Edible Food Generators in Article 1 of this Agreement.
Mulch. A layer of material applied on top of soil, and, for the purposes of the Agreement, Mulch
shall conform with the following conditions, or conditions as otherwise specified in 14 CCR Section
18993.1(f)(4):
1.

Meets or exceeds the physical contamination, maximum metal concentration, and pathogen
density standards for land applications specified in 14 CCR Section 17852(a)(24.5)(A)(1)
through (3).

2.

Was produced at one or more of the following types of Facilities:
a.

A compostable material handling operation or facility as defined in 14 CCR Section
17852(a)(12), that is permitted or authorized under Division 7 of Title 14 of the CCR,
other than a chipping and grinding operation or facility as defined in 14 CCR Section
17852(a)(10)

b.

A Transfer/Processing Facility or Transfer/Processing operation as defined in 14 CCR
Section 17402(a)(30) and (31), respectively, that is permitted or authorized under 14
CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12; or,

c.

A Solid Waste landfill as defined in PRC Section 40195.1 that is permitted under 27 CCR,
Division 2.

Multi‐Family. Any Premises with five (5) or more units serviced in a manner similar to Commercial
Property, but used for residential purposes (not including hotels or motels), irrespective of whether
residence therein is transient, temporary or permanent, which receive centralized Collection service
for all units on the Premises which are billed to one (1) Customer at one (1) address or individual
Collection service in which each unit is billed as a separately Customer. References to “Multi‐Family
Dwelling Unit” refer to an individual residential unit of the Multi‐Family Premises.
Multi‐Family Dwelling Unit. An individual residential unit of the Multi‐Family.
Residential Organic Materials Government Processing Fee. The Per‐Ton total of taxes and fees
assessed to the Designated Organic Materials Processing Site solely for Organic Materials Processing
purposes.
Residential Organic Materials Processing Proprietary Rate. The proprietary Rate for transferring and
Processing Green Waste at the Designated Organics Processing Site.
Organic Waste. Solid Wastes containing material originated from living organisms and their
metabolic waste products including, but not limited to, food, Green Waste, organic textiles and

WVSWMA and WVC&R Franchise Agreement Amendment 1

Page 8 of 77

carpets, lumber, wood, Paper Products, Printing and Writing Paper, manure, biosolids, digestate,
and sludges, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(46). Biosolids and digestate are as
defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(4) and 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(16.5), respectively.
Paper Products. Include, but are not limited to, paper janitorial supplies, cartons, wrapping,
packaging, file folders, hanging files (with metal removed), corrugated boxes, tissue, and toweling;
or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(51).
Printing and Writing Papers. Include, but are not limited to, copy, xerographic, watermark, cotton
fiber, offset, forms, computer printout paper, white wove envelopes, manila envelopes, book paper,
note pads, writing tablets, newsprint, and other uncoated writing papers, posters, index cards,
calendars, brochures, reports, magazines, and publications; or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR
Section 18982(a)(54).
Processing. The controlled separation, recovery, volume reduction, conversion, or Recycling of Solid
Waste including, but not limited to, organized, manual, automated, or mechanical sorting, the use
of vehicles for spreading of waste for the purpose of recovery, and/or includes the use of conveyor
belts, sorting lines, or volume reduction equipment, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section
17402(a)(20).
Processing Sites. Any plant or site used for the purpose of sorting, cleansing, treating or
reconstituting Recyclable Materials or Organic Materials for the purpose of making such material
available for productive economic use. Processing Sites include the Approved Organic Materials
Processing Site, the Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site, the Approved Construction and
Demolition Debris Processing Site, the Designated Organic Materials Processing Site, and the
Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site.
Prohibited Container Contaminants. The following: (i) Discarded Materials placed in the Recyclable
Materials Container that are not identified as acceptable Source Separated Recyclable Materials; (ii)
Discarded Materials placed in the Organics Materials Container that are not identified as acceptable
Source Separated Organic Materials; (iii) Discarded Materials placed in the Solid Waste Container
that are acceptable Source Separated Recyclable Materials and/or Source Separated Organic
Materials to be placed in Organics Materials Container and/or Recyclable Materials Container; and
(iv) Un‐permitted materials placed in any Container.
Property Owner. The owner of real property, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section
18982(a)(57).
Recyclable Materials. Residential, Commercial, or industrial Source Separated by‐ products of some
potential economic value, set aside, handled, packaged, or offered for Collection in a manner
different from Solid Waste, which are able to fit in Residential Recycling Containers or Commercial
Recycling Containers, as the case may be. As of the date of execution of this Agreement, Recyclable
Materials shall include, but not be limited to the following:
(1)

Metals: aerosol cans, aluminum foil, aluminum pans, beverage cans, can lids, car
parts, doors and screens, electrical motors, food/soup cans, furniture, hangers,
keys, lids/caps, nuts and bolts, paint cans, pet food cans, pipes, plumbing fixtures,
pots and pans, propane tanks, scrap metal, screws and nuts, tools, toys,
umbrellas, and utensils
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(2)

E‐Waste Items: appliances, calculators, cameras, cell phones, computer mice,
computer tower, cords, DVD players, DVRs, fax machines, inkjet toner cartridges,
keyboards, microwaves, pagers, PDAs, printers, radios, scanners, stereos,
telephones, and VCRs, but not including any E‐Waste Items with embedded
batteries

(3)

Paper: aseptic packaging, books, carbonless paper, cardboard, catalogs, cereal
boxes, coffee cups, colored paper, computer paper, construction paper, coupons,
egg cartons, envelopes, frozen food boxes, gift wrap, juice boxes, junk mail,
magazines, mailers, milk cartons, newspapers (including inserts), office paper,
paper bags, paper cups / plates, pizza boxes, shoe boxes, shredded paper, and
telephone books

(4)

Plastic: auto parts, baby wipe containers, baskets, beverage bottles, bleach/
detergent bottles, buckets, coffee cup lids, coolers, crates, flower pots, food
containers, furniture, , hangers, , household cleaner bottles, mouthwash bottles,
pet carriers, HDPE pipes, plastics (numbers 1 ‐ 7), prescription bottles, shampoo
bottles, shelving, squeeze bottles, swimming pools, take‐out containers, and toys

(5)

Film Plastics: bread bags, bubble wrap, cellophane bags, dry cleaning bags, frozen
food bags, newspaper bags, pallet wrap, plastic liners, plastic wrap, produce bags,
and shrink wrap

(6)

Glass: beverage bottles, broken glass, food jars, and wine bottles

(7)

Miscellaneous: textiles, and used oil and used oil filters

Recycling Surcharge. The component of Rates which reflects the decline in Recyclable Materials
markets due to change in China’s import policies.
Residual (or Residue). The Solid Waste destined for Disposal, further Transfer and/or Processing as
defined in 14 CCR Section 17402(a)(30) or 14 CCR Section 17402(a)(31), or transformation which
remains after Processing has taken place and is calculated in percent as the weight of Residual
divided by the total incoming weight of materials.
SB 1383. Senate Bill 1383 of 2016 approved by the Governor on September 19, 2016, which added
Sections 39730.5, 39730.6, 39730.7, and 39730.8 to the Health and Safety Code, and added Chapter
13.1 (commencing with Section 42652) to Part 3 of Division 30 of the Public Resources Code,
establishing methane emissions reduction targets in a statewide effort to reduce emissions of short‐
lived climate pollutants as amended, supplemented, superseded, and replaced from time to time.
SB 1383 Regulations or SB 1383 Regulatory. Refers to the Short‐Lived Climate Pollutants (SLCP):
Organic Waste Reductions regulations developed by CalRecycle and adopted in 2020 that created
Chapter 12 of 14 CCR, Division 7 and amended portions of regulations of 14 CCR and 27 CCR.
Self‐Hauler or Self‐Haul. A Person who hauls Solid Waste, Organic Waste, or recovered material they
have generated to another Person, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(66). Self‐
Hauler also includes a landscaper and a Person who Back‐Hauls waste.
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Service Level. The number and size of a Customer’s Container(s) and the frequency of Collection
service, as well as ancillary services such as lock/unlock service, Container push/pull service, etc.
Single‐Family. Any residential Premises with less units; Notwithstanding any contrary definition in
the City’s Municipal Code, any detached or attached house or residence designed or used for
occupancy by one or two families, provided that Collection service can feasibly be and is provided
to such Premises as an independent unit.
Solid Waste. Solid Waste as defined in California Public Resources Code, Division 30, Part 1, Chapter
2, §40191. Excluded from the definition of Solid Waste are Construction and Demolition Debris,
Hazardous Waste, Infectious Waste, Designated Waste, Source Separated Recyclable Materials,
Source Separated Organic Materials, and radioactive waste. Notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary, Solid Waste may include de minimis volumes or concentrations of waste of a type and
amount normally found in Residential Solid Waste after implementation of programs for the safe
Collection, Recycling, treatment, and Disposal of HHW in compliance with Section 41500 and 41802
of the California Public Resources Code as may be amended from time to time. Solid Waste includes
Salvageable Materials only when such materials are included for Collection in a Solid Waste
Container.
Source Separation (or Source Separated). The segregation, by the Generator, Property Owner,
Property Owner’s employee, property manager, or property manager’s employee of materials
designated for separate Collection for some form of Recycling, Composting, recovery, or reuse.
Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generator. As defined under Commercial Edible Food Generators
in Article 1 of this Agreement.
Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator. As defined under Commercial Edible Food Generators
in Article 1 of this Agreement.
Subcontractor. Any Person, firm, or entity hired by Company to carry out any of Company’s duties
under this Agreement. Subcontractor includes Affiliates.
Transport. The Transportation of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Materials from the
point of Collection to a MRF, Processing facility, or Disposal Site.
Working Day. Days on which the Company is required to provide regularly scheduled Collection
services under this Agreement.”
B.

Article 2, Section 2.10 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“2.10 Voluntary Use of Designated Disposal Site, Designated Organic
Materials Processing Site, and Designated Construction and Demolition
Debris Processing Site.
The Company, without constraint and as a free‐market business decision in accepting this
Agreement, agrees to use the Designated Disposal Site for the purposes of Disposing of all Solid
Waste Collected in the Authority, the Designated Organic Materials Processing Site for the purposes
of Processing all Organic Materials Collected in an Organic Materials Containers, and the Designated
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site for purposes of Processing of all Construction
and Demolition Debris Collected in the Authority, unless materials Construction and Demolition
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Debris Materials are taken to an Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site. Such
decision by Company in no way constitutes a restraint of trade notwithstanding any Change in Law
regarding flow control limitations or any definition thereof.”
C.

Article 4, Section 4.2.B of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“4.2.B Scope of Franchise
Transporting Collected materials to the Designated Disposal Site, Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site, Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, Approved
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site,
and Approved Organic Materials Processing Site.”
D.

Article 4, Section 4.3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“4.3 Limitations to Scope
The categories of materials listed below may be Collected and Transported by others provided that
nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall be construed to excuse any Person from obtaining
any authorization from Authority or Cities which is otherwise required by law:
A)

Solid Waste which is removed from any Premises by the Generator, and which is
Transported personally by the Owner or Occupant of such Premises (or by his or
her full‐time employees) to any Processing or Disposal Site;

B)

Collection and Processing of Recyclable Materials not specifically included in the
definition of Recyclable Materials in Section 1.81;

C)

Source Separated Recyclable Materials that are generated in the Authority that
are donated by the Generator to youth, civic, charitable, or other nonprofit
organizations;

D)

Source Separated Recyclable Materials generated in the Authority that are placed
in Containers, Collected through a private arrangement with the Generator and
the Generator is compensated for the Recyclable Materials Collected; provided,
however, that the Owner or Occupant of such Premises shall be required to
subscribe to and pay for the basic level of service provided by Company;

E)

Recyclable Materials Containers delivered for Recycling under the California
Beverage Container Recycling Litter Reduction Act, Section 14500 et seq.
California Public Resources Code as may be amended from time to time;

F)

Organic Materials Composted on residential Premises or otherwise legally
managed at the site where it is generated or at a Community Composting site;

G)

Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, and/or Organic Materials removed from a
Premises by a contractor (e.g., gardener, landscaper, tree‐trimming service, but
not by a subcontractor whose primary service is such removal) as an incidental
part of the service being performed and such contractor is providing a service
which is not included in the scope of this Agreement;
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H)

Animal waste and remains from slaughterhouses or butcher shops, grease waste,
or used cooking oil;

I)

Construction and Demolition Debris which is removed from any Premises by
employees of the construction or demolition company or the City, using
equipment owned by the company or the City;

J)

By‐products of sewage treatment, including sludge, sludge ash, grit and
screenings;

K)

Hazardous Waste, Household Hazardous Waste, Infectious Waste and Designated
Waste regardless of its source; and,

L)

Materials generated by public schools and other State institutions located in the
Authority.

M)

Clean up Services from residential or commercial Premises where the services are
provided to the particular Premises on a temporary basis, not on a regular or on‐
going basis.

N)

Edible Food, which is collected from a Generator by other Person(s), such as a
Person from a Food Recovery Organization or Food Recovery Service, for the
purposes of Food Recovery; or which is transported by the Generator to another
Person(s), such as a Person from a Food Recovery Organization, for the purposes
of Food Recovery, regardless of whether the Generator donates, sells, or pays a
fee to the other Person(s) to collect or receive the Edible Food from the
Generator.

O)

Food Scraps that are separated by the Generator and used by the Generator or
to other Person(s) for lawful use as animal feed, in accordance with 14 CCR
Section 18983.1(b)(7). Food Scraps intended for animal feed may be Self‐Hauled
by Generator or hauled by another party.

P)

Any services not specifically identified in Section 4.2.

Company acknowledges and agrees that Authority may permit other Persons besides Company to
Collect any or all types of the Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction
and Demolition Debris listed in this Section 4.3, without seeking or obtaining approval of Company
under this Agreement.”
E.

Article 4, Section 4.5.3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“4.5.3 Authority Directed Changes to Scope – Change in Designated
Disposal Site, Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site, Approved
Organic Materials Processing Site, Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site, Approved Construction and Demolition Debris
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Processing Site, or Designated Construction and Demolition Debris
Processing Site
If the Authority changes the Designated Disposal Site, the Designated Organic Materials Processing
Site, or the Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, or specifies use of a
Recyclable Materials Processing Site that is different from the Approved Recyclable Materials
Processing Site, use of an Organic Materials Processing site that is different from the Approved
Organic Materials Processing Site, or use of the Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site
that is different from the Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, the
Authority shall provide written notice to Company six (6) months before effective date of the change
and the date Company shall commence use of the site.”
F.

Article 4, Section 4.5.4 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“4.5.4 Authority Directed Changes to Scope – Adjustment to Company’s
Compensation
If the Authority directs a change in scope, Designated Disposal Site, Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site, or Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, Company may
be entitled to an adjustment in its compensation in accordance with Section 8.8. Company shall not
be compensated for the proposal preparation costs or other costs incurred during the negotiation
of its proposal for the change in scope of such services.”
G.

Article 4, Section 4.5.5 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“4.5.5 Authority Directed Changes to Scope – Implementation of New
Services
The Company's implementation of the new services or change in the Designated Disposal Site,
Designated Organic Materials Processing Site, Designated Construction and Demolition Debris
Processing Site, Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site, Approved Organic Materials
Processing Site, or Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, shall occur in a
timely, smooth, and seamless manner such that Customers and/or Generators do not experience
disruption in Collection services. Company shall be responsible for managing implementation of
new Collection services or change in the Designated Disposal Site, Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site, Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, Approved
Recyclable Materials Processing Site, Approved Organic Materials Processing Site, or Approved
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, and other related services, and shall do so in
accordance with an Authority‐approved implementation plan.”
H.

Article 6, Section 6.2.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.2.2 Recyclable Materials Collection – Single-Family Premises
Company shall Collect commingled Recyclable Materials from 35‐, 65‐, or 95‐gallon Company‐
provided Carts, as requested by the Customer, and placed for Collection by the Recyclable Materials
Generator, not less than once per week. Recyclable Materials Collection shall be provided to all
Customers subscribing to Solid Waste Collection unless the Customer has received a service waiver
under Section 7.6. Standard Collection service shall be automated Collection from the curb unless
another method is approved by the Authority. Authority approval will not be unreasonably
withheld. If Occupant is physically unable to place the Cart Curbside, Company shall Collect Carts
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from an alternative service location (such as a porch, side yard, or backyard). In addition, as part of
Company’s Recyclable Materials Collection, Company shall Collect Residential Household Batteries
that are placed on top of the Single‐Family Dwelling Units Customer’s Recyclable Materials
Collection Container in a clear‐sealed plastic bag. In addition, as part of Company’s Recyclable
Materials Collection, Company shall Collect bundled cardboard (of a size that would be able to fit
within the Collection Container) that are placed next to the Single‐Family Dwelling Units Customer’s
Recyclable Materials Collection Container.”
I.

Article 6, Section 6.2.3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.2.3 Recyclable Materials Collection – Multi-Family Premises
Company shall Collect commingled Recyclable Materials from Multi‐Family Premises as frequently
as scheduled by Customer, but not less than once per week. Recycling Collection shall be provided
to all Customers subscribing to Solid Waste Collection, unless the Customer has received a service
waiver under Section 7.6.
Company shall provide each Customer with a 95‐gallon Cart or combination of smaller Carts, or Bins
with capacities ranging from 1 to 6 cubic yards, as requested by the Customer, with no less than
twenty (20) gallons of Container capacity for every Multi‐Family Dwelling Unit. Carts and Bins may
be shared by the Occupants of the Multi‐Family Premises.
Company shall Collect Recyclable Materials at the designated location agreed upon by Company
and Customer. Special consideration shall be given when determining the pickup area for Multi‐
Family accounts to ensure that the flow of traffic is not impeded and that it does not result in
aesthetic degradation of an area. Additionally, if in the Authority's opinion, the location of an
existing pickup area is inappropriate, Authority may require the Customer to relocate the pickup
area. In addition, as part of Company's Recyclable Materials Collection, Company shall Collect Multi‐
Family Household Batteries that are placed on top of the Multi‐Family Dwelling Units Customer's
Recyclable Materials Collection Cart in a clear‐sealed plastic bag. In addition, as part of Company's
Recyclable Materials Collection, Company shall Collect bundled cardboard (of a size that would be
able to fit within the Collection Container) that are placed next to the Multi‐Family Dwelling Units
Customer's Recyclable Materials Collection Container.”
J.

Article 6, Section 6.2.4 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.2.4 Recyclable Materials Collection – Commercial Premises
Company shall Collect Recyclable Materials from Commercial Premises as frequently as scheduled
by Customer, but not less than once per week. Company shall offer service to Customers Monday
through Friday. If Customer requests Recyclable Materials Collection services more frequently than
once per week, Company shall provide requested service. Recyclable Materials Collection shall be
provided to all Customers subscribing to Solid Waste Collection, unless the Customer has received
a service waiver under Section 7.6.
Company shall allow Commercial Customers to select a Collection service method that best suits
the needs of its Premises. Specifically, the Company shall offer the following choices to Commercial
Customers:
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K.

A)

Cart or Bin service. Company shall allow Commercial Customers to use Cart(s) or Bin(s)
for Recyclable Materials Collection. Company shall provide each Customer with a choice
of one or more Carts with capacities of 95 gallons, or Bins with capacity ranging from 1 to
6 cubic yards.

B)

Centralized Cart or Bin service. Company shall allow for Commercial Customers to use
Cart(s) or Bin(s) for Recyclable Materials Collection that are shared by the Occupants of
two or more Commercial Premises. In such case, Company shall provide one or more Carts
or Bins to such Premises as requested by Customer(s) provided that a minimum of 96
gallons (or similar volume) of Container capacity for Recyclable Materials is provided for
every four (4) Commercial Premises.

C)

Drop Boxes and Compactors. Company shall allow Commercial Customers to use a Drop
Box or Compactor for Recyclable Materials Collection to meet Customer's permanent
needs. In such case, Company shall provide Customers with a choice of Container
capacities ranging from 8 to 40 cubic yards. Company shall offer Customers the option to
purchase or lease Compactors either through Company or an outside vendor.”

Article 6, Section 6.3.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.3.1 Organic Materials Collection – General
Company shall Collect Organic Materials placed in the Customer's Organic Materials Collection
Container provided that the Customer has Source Separated the Organic Materials from Solid
Waste. Company shall Transport all Organic Materials to the Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site.”
L.

Article 6, Section 6.3.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.3.2 Organic Materials Collection – Single-Family Premises
Company shall Collect Organic Materials from Single‐Family Premises, but no less than once per
week. Organic Materials Collection shall be provided to all Customers subscribing to Solid Waste
Collection, unless the Customer has received a service waiver under Section 7.6. Company shall
provide each Customer with a 35‐, 65‐ or 95‐gallon Cart, as requested by the Customer. Customer
has the option to receive up to three (3) 95‐gallon Carts at no additional charge. Company shall
Collect Carts from the curb unless Occupant is physically unable to place the Container at the curb.
In such event, Company shall Collect Carts from an alternative service location (such as the porch,
side yard, or backyard).
Company shall provide to all Single‐Family Premises kitchen pails designed to contain Food Waste
prior to placement in the Customer’s Organic Materials Container. Company shall provide the initial
distribution of kitchen pails to Single‐Family Customers prior to January 1, 2022. Company shall
submit kitchen pail specifications and plan for distribution to Customers to the Authority for review
and approval prior to ordering and distribution of the kitchen pails.
Company will provide no more than 1 replacement kitchen pail per year at no additional charge at
Customer’s request.”
M.

Article 6, Section 6.3.3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
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“6.3.3 Organic Materials Collection – Multi-Family Premises
Company shall Collect Organic Materials from Multi‐Family Premises as frequently as scheduled by
Customer, but not less than once per week. Company shall provide each Customer with a 95‐gallon
Organic Materials Cart, or combination of smaller Carts, or Organic Materials Bins with capacities
ranging from 1 to 6 cubic yards, as requested by Customer. Organic Materials Collection shall be
provided to all Customers subscribing to Solid Waste Collection, unless the Customer has received
a service waiver under Section 7.6. Company shall Collect Organic Materials at the designated
location agreed upon by Company and Customer.
Company shall provide to all Multi‐Family Dwelling Units kitchen pails designed to contain Food
Waste prior to placement in the Customer’s Organic Materials Container. Company shall provide
the initial distribution of kitchen pails to Multi‐Family Customers prior to January 1, 2022. Company
shall submit kitchen pail specifications and plan for distribution to Customers to the Authority for
review and approval prior to ordering and distribution of the kitchen pails.
Company will provide no more than 1 replacement kitchen pail per Multi‐Family Dwelling Unit year
at no additional charge at Customer’s or resident’s request.”
N.

Article 6, Section 6.3.5 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.3.5 Organic Materials Collection – Commercial Organic Materials
Collection
Company shall Collect Organic Materials as frequently as scheduled by Customer, but not less than
once per week. Company shall offer service to Customers Monday through Friday. Company shall
provide each participating Customer with a 96‐gallon Cart, or Bins with capacities of up to 6 cubic
yards (or similar volume), as requested by Customer and approved by Company. Company shall
Collect Organic Materials at the designated location agreed upon by Company and Customer.
Organic Materials Collection shall be provided to all Customers subscribing to Solid Waste
Collection, unless the Customer has received a service waiver under Section 7.6.”
O.

Article 6, Section 6.3.6 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsection:

“6.3.6 Organic Materials Collection – Use of Plastic Bags for Organic
Materials Collection (NEW)
6.3.6.A. Designated Organic Materials Processing Site. Company shall allow Single‐Family
Customers and Generators with Organic Materials Cart Collection service to place Organic
Materials in Compostable Plastic bags and put the bagged Organic Materials in the
Organic Materials Cart to be delivered to the Designated Organic Materials Processing
Site.
6.3.6.B. Approved Organic Materials Processing Site. Company shall allow Multi‐Family
and Commercial Customers and Generators with Organic Materials Cart and Bin
Collection service to place Organic Materials in clear plastic bags and put the bagged
Organic Materials in the Organic Materials Container to be delivered to the Approved
Organic Materials Processing Site. With respect to Multi‐Family and Commercial Organic
Materials Processed by Company, Company shall provide written notification to the
Authority that allowing the use of clear plastic bags does not inhibit the ability of the
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Authority to comply with SB 1383 Regulations, and that the Approved Organic Materials
Processing Site can Process and remove clear plastic bags when it recovers Organic
Materials. Annually, in accordance with Article 10, Company shall provide written
notification to the Authority that the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site has and
will continue to have the capabilities to Process and remove the clear plastic bags when
it recovers Organic Materials. Company shall notify the Authority within one hundred
twenty (120) days of the facility’s inability to accept clear plastic bags. The notification
shall include: (i) a description of the reasons the facility is no longer able to Process and
recover plastic bags; (ii) the period of time the Approved Organic Materials Processing
Site will not Process and recover clear plastic bags; and, (iii) the Company’s proposed plan
to educate and provide outreach to Customers in the event that clear plastic bags are no
longer accepted for Collection.”
P.

Article 6, Section 6.3.7 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsection:

“6.3.7 Organic Materials Collection – Collection of Compostable Plastics
(NEW)
Company shall Collect Compostable Plastics, in the Organic Materials Containers for Processing at
the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site. At least six (6) months prior to the commencement
of the Collection of Compostable Plastics in the Organic Materials program, Company shall provide
written notification to the Authority that the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site can
Process and recover these Compostable Plastics. Annually, in accordance with Article 10, Company
shall provide written notification to the Authority that the facility has, and will continue to have, the
capabilities to Process and recover the Compostable Plastics. Company shall notify the Authority
within one hundred twenty (120) days of the facility’s inability to accept Compostable Plastics. The
notification shall include: (i) a description of the reasons the facility is no longer able to Process
and/or recover Compostable Plastics; (ii) the period of time the Approved Organic Materials
Processing Site will not Process and/or recover Compostable Plastics; and, (iii) the Company’s
proposed plan to educate and provide outreach to Customers in the event that Compostable
Plastics bags are no longer accepted for Collection.”
Q.

Article 6, Section 6.4.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.4.1 Construction and Demolition Debris Collection - General
Company shall Collect Construction and Demolition Debris placed in the Company provided
Construction and Demolition Debris Collection Container provided that the Customer has Source
Separated the Construction and Demolition Debris from Solid Waste. Company shall Transport all
Construction and Demolition Debris to the Designated Construction and Demolition Debris
Processing Site or an Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, as agreed upon
by the Customer and the Company in order to achieve higher levels of Diversion than the Designated
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site and at the Rates ratified by the Authority.
Company shall work with the Customer to determine the best approach to reach CalGreen
compliance.”
R.

Article 6, Section 6.6 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
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“6.6 City Facilities’ Collection
Company shall Collect and Dispose of all Solid Waste, Collect and Process all Recyclable Materials
and Organic Materials generated at public facilities as a result of routine and customary municipal
operations and City‐sponsored events at no charge to the City or Authority. Company shall make
Collections from Containers Monday through Friday or on Saturdays following non‐working
holidays, as mutually agreed upon between City and Company. Collections from Bins and Roll‐Off
Containers shall be scheduled at a time mutually agreed upon by Company and City. Within six
months of the execution of this Agreement, Company shall meet with each City to confirm the
quantity, size and frequency of Bins and Containers Collected historically by the Company pursuant
to this Section, as well as City sponsored events for which the Company has historically provided
Collection services. Cities and Company shall meet annually to review the services being provided
under this Section.”
S.

Article 6, Section 6.7 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.7 Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and
Demolition Debris Processing
6.7.1.A. Recyclable Materials Processing. Company agrees to Transport and deliver all
Recyclable Materials it Collects in the Authority to the Approved Recyclables Materials
Processing Site. Residue from the Processing of Recyclable Materials shall be Processed
by the Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site, at a Disposal Site selected by the
operator of the Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site.
Company shall secure sufficient capacity to Process Recyclable Materials Collected under
this Agreement. Company shall provide the Authority, upon request, with documentation
demonstrating the availability of such capacity. All costs associated with Transportation
to and Processing of Recyclable Materials at the Approved Recyclable Materials
Processing Site shall be paid by Company.
Company shall ensure that all existing permits and approvals necessary for use of the
Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site in full regulatory compliance are
maintained by the owners of those Facilities at all times during the term of this
Agreement, and Company shall, upon request of Authority, provide copies of notices of
violation or permits that it receives to the Authority, pursuant to Exhibit 11.A.3.If
Company elects to use a Recyclable Materials Processing Site that is different than the
Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site, it shall request written approval from the
Authority Executive Director sixty (60) days prior to use of the site and obtain the
Authority's written approval, which approval shall not be unreasonable withheld or
delayed, no later than ten (10) days prior to use of the site. Company shall not be
compensated for paying any increased Transportation and Processing costs associated
with the use of Processing Site(s) different from the Approved Recyclable Materials
Processing Site.
6.7.1.B. Organic Materials Processing. Company agrees to Transport and deliver Organic
Materials Collected from Commercial and Multi‐Family Customers it Collects in the
Authority to the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site. The Company shall arrange
for the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site to Process the Organic Materials to
produce energy and Compost. Residue from the Processing of Organic Materials shall be
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Processed by the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site at a Disposal Site selected
by the Company and/or its Processor.
Company shall secure sufficient capacity to Process Organic Materials Collected from
Commercial and Multi‐Family Customers under this Agreement. Company shall provide
the Authority, upon request, with documentation demonstrating the availability of such
capacity. All costs associated with Transporting to and Processing of Organic Materials at
the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site shall be paid by Company.
Company shall ensure that all existing permits and approvals necessary for use of the
Approved Organic Materials Processing Site in full regulatory compliance are maintained
by the owners of those Facilities at all times during the term of this Agreement, and
Company shall, upon request of Authority, provide copies of notices of violation or
permits that it receives to the Authority, pursuant to Exhibit 11.A.3.If Company elects to
use an Organic Materials Processing Site that is different than the Approved Organic
Materials Processing Site, it shall request written approval from the Authority Executive
Director sixty (60) days prior to use of the site and obtain the Authority's written approval,
which approval shall not be unreasonable withheld conditioned or delayed, no later than
ten (10) days prior to use of the site. Company shall not be compensated for paying any
increased Transportation and Processing costs associated with the use of Processing
Site(s) different from the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site.
6.7.1.C. Construction and Demolition Debris Processing. Company agrees to Transport
and deliver Construction and Demolition Debris Collected in the Authority to an Approved
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, at the Customer’s request.
Company shall secure sufficient capacity to Process Construction and Demolition Debris
Collected under this Section. Company shall provide the Authority, upon request, with
documentation demonstrating the availability of such capacity. All costs associated with
Transporting to and Processing of Construction and Demolition Debris at the Approved
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site shall be paid by Company.
Company shall ensure that all existing permits and approvals necessary for use of the
Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site in full regulatory
compliance are maintained by the owners of those Facilities at all times during the term
of this Agreement, and Company shall, upon request of Authority, provide copies of
notices of violation or permits that it receives to the Authority, pursuant to Exhibit 11.A.3.
If Company elects to use a Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site that is
different than the Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, it shall
request written approval from the Authority Executive Director sixty (60) days prior to
use of the site and obtain the Authority's written approval, which approval shall not be
unreasonable withheld conditioned or delayed, no later than ten (10) days prior to use of
the site. Company shall not be compensated for paying any increased Transportation and
Processing costs associated with the use of Processing Site(s) different from the Approved
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site.
6.7.2 Transfer. If the Company (i) Transports Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, or
Construction and Demolition Debris to an Approved Facility where the materials will be unloaded
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from Collection vehicles and loaded into large‐capacity vehicles and Transported to the relevant
Processing Site(s) or, (ii) pulls two (2) or more Collection trailers in tandem with one truck, and the
Company is unable to do so then the Company shall be responsible for making other Transportation
arrangements. In such event, Company shall not be compensated for any additional costs. If the
Company plans to change its transfer method, Company shall obtain written approval from the
Authority prior to making the change which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed
or conditioned.
6.7.3 Marketing. The Company shall be responsible for marketing materials recovered from
Discarded Materials Collected in the Authority and delivered to an Approved Facility for Processing.
Commencing on or before January 1, 2022, Company’s marketing methods for materials shall be
performed in a manner that supports achievement of Disposal reductions and in such a manner that
complies with State statutes, including, but not limited to, AB 901, AB 939, SB 1016, AB 341, AB
1594, AB 1826, and SB 1383, and corresponding regulations.
Company shall prepare and maintain an Authority‐approved marketing plan for all Discarded
Materials Collected in the Authority and delivered to an Approved Facility. The plan shall be in place
on or before the Commencement Date of this Agreement. The marketing plan shall fully describe
the Company's marketing methods and approach, targeted primary and contingent markets, pricing
policy and assumed salvage value for each Collected type of Recyclable Material products and
Organic Materials products, and contingency plans if market conditions are severe.
Company shall provide proof to the Authority that all Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials
Collected are Processed and recovered materials are marketed for Recycling, recovery, salvage, or
reuse or as recovered Organic Waste products in such a manner that materials are not deemed
landfill Disposal pursuant to pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18983.1(a) and in a manner that materials
are deemed Diversion pursuant to AB 939. All Residual material from the Processing activities that
is not marketed for use shall be accounted for as Disposal Tonnage at a permitted Disposal Site. No
Recycling Material, Organic Materials, or Construction and Demolition Debris shall be Transported
to a domestic or foreign location if landfill Disposal, as defined in 14 CCR Section 18983.1(a) of such
material is its intended use.
Company shall provide Authority with a list of brokers/buyers used in its marketing program each
quarter. Authority may audit one broker or buyer per month to confirm that materials are being
Recycled. If Company becomes aware that a broker or buyer has illegally handled or Disposed of
material generated by the Authority or elsewhere, Company shall immediately inform the Authority
and terminate its contract or working relationship with such party immediately.
6.7.3 Disposal of Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris
Prohibited. Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris may
not be Disposed of in lieu of Recycling the material, without the written approval of the Authority
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned. If Company believes
that it cannot Divert the Recyclable Material, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition
Debris from Disposal, then it shall prepare a written request for approval to Dispose of such
material. Such request shall contain the basis for its belief, describe the Company's efforts to
arrange for the Diversion from Disposal of such material, the period required for such Disposal, the
incremental costs or cost savings resulting from such Disposal, and any additional information
supporting the Company's request. The Authority shall consider the Company's request and inform
Company in writing of its decision within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of its written request
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for approval. If the Authority approves such request, any difference in the cost of such Disposal
compared to Diversion shall be adjusted in accordance with Section 8.7.”
T.

Article 6, Section 6.8.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.8.1 Operations - Schedules
To preserve peace and quiet, no Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, or
Construction and Demolition Debris shall be Collected from Residential Property between 6:00 P.M.
and 6:00 A.M. on any day.
The times for Collection in non‐residential areas that are two hundred (200) feet or less from
residential areas shall be fixed by mutual agreement of City and Company after consideration,
among others, of traffic conditions, accessibility to and from the Collection areas and any other
circumstances which may require an early pickup. If Company and City fail to agree on a Collection
time, the Company must take direction from the City. Such Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials,
Organic Materials, or Construction and Demolition Debris shall be Collected, Monday through
Friday. Annually, Company shall notify Authority and Customers in writing of the alternate
Collection day when the regularly scheduled Collection day falls on Christmas Day or New Year's
Day.
Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, or Construction and Demolition
Debris from Commercial Properties may include Saturdays and shall be between the hours of 3:00
a.m. and 10:00 p.m.
In the event that Company’s Collection activities are the subject of noise complaints from residents
that are near non‐residential service locations, Company shall meet and confer with the Authority
Executive Director to identify whether alternative Collection times or methods could be used to
mitigate the noise concerns.
Company shall provide Authority with route maps and daily schedules for each type of Collection.
The Authority shall review and approve such maps and schedules. Company may not change its
regularly scheduled Residential Collection days without prior written approval from the Authority.
Company shall obtain such written approval from the Authority thirty (30) calendar days before the
effective date of the schedule change, and such approval will not be unreasonably withheld,
delayed, or conditioned. Once approved, Company shall notify any Residential Customer not less
than four (4) weeks before any Collection schedule changes. Company shall not permit any
Customer to go more than seven (7) calendar days without service during a Collection schedule
change. Company may not change any Commercial Customer's regularly scheduled Collection days
without prior approval from the Commercial Customer.
Company shall be prepared to review its operations plan outlining the Collection routes, intervals
of Collection and Collection times for all Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, Green
Waste, Food Scraps, or Construction and Demolition Debris Collected under this Agreement with
Authority once annually upon 30‐day written notice requesting said review. More frequent reviews
may be required if operations are not satisfactory based on documented observations or reports or
complaints. If the plan is determined to be inadequate by Authority, Company shall revise the plan,
incorporating any changes into a revised plan, and review said revised plan with Authority within
thirty (30) calendar days.
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When notified of a Missed Pick‐Up, Company shall Collect the Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials,
Organic Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, or Construction and Demolition Debris within one (1)
business day. For residential service, a business day shall mean Monday through Friday, excluding
Christmas and New Year's Day.”
U.

Article 6, Section 6.8.3.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.8.3.1 Operations – Residential Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, and
Organic Materials Containers
The standard sizes of Containers for Single‐Family residential Solid Waste Collection shall be 20‐,
35‐, 65‐ and 95‐gallons and shall be compatible with automated Collection equipment. The standard
sizes of Containers for Single‐Family residential Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials
Collection shall be 35‐, 65‐ and 95‐gallons and shall be compatible with automated Collection
equipment. Organic Materials Collection shall continue in the 65‐gallon to 101‐gallon Carts provided
under previous agreement. Company shall provide kitchen pails to Single‐Family Premises, pursuant
to Section 6.3.2. Company will, within the first six (6) months of Rate Year 8, inspect all Carts and
repair or replace the existing Carts. A new Container, compliant with specifications outlined in
Exhibit 13, will be provided at no cost to the Customer if Container is replaced. Containers shall be
replaced by Company at no cost to Customer when it is due to normal wear and tear. Authority has
the option to maintain ownership of all Carts at the end of the Agreement.
At the inception of the Agreement, the Company shall encourage Customers to retain their existing
Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials Containers for storage or future use as part of their annual
clean‐up. If the Customer chooses to have the existing Containers picked up by the Company, the
Company is to Recycle the Containers where possible.”
V.

Article 6, Section 6.8.3.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.8.3.2 Operations - Non-Residential Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials,
Green Waste, Food Scraps Containers, or Construction and Demolition
Debris
Company shall furnish Customers appropriate Containers to Collect Solid Waste, Recyclable
Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris at Multi‐Family Dwelling Unit,
Commercial, and other Premises. The standard sizes for Multi‐Family Dwelling Unit, Commercial
Properties, and other non‐residential Premises Solid Waste Collection shall be: automated
Collection Carts of 35‐, 65‐ , and 95‐gallons capacity; Bins of 1 to 6 cubic yard capacity; and Roll‐Off
Containers of 8 to 40 cubic yards capacity. The standard sizes for Recyclable Materials and Organic
Materials Collection shall be 95‐gallon Carts or Bins of 1 to 6 cubic yard capacity. The kind, size and
number of Containers furnished to particular Customers shall be as determined mutually by the
Customer and Company. Containers which are front loading Bins shall have lids. All Containers with
a capacity of one (1) cubic yard or more shall meet applicable regulations for Solid Waste Bin safety,
shall have reflectorized marking (unless normally located in an enclosure), shall be maintained in
good repair with neatly and uniformly painted surfaces, and shall follow specifications outlined in
Exhibit 13. Reflectorized markings are to be placed on Bins by Company.”
W.

Article 6, Section 6.8.7 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
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“6.8.7 Operations – Identification Required
Company shall provide its employees, companies, and Subcontractors with identification for all
individuals who may make face‐to‐face contact with residents or businesses in Authority. Authority
may require Company to notify Customers yearly of the form of said identification. Company shall
provide a list of current employees, companies, and Subcontractors to Authority upon request.”
X.

Article 6, Section 6.8.8 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.8.8 Operations – Fees and Gratuities
Company shall not, nor shall it permit any agent, employee, or Subcontractor employed by it, to
request, solicit, demand, or accept, either directly or indirectly, any compensation or gratuity for
temporary Bin/Roll‐Off Container services or the Collection and Transportation of Solid Waste,
Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris otherwise
required under this Agreement. Compensation or gratuity shall exclude Holiday gifts.”
Y.

Article 6, Section 6.10 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.10 Transportation of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic
Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris
The Company shall Transport all Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and
Construction and Demolition Debris Collected under Section 6.1 through Section 6.4 for Disposal
and Processing. The Company shall maintain accurate records of the quantities of Solid Waste,
Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris Transported for
Disposal and Processing and will cooperate with the Authority in any audits or investigations of such
quantities.
The Company shall cooperate with the operator(s) of the Disposal Site and Processing Site with
regard to operations therein, including, but not limited to, complying with directions from the
operator to unload Collection vehicles in designated areas, accommodating to maintenance
operations and construction of new Facilities, and cooperating with its Hazardous Waste exclusion
program.”
ZZ.

Article 6, Section 6.11 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.11 Disposal of Solid Waste
The Company shall Dispose of all Solid Waste Collected under Section 6.1 at the Designated Disposal
Site. Company shall conform to the payment provisions of the Designated Disposal Site operator
included in Exhibit 10. If the Designated Disposal Site becomes unable to accept and Dispose of
Authority's Solid Waste for reasons outside the Company’s control, the Authority shall direct the
Company to an Alternative Facility for Disposal and the Company shall Transport and Dispose of the
Authority's Solid Waste at the Alternative Facility. Company shall be compensated for the net
additional Transportation and Disposal cost incurred in delivering the Solid Waste to another
Disposal Site.”
AA.

Article 6, Section 6.12 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
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“6.12 Reserved”
BB.

Article 6, Section 6.13 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.13 Processing of Construction and Demolition Debris
The Company shall deliver for Processing all Construction and Demolition Debris Collected under
Section 6.4 at the Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, unless
Construction and Demolition Debris Material is delivered to an Approved Construction and a
Demolition Debris Processing Site, upon request by the Customer. Company shall charge Customers
the appropriate Rates based upon the Processing Site agreed upon by the Company and Customer.
Company shall conform to the payment provisions of the Designated Construction and Demolition
Debris Processing Site operator included in Exhibit 10. If the Designated Construction and
Demolition Debris Processing Site becomes unable to accept and Dispose of Authority's
Construction and Demolition Debris for reasons outside the Company's control, the Authority shall
direct the Company to an Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site and the
Company shall Transport and Dispose of the Authority's Construction and Demolition Debris at the
selected Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site. Company shall be
compensated for the net additional Transportation and Disposal cost incurred in delivering the
Construction and Demolition Debris to another Processing Site, if any.”
CC.

Article 6, Section 6.14 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“6.14 Service Exemptions; Excluded Waste Notifications
6.14.A Excluded Waste Inspection and Reporting. Company reserves the right and has the duty
under law to inspect Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and
Demolition Debris put out for Collection and to reject such material that is contaminated with
Excluded Waste and the right not to Collect Excluded Waste put out with Solid Waste, Recyclable
Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris. Company shall notify all
agencies with City and Authority, if appropriate, including the California Department of Toxic
Substances Control and Local Emergency Response Providers and the National Response Center of
reportable quantities of Hazardous Waste, found or observed in Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials,
Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris anywhere within the Authority. In
addition to other required notifications, if Company observes any substances which it or its
employees reasonably believe or suspect to contain Excluded Waste unlawfully Disposed of or
released on any City property, including storm drains, streets or other public rights of way, Company
will immediately notify the City Manager or the City Manager’s designee of the effected City and
then the Authority Executive Director.
6.14.B Failure to Collect. When Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, or
Construction and Demolition Debris is not Collected from any Residential Premises, Company shall
notify the Generator in writing, at the time Collection is not made, through the use of a "tag" or
otherwise, of the reasons why the Collection was not made. When Solid Waste, Recyclable
Materials, Organic Materials, or Construction and Demolition Debris is not Collected from any
Commercial Premises, Company shall notify Customer by phone of the reasons why the Collection
was not made.
6.14.C Hazardous Waste Inspection and Reporting. Company shall maintain records showing the
types and quantities, if any, of Excluded Waste found in Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic
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Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris and which was inadvertently Collected from
service recipients within the Authority, but Diverted from landfilling.”
DD. Article 6 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsection 16:

“6.16 Processing of Organic Materials (NEW)
The Company shall deliver for Processing all Organic Materials Collected in Organic Materials
Containers from Single‐Family Premises under Section 6.3 at the Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site. The Company shall conform to the payment provisions of the Designated Organic
Materials Processing Site operator included in Exhibit 10. If the Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site becomes unable to accept and Process the Authority's Organic Materials for reasons
outside the Company's control, the Authority shall direct the Company to an Alternative Facility for
Organic Materials Processing and the Company shall Transport and Process the Authority's Organic
Materials at the Alternative Facility. The Company shall be compensated for the net additional
Transportation and Disposal cost incurred in delivering the Organic Materials to another Processing
Site, if any.”
EE.

Article 7, Section 7.3.4 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“7.3.4 Customer Service – Complaint Documentation
7.3.4.A. Complaints. All Customer service records and logs kept by Company shall be
available to Authority upon request and at no cost to Authority. Authority shall, at any
time during regular Company business hours, have access to Company's Customer service
department for purposes that may include monitoring the quality of Customer service or
researching Customer complaints.
7.3.4.B. SB 1383 Complaints. For complaints the Company receives regarding Generator
or Property Owner non‐compliance with SB 1383, Company shall record such complaints
separately from other complaints in a SB 1383 log. SB 1383 complaints shall not be
considered complaints related to the Company’s performance under this Agreement
unless the individual filing the complaint specifically alleges the Company’s non‐
performance. Company shall maintain records and report to the Authority monthly on SB
1383 related complaints in accordance with Section 10.3.”
FF.

Article 7 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsection:

“7.5 Contamination Monitoring (NEW)
7.5.1 Contamination Monitoring Procedures.
7.5.1.A General. This Section presents inspection method(s) for Prohibited Container
Contaminants to be used by the Company in conducting contamination monitoring
required by Sections 7.5.2.
7.5.1.B Contamination Inspection Methods. When Company conducts inspections of
Containers for Prohibited Container Contaminants, such personnel shall lift the Container
lid and observe the contents. Upon finding Prohibited Container Contaminants in a
Container, in excesses of the following thresholds, unless the Container is discovered to
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include Excluded Waste, the Company shall follow the contamination noticing procedures
and contaminated Container handling protocols set forth in Section 7.5.1.C.
The Company shall follow the contamination noticing procedures and contaminated
Container handling protocols set forth in Section 7.5.1.C upon finding Prohibited
Container Contaminants in a Container in excess of the following thresholds.
Container

Prohibited Container Contaminants Threshold

Solid Waste Containers

10%

Recyclable Materials Containers

10%

Organic Materials Containers to the
Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site

5%

Organic Materials Containers to the
Approved Organic Materials
Processing Site

10%

7.5.1.C Actions upon Identification of Prohibited Container Contaminants.
1.

Record Keeping. The Company representative shall record each event of
identification of Prohibited Container Contaminants in a format and with content
approved by the Authority Contract Manager including date, time, Customer’s
address, type of Container (Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, or Organic
Materials Container); and maintain photographic evidence. Company shall
submit this record to the Company’s Customer service department, and
Company’s Customer service department shall update the Customer’s account
record to note the event if the documentation if the on‐board computer system
did not automatically update the Customer’s account record.

2.

Identification of Excluded Waste. If Company’s personnel observe Excluded
Waste in an uncollected Container, the Company’s personnel issue a non‐
Collection notice for this Container in accordance with Section 7.5.1.C.5 and shall
not Collect the Discarded Materials that contain Excluded Waste. Company’s
personnel shall record that observation in accordance with Section 7.5.1.C.1 and
immediately inform their route supervisor. Company shall follow protocols
specified in Sections 7.5.1.C.5 and 7.5.1.C.6. The route supervisor shall investigate
and initiate applicable action within one (1) business day or sooner if the Excluded
Waste may cause immediate danger.

3.

Courtesy Pick‐Up Notices. Upon identification of Prohibited Container
Contaminants in a Customer’s Container in amounts within the standards agreed
upon by the Parties, Company shall provide the Customer a courtesy pick‐up
notice. The courtesy pick‐up notification shall: (i) inform the Customer of the
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observed presence of Prohibited Container Contaminants; (ii) include the date
and time the Prohibited Container Contaminants were observed; (iii) include
information on the Customer’s requirement to properly separate materials into
the appropriate Containers, and the accepted and prohibited materials for
Collection in the Recyclable Materials Container, Organic Materials Container,
and/or Solid Waste Container; and, (iv) may include photographic evidence.
Company shall leave the courtesy pick‐up notice attached to or adhered to the
Generators’ contaminated Containers.
Despite the existence of some Prohibited Container Contaminants, Company
shall Collect the contaminated Source Separated Recyclable Materials or Organic
Materials and Transport the material to the appropriate Processing Sites for
Processing.
4.

Non‐Collection Notices. Upon identification of Prohibited Container
Contaminants or Excluded Waste in a Container in excess of standards agreed
upon by the Parties, Company shall provide a non‐Collection notice to the
Generator. The non‐Collection notice shall, at a minimum: (i) inform the
Customer of the reason(s) for non‐Collection, including photographic evidence;
(ii) include the date and time the notice was left or issued; and, (iii) describe the
premium Rate to Customer for Company to return and Collect the Container at
Customer’s request after Customer removes the Contamination. The Customer
shall remove the Prohibited Container Contaminant(s) or Excluded Waste and
have the choice of: (i) paying the premium Rate for the Company to return and
Collect the Container; or, (ii) waiting for Company to Collect that Container at the
Customer’s next regularly scheduled service.
Prior to leaving a non‐Collection notice, Company shall record photographic
evidence of the violation(s) and such evidence shall be provided to the Customer
and/or Authority upon request. If the Company fails to record photographic
evidence of the Prohibited Container Contaminants or Excluded Waste, Company
shall not be entitled to charge any Rate to return to service the Container and
shall be required to reimburse any Customer who was charged. Authority
reserves the right to require Company to refund Customers who have been
charged for a non‐Collection related return for service where such photographic
evidence does not, in fact, document contamination in excess of the standards
agreed upon by the Parties or Excluded Waste.
The Company’s notice of non‐Collection shall be left attached to or adhered to
the Generator’s Container.
Company shall submit a sample of its non‐Collection notice to the Authority
Executive Director for approval prior to implementing use of it with Customers.

5.

Communications with Commercial or Multi‐Family Customer. Whenever a
Container at the Premises of a Commercial or Multi‐Family Customer is not
Collected because of Prohibited Container Contaminants, a Company
representative shall contact the Customer to discuss, and encourage the
Customer to adopt proper Discarded Materials preparation and separation
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procedures. In the event of non‐Collection from a Commercial or Multi‐Family
Customer, Company shall make reasonable efforts to make contact with the
Customer and return to that Customer before the end of the Working Day to
provide service after the Customer has resolved the reason for non‐Collection.
6.

Company Return for Collection. Upon request from Customer, Company shall
Collect Containers that received non‐Collection notices within one (1) Working
Day of Customer’s request if the request is made at least two (2) Working Days
after the non‐Collection event. Company shall bill Customer for the extra
Collection service event (“extra pick‐up”) at the applicable Authority ratified
Rates only if Company notifies Customer of the premium Rate for this service at
the time the request is made by Customer and the Customer received notice of
the charge.

7.5.2 Contamination Monitoring by Company.
7.5.2.A Methodology and Frequency. Commencing on or before January 1, 2022, the
Company shall, at its sole expense, conduct Hauler Route reviews for Prohibited
Container Contaminants in Collection Containers in a manner that is deemed safe by the
Company; is in compliance with SB 1383; meets contamination thresholds at Processing
Sites; and, is conducted in a manner that results in all Hauler Routes being reviewed
annually or more frequently.
The Company shall conduct Hauler Route reviews that include inspection of the contents
of Customers’ Collection Containers for Prohibited Container Contaminants in a manner
such that the Company shall review forty‐five (45) Customers on each and every Hauler
Route annually. The Containers shall be randomly selected and differ from Customer’s
selected in the prior year.
Company shall develop a Hauler Route review methodology to accomplish the above
Container inspection requirements and such methodology shall comply with the
requirements of 14 CCR Section 18984.5(b). Company shall submit its proposed Hauler
Route review methodology for the coming year to the Authority no later than January 15
of each year describing its proposed methodology for the calendar year and schedule for
performance of each Hauler Route’s annual review. Company’s proposed Hauler Route
review methodology shall include not only its plan for Container inspections, but may also
include its plan for prioritizing the inspection of Customers that are more likely to be out
of compliance. Authority will review and approve the proposed methodology. Company
may commence with the proposed methodology upon approval.
If CalRecycle notifies the Company or the Authority that the methodology is inadequate
to meet the requirements of 14 CCR Section 18984.5(b), Company shall, at its sole
expense, revise the methodology and, after obtaining Authority or CalRecycle approval,
conduct additional Hauler Route reviews, increased Container inspections, or implement
other changes using the revised procedure.
Authority Contract Manager or his/her designee has the right to be present during Hauler
Route reviews. The Authority’s Contract Manager may request, and Company shall not
unreasonably withhold approval of modifications to the schedule to permit observation
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of the Hauler Route reviews by the Authority. In addition, Company shall provide an email
notice to the Authority’s Contract Manager no less than ten (10) Working Days prior to
each scheduled Hauler Route review that includes the specific time(s), which shall be
within the Authority’s normal business hours, and location(s).
7.5.2.B Notices of Generators with Contamination, Non‐Collection, and Disposal of
Materials. Upon finding Prohibited Container Contaminants in a Container that are less
than the level specified as excessive in Section 7.5.1, Company shall follow the
contamination noticing procedures in Section 7.5.1.C. In the event that Prohibited
Container Contaminants are greater than the level specified in Section 7.5.1, Company
shall follow the contamination noticing and contaminated Container handling protocols
set forth in Sections 7.5.1.C.
7.5.2.C Monthly Reporting Requirements. Company shall maintain records and report to
the Authority monthly on contamination monitoring activities and actions taken, in
accordance with Section 10.3.”
GG. Article 7 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsection:

“7.6 Generator Waiver Program Coordination (NEW)
7.6.1 Types of Generator Waivers.
7.6.1.A General. Authority, in consultation with the City, may grant waivers described in
this Section to Generators that impact the scope of Company’s provision of service for
those Customers. Waivers issued shall be subject to compliance with SB 1383 Regulatory
requirements, pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.11.
7.6.1.B De Minimis Waivers. The Authority, in consultation with the City, may waive a
Multi‐Family’s, Commercial Property’s, or its Property Owner’s obligation to comply with
some or all of the Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials requirements set forth in
this Agreement, SB 1383 Regulations, Cities’ Municipal Codes if the Multi‐Family,
Commercial Property, or its Property Owner provides documentation or the Authority has
evidence demonstrating one of the following de minimis conditions:
a.

The Multi‐Family’s or Commercial Property’s total Solid Waste Collection service
is two (2) cubic yards or more per week, and Source Separated Recyclable
Materials subject to Collection in a Recyclables Materials Container comprises
less than twenty (20) gallons per week, per applicable Container, of the Multi‐
Family’s or Commercial Property’s total waste; or,

b.

The Multi‐Family’s or Commercial Property’s total Solid Waste Collection service
is two (2) cubic yards or more per week, and Organic Materials subject to
Collection in an Organic Materials Container comprises less than twenty (20)
gallons per week of the Multi‐Family’s or Commercial Property’s total waste.

7.6.1.C Physical Space Waivers. The Authority, in consultation with the City, may waive a
Multi‐Family or Commercial Customer’s obligation to comply with some or all of the
Source Separated Recyclable Materials or Organic Materials Collection service
requirements set forth in this Agreement, SB 1383 Regulations, and Cities’ Municipal
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Codes if the Multi‐Family, Commercial Property, or its Property Owner provides
documentation, or the Authority and/or City has appropriate evidence that the Premises
lacks adequate space for Recyclable Materials Containers, and/or Organic Materials
Containers.
7.6.2 Company Waiver Request on Behalf of Generator. Upon reasonable belief that a Generator
may qualify for a de minimis waiver or physical space waiver, the Company may submit a request
to the Authority to grant a waiver to the Generator, provided that adequate evidence of the de
minimis or physical space waiver requirements specified in 14 CCR Section 18984.11 is included
with the request. Authority, in consultation with the City, shall review and approve or deny the
waiver request. Company’s request for consideration of a waiver shall include the Generator’s
name and address, type of Commercial Property or number of Multi‐Family units if Customer is a
Multi‐Family Premises, reasons Generator may be eligible for the waiver, and evidence such as,
but not limited to: Service Level data, photo documentation, weight records, and technical
assistance assessment results.
7.6.3 Company Review of Generator Waiver Requests. Requests submitted to Company.
Generators may submit requests for de minimis waivers or physical space waivers to the
Company. Company shall within seven (7) days review the Generator’s waiver application and
send the application to the Authority and City, including the Company’s recommendation to
approve or deny the application. The Authority ultimately retains the right to approve or deny any
application, regardless of the Company’s recommendation. Company shall report information
regarding waivers reviewed on a monthly basis, in accordance with Section 10.3.
7.6.4 Company Change in Customer’s Service Levels. When the Authority grants a waiver to a
Generator, the Authority shall notify the Company within seven (7) days of the waiver approval
with information on the Customer and any changes to the Service Level or Collection service
requirements for the Customer. Company shall have seven (7) days to modify the Customer’s
Service Level and billing statement, as needed.
7.6.5 Waiver Reverification. It shall be the responsibility of the Company to verify that the
Generators with de minimis waiver or physical space constraint waiver continue to meet the
waiver requirements set forth in this Section. Company shall conduct such reverifications of
waivers through inspection of each Generator’s Premises and review of applicable records at least
once every five (5) years for de minimis waiver and physical space constraint waivers. Pursuant to
Section 10.3, Company shall maintain a record of each waiver verification and provide a monthly
report to the Authority documenting the waiver reverifications performed and recommendations
to the Authority on those waivers that Company concludes are no longer warranted. The
Authority, in consultation with the City, shall make a final determination of the waiver eligibility
of Generators.
7.6.6 Company Recordkeeping of Generators Granted Waivers. Upon Company request, no more
than four (4) times per year, the Authority shall provide Company an updated listing of waivers
approved by the Authority, including the Generators’ names, mailing address, service address,
and type of waiver. Company shall maintain waiver‐related records and report on waiver
verifications pursuant to Section 10.3. Upon Authority request, no more than four (4) times per
year, the Company shall provide Authority an updated listing of waivers approved by the
Company, including the Generators’ names, mailing address, service address, and type of waiver.”
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HH. Article 7, of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsection:

“7.7 Technical Assistance Program (NEW)
7.7.1 Organizing and Conducting Direct Generator Outreach.
7.7.1.A Site Visits and Waste Assessment. Prior to November 1 in each calendar year,
Company shall, at its sole expense, provide an outreach and technical assistance plan to
Authority for approval identifying the site visit schedule for which to send a Company
representative to visit each Multi‐Family and Commercial Generator’s Premises, which is
not subscribed to sufficient service under Applicable Law, for the purpose of assessing
how much Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials are being Processed; assessing the
Source Separated Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials Collection Service Levels
needed to meet the requirements of SB 1383 Regulations; and encouraging all Generators
to establish Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials Collection service in advance of
January 1, 2022. Company shall also notify Customers of opportunities to reduce costs by
increasing Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials Collection service and reducing
Solid Waste Collection service. Company shall contact Multi‐Family and Commercial
Premises Customers and provide site visits according to the Authority‐approved schedule.
Company will also provide a site visit to any Multi‐Family and Commercial Premises
Generator that requests a site visit, even if it is ahead of schedule.
Beginning January 1, 2022, and annually thereafter, Company representatives, at its sole
expense, shall follow up with Multi‐Family and Commercial Premises Generators who are
required to, but not participating and not in compliance in Recyclable Materials and
Organic Materials Collection service under Applicable Law, including but not limited to AB
341, AB 1826, and SB 1383 and corresponding regulations. The Company shall ensure that
these Generators are participating in the Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials
Collection Service. If the Generator is not in compliance or not participating, the Company
representative shall assist the Customers with selecting appropriate Containers and
Container sizing, identify acceptable Discarded Materials Collection services as set forth
in the Agreement, and attempt to resolve any logistical barriers to providing Recyclable
Materials and Organic Materials service. Company shall provide ongoing, on‐site training
for Commercial Premises Generators’ staff, including, but not limited to: management,
kitchen staff, service employees, and janitorial staff; and Multi‐Family Customers’ staff,
including but not limited to: the Property Manager, janitorial staff, maintenance, and any
other on‐site staff members or contractors that handle Discarded Materials.
For each on‐site waste assessment conducted by Company, Company shall include
documentation of the items listed below. Authority reserves the right to request
Company’s documentation of additional information, and shall authorize the format for
required information.
a.

Pictures of material in all Containers;

b.

Characteristics of the property, business, and Generator type;

c.

Written recommendations for the appropriate Service Level for each
material type;
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d.

Provision of outreach and education materials appropriate to the
Generator type;

e.

Determination of signage placement;

f.

Determination of any on‐going training needs;

g.

Determination of any access needs;

h.

Documentation of any special service needs (such as, but not limited to,
seasonal Collection service, automated on‐call compactor, etc.); and,

i.

Documentation of records of communications with the Generator.

7.7.1.B Workshops, Meetings, and Events. Company shall, at its sole expense, participate
in and/or plan, organize, and conduct direct Generator outreach, including, but not
limited to: workshops, community events, and meetings to support Generator
compliance with the Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials separation and
Collection program participation requirements under this Agreement, Cities’ Municipal
Codes, and other local and State statutes and corresponding regulations, including, but
not limited to, AB 341, AB 1826, and SB 1383.
Company shall host at least four (4) technical assistance workshops per calendar year,
focused on the requirements of SB 1383 Regulations and any local program or service
changes as a result of the regulations. The workshops shall be open to all residents in the
Authority, and the Company shall publish the time and location of the workshop no later
than thirty (30) days prior to the workshop on its website and through insert publication
method(s), such as publication in the Company’s email newsletter, printed flyers
delivered on Hauler Routes, etc. The structure and content of these workshops shall be
designed by the Company, and submitted at least seven (7) days prior to the date of the
workshop for Authority approval.
Company shall attend four (4) Authority‐held or City‐held events per calendar year.
Company shall provide at least one (1) staff member to set up a table with educational
information and be available on‐site to answer technical questions from Generators,
inform residents of upcoming workshops, and/or schedule meetings, upon request, with
individual Generators.
By request of a Generator or the Authority, Company shall schedule and conduct an in‐
person or phone meeting with the Generator to discuss and assess their service needs
and compliance with existing and/ or upcoming programs and Applicable Law. The
Company shall provide additional technical assistance as needed, which may include, but
is not limited to site visits and waste assessments. The Company shall follow up with the
Generator in person or by phone no later than seven (7) days after the initial meeting to
assess the Generator’s compliance with existing and upcoming programs under this
Agreement and Applicable Law.
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7.7.2 Record Keeping and Reporting Requirements. Company shall maintain records of all
technical assistance activities and educational materials conducted pursuant to this Section and
submit reports to the Authority in accordance with Exhibit 5.“
II.

Article 7 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsection:

“7.8 Service Waiver Program Coordination (NEW)
7.8.1 Processing Facility Temporary Equipment or Operation Failure Waiver.
7.8.1.A Notification to the Authority. The Company, or their Subcontractor (such as a
facility operator), shall notify the Authority of any unforeseen operational restrictions
that have been imposed upon an Approved Facility or Designated Facility by a regulatory
agency or any unforeseen equipment or operational failure that will temporarily prevent
an Approved Facility or Designated Facility from Processing and recovering Solid Waste,
Recyclable Materials, or Organic Materials. The Company or Subcontractor shall notify
the Authority as soon as possible and no later than one (1) day by telephone and one (1)
week by written notification from the time the Company became aware of the incident.
The notification shall include the following: (i) name of Approved Facility or Designated
Facility; (ii) the Recycling and Disposal Reporting System Number of the Approved Facility
or Designated Facility; (iii) date the Approved or Designated Facility became unable to
Process Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Materials; (iv) description of the
operational restrictions that have been imposed upon the Approved Facility or
Designated Facility by a regulatory agency or unforeseen equipment failure or operational
restriction that occurred; (v) the period of time the Company anticipates the temporary
inability of the Approved Facility or Designated Facility to Process Solid Waste, Recyclable
Materials, or Organic Materials; (vi) Company’s proposed action plan to deliver materials
to an Alternative Facility for Processing (refer to Section 6.7.1, Section 6.12, Section 6.13,
and Section 6.16) or Company’s request for waiver to deliver Solid Waste, Recyclable
Materials, or Organic Materials to the Approved Facility or Designated Facility.
7.8.1.B Use of Alternative Facility or Waiver for Disposal of Materials. Upon notification
by Company or Subcontractor of an Approved Facility’s or Designated Facility’s inability
to Process materials, Authority shall evaluate the notification and determine if Authority
shall require Company to use an Alternative Facility or allow the Company to Transport
the Recyclable Materials, or Organic Materials to the Approved Facility or Designated
Facility for Disposal on a temporary basis for a time period specified by the Authority.
Upon Authority’s decision, the Authority shall notify the Company of its requirement to
use an Alternative Facility for Processing or to use the Approved Disposal Facility for
Disposal, and the period of time that the Authority will allow the Recyclable Materials,
and Organic Materials to be redirected to the Alternative Facility, Approved Facility, or
Designated Facility. Pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.13, the approved Disposal period
shall not exceed ninety (90) days from the date the Approved Facility’s or Designated
Facility’s Processing restriction or failure commenced. In such case, the Company must
receive written permission from the Authority Contract Manager prior to depositing any
Discarded Material in a landfill.
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7.8.1.C Record Keeping and Reporting. Company shall maintain a record of any Approved
Facility or Designated Facility incidents and report this information to the Authority in
accordance with Section 10.3.
7.8.2 Removal of Materials from Homeless Encampments and Illegal Disposal Sites. The Company
may, but is not required to, separate or recover Organic Materials that Company removes from
homeless encampments and illegal disposal sites as part of an abatement activity to protect public
health and safety. Company shall report the amount of Discarded Materials removed for Disposal
from homeless encampments and illegal disposal sites, in accordance with Section 10.3.
7.8.3 Quarantined Waste. If approved by the Authority, the Company may Dispose of specific types
of Organic Materials that are subject to quarantine and meet the requirements described in 14 CCR
Section 18984.13(d) for a period of time specified by the Authority or until Authority provides notice
that the quarantine has been removed and directs Company to Transport the Organic Materials to
the Approved Facility(ies) or Designated Facility(ies) for such material.
In accordance with Section 10.3, the Company shall maintain records and submit reports regarding
compliance agreements for quarantined Organic Materials that are Disposed of pursuant to this
subsection.”
JJ.

Article 10, Section 10.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“10.1 General
Company shall maintain such accounting, statistical, and other records related to its performance
under this Agreement as shall be necessary to develop the financial statements and other reports
required by this Agreement and to conduct the review of services and performance described in
Article 9 above. Also, Company agrees to conduct data collection, information and record keeping,
and reporting activities needed to comply with Applicable Laws and regulation and to meet the
reporting and Solid Waste, Recyclable Material, Organic Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, and
Construction and Demolition Debris program management needs of Authority. To this extent, such
requirements set out in this and other Articles of this Agreement shall not be considered limiting or
necessarily complete. In particular, this Article is intended to only highlight the general nature of
records and reports and is not meant to define exactly what the records and reports are to be and
their content. Further, with the written direction or approval of Authority, the records and reports
to be maintained and provided by Company in accordance with this and other Articles of the
Agreement shall be adjusted in number, format, or frequency. The foregoing is not intended to
require significant additional administrative labor or the modification of Company's computer
software.
Company shall maintain adequate records, and corresponding documentation, of information
required by this Section, such that the Company is able to produce accurate monthly and annual
reports, and is able to provide records to verify such reports. Company will make these records
available and provide to the Authority any record or documentation necessary for the Authority to
fulfill obligations under Applicable Law including, but not limited to, AB 939, AB 341, AB 1826, AB
876, AB 901, and SB 1383 statutes and corresponding regulations; and, other current Federal, State,
or local statutes and regulations. Upon request by the Authority, Company shall provide access to
Company’s requested records in a timely manner, not to exceed ten (10) Business Days from the
time of Authority’s request to Company.”
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KK.

Article 10, Section 10.2.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“10.2.1 Records – Maintenance of Records
Company shall maintain records required to conduct its operations, to support requests it may make
to Authority, and to respond to requests from Authority in the conduct of Authority business.
Records shall be maintained in forms and by methods that facilitate flexible use of data contained
in them to structure reports, as needed, pursuant to this Exhibit. Company’s records shall be stored
in one central location, physical or electronic, that can be readily accessed by Company.”
LL.

Article 10, Section 10.2.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“10.2.2 Records – Security and Retention of Records
Adequate record security shall be maintained to preserve records from events that can be
reasonably anticipated such as a fire, theft, and earthquake. Electronically maintained data/records
shall be protected and backed up.
All records shall be maintained for five (5) years after the expiration of this Agreement, with the
exception of accounts payable records, which will be maintained for three (3) years after payment.
Company agrees that the specific records required to be maintained by this Agreement shall be
provided or made available in a timely manner to Authority and its official representatives during
normal business hours. Records and data not specifically identified in this Agreement that are not
required for the determination of the Company's compensation or performance do not need to be
retained by Company. In such a case and when such records and data are required but are not
retained by the Company, the Authority may make reasonable assumptions regarding what
information is contained in such records and data, and such assumptions(s) shall be conclusive in
whatever action the Authority takes. Records and data shall be in an organized form and readily and
easily interpreted. Electronically‐maintained data and records shall be protected and backed‐up. To
the extent that Company utilizes its computer systems to comply with record keeping and reporting
requirements under this Agreement, Company shall, on a monthly basis, save all reports supporting
those record keeping and reporting requirements in portable document format (PDF) format in
order to provide an audit trail for all data required.”
MM. Article 10, Section 10.2.4 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“10.2.4 Records – Financial Records
Company shall maintain financial records containing the underlying financial data relating to and
showing the basis for computation of all costs associated with providing services in a manner such
that cost and revenue information can be allocated among the service types (Single‐Family Solid
Waste, Recycling, and Organic Materials, Multi‐Family Solid Waste, Recycling, and Organic
Materials, and Commercial Solid Waste, Recycling, and Organic Materials, and drop box Solid Waste
and Construction and Demolition Debris) and to the Authority, distinct from other similar operations
of the Company. The accounting records shall be prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and consistently applied.”
NN. Article 10, Section 10.2.5 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
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“10.2.5 Records – Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials,
and Construction and Demolition Debris Records
Records shall be maintained by Company for Authority relating to:
A)

Customer services and billing including service exemption information;

B)

Weight and volume of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food
Scraps, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris. Information is
to be separated between Single‐Family, Multi‐Family, and Commercial Premises by
City;

C)

Special annual cleanup event results;

D)

Routes;

E)

Facilities, equipment and personnel used;

F)

Facilities and equipment operations, maintenance and repair;

G)

Tonnage by City;

H)

Processing of Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, Organic Materials,
and Construction and Demolition Debris (Tonnage, participation and set‐out rates,
end‐use, revenue);

I)

Diversion level;

J)

Complaints; and,

K)

Missed Pick‐Ups.

OO. Article 10, Section 10.3.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“10.3.1 Reports – Report Formats and Schedule
Records shall be maintained in forms and by methods that facilitate flexible use of data contained
in them to structure reports, as needed. Reports are intended to compile recorded data into useful
forms of information that can be used to, among other things:
A)

Determine and set Rates and evaluate the financial efficacy of operations;

B)

Evaluate past and expected progress towards achieving AB 939, AB 341, AB 1826,
and SB 1383 goals and objectives;

C)

Determine needs for adjustment to programs; and,

D)

Evaluate Customer service and complaints.

Company may propose report formats that are responsive to the objectives and audiences for
each report. The format of each report will be mutually agreed upon by Authority and Company.

WVSWMA and WVC&R Franchise Agreement Amendment 1

Page 37 of 77

Company agrees to submit all reports in Excel©, csv, or other formats compatible for uploading
into Authority managed record keeping and reporting systems at no additional charge, if
requested by Authority. Company will provide a certification statement, under penalty of perjury,
by the responsible Company official, that the report being submitted is true and correct.
Reports and certification statements shall be submitted electronically via email or uploaded to a
document sharing platform agreed upon by the Parties.
Monthly reports shall be submitted within thirty (30) calendar days after the end of the report
month. Quarterly reports shall be submitted within forty‐five (45) calendar days after the end of
the quarter. Quarter's end on September 30, December 31, March 31, and June 30. Annual reports
shall be submitted before September 30th following the reporting Rate Year.
All reports shall be submitted to:
Executive Director
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority c/ o HF&H Consultants, LLC
201 North Civic Drive, Suite 230
Walnut Creek, CA 94596
wvswma@hfh‐consultants.com
City Manager
City of Campbell
70 North First Street
Campbell, CA 95008
cmoffice@campbellca.gov
City Manager
City of Monte Sereno
18041 Saratoga‐Los Gatos Road
Monte Sereno, CA 95050
citymanager@cityofmontesereno.org
City Manager
City of Saratoga
13777 Fruitvale Avenue
Saratoga, CA 95070
jlindsay@saratoga.ca.us
Town Manager
Town of Los Gatos
110 East Main Street
Los Gatos, CA 95030
manager@losgatosca.gov
PP.

Article 10, Section 10.3.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“10.3.2 Reports – Quarterly Reports
The information listed shall be the minimum reported for each service:
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A.

Regular Services
1.

Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, Organic Materials,
and Construction and Demolition Debris Tonnage Collected by Company, sorted
by each City and between Single‐Family, Multi‐Family, and Commercial and
Industrial Premises and the Processing and Disposal Sites used, in Tons.

2.

Tonnage Diverted by Company divided by the Tonnage Collected by Company
multiplied by 100. The report shall state the Tonnage Diverted and Tonnage
Collected as well as the calculated Diversion Level.

3.

Customer Service
a)

Number of calls sorted by each City and category (Missed Pick‐Ups,
complaints, damage, etc.) and applicable documentation to support the
reported number of calls.

b)

Number of complaints, resolved complaints, and number of complaints
which were unresolved for more than five business days, for month and
cumulative for report year, with explanations for unresolved complaints,
sorted by each City.

c)

In table format, the number of Customers and Service Levels for all
programs (Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps,
Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition Debris) and service
types (Single‐Family, Multi‐Family, Commercial, industrial, etc.) and the
number of all service location exemptions, sorted by each City.

d)

Education Activities:
i.

Public education materials produced and total number of each
distributed, sorted by each City;

ii.

Dates, times, and group names of meetings attended; and,

iii.

Dates, times, and names of schools where presentations were
performed.

4.

In table format, list all overweight vehicle citations.

5.

Narrative summary of problems encountered (including scavenging) and actions
taken with recommendations for Authority, as appropriate.

6.

A summary or copy of the Service Exemption records required under Section 6.14.

7.

Residue level and Tonnage for all Discarded Materials processed, listed separately
by material type (Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, Green
Waste, Food Scraps, Construction and Demolition Debris, Excluded Waste)
Collected and Approved Facility(ies) or Designated Facility(ies) used, immediately
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upon receipt from facility if not provided within forty‐five (45) days, pursuant to
Section 10.3.1.
8.
B.

C.

Other information or reports that Authority may reasonably request or require.

Event Specific Information
1.

Special Event Collection. The Company shall submit to the Authority a written
report identifying the Tonnage of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Food Scraps,
Green Waste, and Organic Materials Collected from Special Events. The report
shall be submitted no later than ten (10) business days following each event.

2.

Report of Overflowing Containers and Improper Enclosure Maintenance. As
required by Section 6.8.5.C, Company shall report the addresses of any Premises
at which the driver observes that Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic
Materials, and/or Construction and Demolition Debris is overflowing on a
consistent basis and/or the Premises' enclosures are not adequately maintained
in regards to litter abatement.

3.

Report of Unauthorized Dumping. As required by Section 6.8.10, Company shall
report: (i) the addresses of any Premises at which the driver observes that Solid
Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and/or Construction and
Demolition Debris is accumulating; and (ii) the address, or other location
description, at which Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials,
and/or Construction and Demolition Debris has been dumped in an apparently
unauthorized manner. The report shall be delivered to the City within five
Business Days of such observation.

4.

Hazardous Waste. As required by Section 6.14, the Company shall notify the City
of any Hazardous Waste identified in Containers or left at any Premises within
twenty‐four (24) hours of identification of such material.

Summary Assessment. Provide a summary assessment of the overall Solid Waste,
Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, Organic Materials, and Construction and
Demolition Debris program from Company's perspective relative to financial and physical
status of program. The physical status is to relate to how well the program is operating
for efficiency, economy, and effectiveness relative to meeting all the goals and objectives
of this Agreement, AB 341, AB 1826, SB 1383, and AB 939. Provide recommendations and
plans to improve. Highlight significant accomplishments and problems.”

QQ. Article 10, Section 10.3.3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“10.3.3 Reports – Annual Report
The annual report is to be essentially in the form and content of the monthly and quarterly reports.
In addition, Company's annual audited/reviewed financial statements shall be included as well as
certain operational information. The annual report shall also include a list of Company's Managers
and Members.”
RR.

Article 10, Section 10.3.3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsections:
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“10.3.3 Reports - Annual Report
10.3.3.3 Collection and Subscription Report.
1.

A summary of all data provided in the Tonnage report and Diversion report
sections, including quarterly and annual totals and averages.

2.

The type(s) of Collection service(s) provided, a list of all Hauler Routes serviced,
and a record of the addresses served on each Hauler Route.

3.

A summary of Customer subscription data, including the number of accounts; the
total number of Generators enrolled with Company for service, listed separately
by Service Level and Container type (Cart, Bin, and Roll‐Off service), separately by
Single‐Family, Multi‐Family, and Commercial Premises, and separately for each
type of Discarded Material; and the number of bulky items Collections performed.

4.

A detailed list of Single‐Family, Multi‐Family, and Commercial Premises including
Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, and Organic
Materials Service Levels, Customer type, and Customer service addresses
reflecting Customer Service Levels as of December 1 (for the year in which the
report is submitted).

5.

The number of Construction and Demolition Debris Collection sites served and
Tonnage Collected, Tonnage Diverted, and Diversion level for each Construction
and Demolition Debris Collection sites based on Construction and Demolition
Debris project reporting required in this Section 10.3.3.3.

10.3.3.4 Processing Facility Report.
1.

Temporary Equipment or Operations Failure: If the Company is granted a
processing facility temporary equipment or operational failure waiver, in
accordance with Section 7.8 of the Agreement, the Company shall include the
following documents and information:
a.

The number of days the Processing facility temporary equipment waiver
or operation failure waiver was in effect;

b.

Copies of any notifications sent to the Agency pursuant to Section 7.8.1
of the Agreement, and copies of Agency notices to Company pursuant to
Section 7.8.1 of the Agreement;

c.

Documentation setting forth the date of issuance of the waiver, the
timeframe for the waiver; and,

d.

A record of the Tons of Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps,
and/or Organic Materials redirected to an Alternative Facility or Disposed
at a facility approved by the Authority as a result of the waiver, recorded
by Collection vehicle or transfer vehicle number/load, date, and weight.
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2.

Homeless Encampments and Illegal Disposal Sites: The total Tonnage amount of
Discarded Materials, listed separately by Discarded Material type, removed from
homeless encampments and illegal disposal sites as part of an abatement activity,
listing each Collection event separately by date, location, and Tonnage Collected,
pursuant to Section 7.8.2 of the Agreement.

3.

Quarantined Organic Waste: A record of all compliance agreements for
quarantined Organic Waste that are Disposed of, including the name of
Generator, date issued, location of final disposition, and the amount of
quarantined Organic Waste that was required to be Disposed at a landfill,
pursuant to Section 7.8.3 of the Agreement.

4.

Written notification that the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site has and
will continue to have the capabilities to Process and recover the Compostable
Plastic included with the Organic Materials Transported to the Approved Organic
Materials Processing Site pursuant to Section 6.3.7 of the Agreement.

5.

Written notification to the Agency that the Approved Organic Materials
Processing Site has and will continue to have the capabilities to Process clear
plastic bags when it recovers Organic Materials, pursuant to Section 6.3.6 of the
Agreement.

10.3.3.5 Public Education and Outreach Report.
1.

A copy of all education and outreach materials provided to Generators, or
otherwise used for education and outreach efforts in accordance with Exhibit 5
of the Agreement, including, but not limited to: flyers, brochures, newsletters,
invoice messaging/billing inserts, and website and social media postings.

2.

A record of the date and to whom the information was disseminated or direct
contact made, in the form of a list that includes: the Generator’s name or account
name, the type of education or outreach received; the distribution date, and the
method of distribution.

3.

The number of Organic Material Generators and Commercial Edible Food
Generators that received information and the type of education and outreach
used.

4.

For any mass distribution through mailings or bill inserts, the Company shall
maintain a record of the date, a copy of the information distributed, and the type
and number of accounts that received the information.

5.

A copy of electronic media, including the dates posted of: social media posts, e‐
mail communications, or other electronic messages.

6.

Company shall maintain a record of all technical assistance efforts conducted
pursuant to Section 7.7 of the Agreement, including:
a.
The name and address of the Customer/Generator receiving technical
assistance, and account number, if applicable.

WVSWMA and WVC&R Franchise Agreement Amendment 1

Page 42 of 77

b.
The date of any technical assistance conducted and the type of technical
assistance, including, but not limited to: waste assessments, compliance
assessments, direct outreach, workshops, meetings, events, and follow‐up
communications.
c.
A copy of any written or electronic educational materials distributed
during the technical assistance process.
7.

A copy of all training materials for Customer service representatives related to
service in the Authority.

8.

A copy of all annual cleanup reports submitted to the Authority in accordance
with Section 6.5.2 of the Agreement.

10.3.3.6 Vehicle and Equipment Inventory.

SS.

1.

A list of all vehicles used in performing services under this Agreement including
the license plate number, VIN, make, model, model year, purchase date, engine
overhaul/rebuild date (if applicable), and mileage at December 31.

2.

If applicable, the name, physical location, and contact information of each entity,
operation, or facility from whom the RNG was procured.

3.

If applicable, the total amount of RNG procured by the Company for use in
Company vehicles, in diesel gallon equivalents (DGE), including copies of any
receipts, invoices, or other similar documentation evidencing procurement. In
addition to the amount procured, Company shall include the total amount
actually used in Company vehicles in the calendar year, if these values are
different.”

Article 10, Section 10.3.4 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsections:

“10.3.4 Reports – Monthly Report
The information listed shall be the minimum reported for each service in the most recently
completed calendar month.
A.

Tonnage and Diversion
1.

Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, Organic Materials,
and Construction and Demolition Debris Tonnage Collected by Company, sorted
by each City and between Single‐Family, Multi‐Family, and Commercial and
Industrial Premises and the Processing and Disposal Sites used, in Tons.

2.

Tonnage Diverted by Company divided by the Tonnage Collected by Company
multiplied by 100. The report shall state the Tonnage Diverted and Tonnage
Collected as well as the calculated Diversion Level.
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3.

B.

Customer Report
1.

C.

The total Tonnage amount of Discarded Materials Collected from homeless
encampment and illegal Disposal sides, listed separately by Discarded Material
type, removed from homeless encampments and illegal disposal sites as part of
an abatement activity, listing each Collection event separately by date, location,
and Tonnage Collected, pursuant to Section 7.8.2 of the Agreement.

Number of Containers at each Service Level for each City by Customer type and
program including:
i.

A summary of the total gallons of Cart service, cubic yards of Bin service,
and pulls; and cubic yards or Tons from Roll‐Off Collection Service by
Customer type; and,

ii.

Calculation of the average volume of service received per: Single‐Family
(separately identifying dwelling units in a duplex, triplex, or fourplex);
Multi‐Family Dwelling Unit; and, Commercial Property.

2.

A summary of Customer subscription data for each City, including the number of
accounts; the number of Customers subscribing to each Cart, Bin, and Roll‐Off
Collection Service Level listed separately for Single‐Family, Multi‐Family, and
Commercial Properties and separately for each type of Discarded Material; and
the number of bulky items Collections performed.

3.

List of all Commercial Property and Multi‐Family Dwelling Unit Customers by City
with a Solid Waste Service Level of two (2) cubic yards of service capacity per
week or more. Such list shall include each such Customer’s service address and
Solid Waste Container, Recyclable Materials Container, and Organic Materials
Container Service Levels.

4.

The total number of de minimis waivers and physical space constraint waivers
granted in the month, including the Generator name and address for each waiver,
for each City.

5.

The number of waiver reverifications performed by the Company pursuant to
Section 7.6.5 of this Agreement by City in the month, if any, including a copy of
documentation for each reverification inspection, which shall include, at a
minimum: the Generator’s name, address, and Generator type; the type of waiver
being verified; any photographic or other evidence collected during the
inspection; and the resulting recommended conclusion by the Company
regarding the validity of the waiver. The Company shall provide a summary of
recommendations to the Authority of all waivers which the Company concludes
to no longer be warranted.

6.

Number of bulky item Collection events by Customer type.

Contamination Monitoring

WVSWMA and WVC&R Franchise Agreement Amendment 1

Page 44 of 77

The Company shall submit the following information regarding contamination
monitoring:

E.

1.

The number of Hauler Route reviews conducted pursuant to Section 7.5 of this
Agreement.

2.

Description of the Company’s process for determining the level of contamination.

3.

Summary report of non‐Collection notices, which for each notice shall include the
date of issuance, Customer name, and service address.

4.

A record of each inspection and contamination incident, which shall include, at a
minimum:
a.

Name of the Customer

b.

Address of the Customer

c.

The date the contaminated Container was observed

d.

The staff who conducted the inspection

e.

The total number of violations found and a description of what action was
taken for each

f.

Copies of all notices issued to Generators with Prohibited Container
Contaminants

g.

Any photographic documentation or supporting evidence.

5.

Documentation of the total number of Containers Disposed of due to observation
of Prohibited Container Contaminants.

6.

A list of all Customers assessed contamination Processing fees, pursuant to
Section 7.5 of this Agreement, reported separately by Single‐Family, Multi‐Family,
and Commercial Customers and including the Customer name, Customer address,
and reason for the assessment of the contamination Processing fee, and the total
number of instances contamination Processing fees were assessed in the month
and the total amount of fees collected in the month.

7.

Any other information reasonably requested by the Authority, City, or specified
in contamination monitoring provisions of this Agreement.

Customer Service Report
The Company shall submit the following information regarding Customer service reports:
1.

Number of received complaints and investigated complaints by each City, and
copes of documentation recorded for each complaint received, which shall at a
minimum include the following information: (i) the complaint as received; (ii) the
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name and contact information of the complainant, if the complaint is not
submitted anonymously; (iii) the identity of the alleged violator, if known; (iv) a
description of the alleged violation; including location(s) and all other relevant
facts known to the complainant; (v) any relevant photographic or documentary
evidence submitted to support the allegations in the complaint; and, (vi) the
identity of any witnesses, if known.

TT.

2.

Copies of all complaint reports submitted to the Authority, pursuant to Section
7.3.4 of this Agreement.

3.

Documentation of any follow‐up inspections and/or outreach, if any, conducted
upon Authority request pursuant to Section 7.3.4.B of this Agreement, which shall
include at a minimum: (i) the date the Company investigated the complaint; (ii)
documentation of the findings of the investigation; and (iii) any photographic or
other evidence collected during the investigation.

F.

Generator Waivers. Company shall provide a report that documents each Generator
waiver request reviewed by Company, which are required by Section 7.6.3. Company shall
identify in the report the Generator name and service address, the type of waiver
requested, the status of the waiver (accepted, denied, pending), and other information
reasonably requested by the Authority.

G.

Education Program Report. Company shall provide the monthly status, including copies
of education materials and the date they were provided, of activities identified in Exhibit
5 of this Agreement.”

Article 13, Section 11.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“11.1 Indemnification
Company hereby agrees to and shall indemnify and hold harmless Authority, its elected and
appointed boards, commissions, officers, employees, and agents and Cities, its elected officials and
employees (collectively, indemnities) from and against any and all loss, liability, penalty, forfeiture,
claim, demand, action, proceeding or suit in law or equity of any and every kind and description
(including, but not limited to, injury to and death of any Person and damage to property, or for
contribution or indemnity claimed by third parties) arising or resulting from and in any way
connected with (1) the negligence or willful misconduct of Company, its officers, employees, agents,
Companies and/or Subcontractors in performing services under this Agreement; (2) the failure of
Company, its officers, employees, agents, and/or Subcontractors to comply in all respects with the
provisions of this Agreement, Applicable Laws (including, without limitation, the Environmental
Laws), ordinances and regulations, and/or applicable permits and licenses; and, (3) the acts of
Company, its officers, employees, agents, Companies and/or Subcontractors in performing services
under this Agreement for which strict liability is imposed by law (including, without limitation, the
Environmental Laws). The foregoing indemnity shall apply regardless of whether such loss, liability,
penalty, forfeiture, claim, demand, action, proceeding, suit, injury, death or damage is also caused
in part by any of the indemnitees' negligence, but shall not extend to matters resulting from the
indemnitees' negligence, willful misconduct or breach of this Agreement. Company further agrees
to and shall, upon demand of Authority, at Company's sole cost and expense, defend (with attorneys
acceptable to Authority) Authority, its elected and appointed boards and commissions, officers,
employees, and agents and Cities, its elected officials and employees against any claims, actions,
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suits in law or equity or other proceedings, whether judicial, quasi‐judicial or administrative in
nature, arising or resulting from any of the aforementioned events.
Company, upon demand of the Authority, made by and through the Authority Counsel, shall protect
Authority and appear in and defend the Authority and its elected officials, officers, employees, and
agents, in any claims or actions by third parties, whether judicial, administrative, or otherwise,
including, but not limited to disputes and litigation over the definitions of "Solid Waste" or the limits
of Authority's authority with respect to the grant of licenses, or agreements, exclusive or otherwise,
asserting rights under the Dormant Commerce Clause or federal or state laws to provide Solid Waste
services in the Authority.
This provision shall survive the expiration of the period during which Collection services are to be
provided under this Agreement. The Company shall be entitled to recover costs of defense and
damages arising only under this paragraph from the Authority in accordance with Section 8.3.8, if
authorized in accordance with State law.
Company's duty to indemnify and defend from the aforementioned events arising during the Term
of the Agreement and as it may be extended shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of
this Agreement.”
UU. Article 11, Section 11.3.G of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“11.3.G Insurance – Companies and Subcontractors
Company shall include all companies and Subcontractors providing Collection services under this
Agreement as insureds under its policies or shall furnish separate certificates and endorsements for
each company and Subcontractor. All coverages for companies and Subcontractors shall be subject
to all of the requirements stated herein. All other Subcontractors having face‐to‐face contact with
the Customers shall be required by Company to carry general liability insurance.”
VV.

Article 13, Section 13.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“13.1 Events of Default
All provisions of the Franchise and this Agreement to be performed by Company are considered
material. Each of the following shall constitute an event of default.
A)

Fraud or Deceit. If Company practices any fraud or deceit upon Authority.

B)

Failure to Maintain Coverage. If Company fails to provide or maintain in full force and
effect the Workers' Compensation, liability, or indemnification coverage as required by
this Agreement unless such insurance becomes unavailable.

C)

Violations of Regulation. If Company violates any orders or filings of any regulatory body
having jurisdiction over Company, which orders or filings have a material impact on
Company’s ability to perform this Agreement, provided that Company may contest any
such orders or filings by appropriate proceedings conducted in good faith, in which case
no breach of the Franchise and this Agreement shall be deemed to have occurred.

D)

Failure to Perform. If Company ceases to provide Collection services as required under
this Agreement for a period of two (2) consecutive days or more, for any reason within
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the control of Company, including labor disputes. If Authority performs service under
Article 12, the Company’s failure to perform shall not be considered a default.
E)

Failure to Pay. If Company fails to make any payments required under this Agreement
and/or Solid Wastes to provide Authority with required information, reports, and/or
records in a timely manner as provided for in the Agreement.

F)

Acts or Omissions. Any other act or omission by Company which violates the terms,
conditions, or requirements of this Agreement, the California Integrated Waste
Management Act of 1989, as it may be amended from time to time, or any law, statute,
ordinance, order, directive, rule, or regulation issued thereunder and which is not
corrected or remedied within the time set in the written notice of the violation or, if
Company cannot reasonably correct or remedy the breach within the time set forth in
such notice, if Company should fail to commence to correct or remedy such violation
within the time set forth in such notice and diligently effect such correction or remedy
thereafter.

G)

False or Misleading Statements. Any material representation, warranty or disclosure
made to Authority by Company in connection with or as an inducement to entering into
this Agreement, or any future amendment to this Agreement, which proves to be false or
misleading in any material respect as of the time such representation or disclosure is
made, whether or not any such representation or disclosure appears as part of this
Agreement.

H)

Seizure or Attachment. There is a seizure of, attachment of, or levy on, the operating
equipment of Company, including without limits its equipment, maintenance or office
Facilities, or any part thereof.

I)

Petition for Debt Relief. If Company files a voluntary petition for debt relief under any
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, debtor relief, or other similar law now or hereafter in
effect, or shall consent to the appointment of or taking of possession by a receiver,
liquidator, assignee (other than as a part of a transfer of equipment no longer useful to
Company or necessary for this Agreement), trustee (other than as security for an
obligation under a deed of trust), custodian, sequestrator (or similar official) of the
Company for any part of Company's operating assets or any substantial part of Company's
property, or shall make any general assignment for the benefit of Company's creditors, or
shall fail generally to pay Company's debts as they become due or shall take any action in
furtherance of any of the foregoing;

J)

Bankruptcy. A court having jurisdiction shall enter a decree or order for relief in respect
of the Company, in any involuntary case brought under any bankruptcy, insolvency,
debtor relief, or similar law now or hereafter in effect, or Company shall consent to or
shall fail to oppose any such proceeding, or any such court shall enter a decree or order
appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar
official) of the Company or for any part of the Company's operating equipment or assets,
or orders the winding up or liquidation of the affairs of Company;

K)

Failure to Provide Assurance of Performance. If Company fails to provide reasonable
assurances of performance as required under Section 13.7.
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L)

Failure to Implement Collection Program. After January 1, 2022, Company fails to
implement a Collection program that complies in all material aspects with the
requirements of Article 4 to any Generator, which is essential for the City to achieve
compliance with SB 1383.

Company shall be given forty‐eight (48) hours from notification by Authority to cure any default
arising under subsections B, D, E, H, and K, and shall be given twenty (20) days from notification by
Authority to cure default arising under subsection L.”
WW. Article 13, Section 13.3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“13.3 Termination for Cause
In the event the Company does not meet the productivity standards as set out in their proposal, the
Authority may take the following progressive actions:

XX.

A)

Assess liquidated damages as listed in Section 13.6.B.l.b for failure to complete Collection
of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and Demolition
Debris within the prescribed hours and on the scheduled day;

B)

Require Company to add a route(s) at the Company's cost;

C)

If, in the event twenty (20) days of Collecting Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, and
Organic Materials during unauthorized hours occurs in two consecutive quarters
(occurrences in the first ninety (90) days of this Agreement will not apply towards Rate
Year 1 total) after the Company has added a route(s) in accordance with Section 13.3.B,
the Authority has the right to terminate the Agreement.”

Article 13, Section 13.4 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“13.4 Possession of Property Upon Termination
In the event of termination for default, the Authority shall have the right to take possession of any
and all of Company's land, equipment, and other property used or useful in the Collection,
Transportation, Processing, and Disposal of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials,
Green Waste, or Food Scraps, and the Billing and collection of fees for these services and to use
such property. The Authority shall have the right to retain the possession of such property until
other suitable arrangements can be made for the provision of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, or
Organic Materials Collection services and Processing, which may include the award of an agreement
to another waste hauling company or for 180 days, whichever occurs first. If the Authority retains
possession thereof after the period of time for which Company has already been paid by means of
bills issued in advance of providing service for the class of service involved, the Company shall be
entitled to the reasonable rental value of such property (which shall be offset against any damages
due the Authority for the Company's default).
Company shall furnish the Authority with immediate access to all of its business records related to
its Customers and Billing of accounts for Collection services.”
YY.

Article 13, Section 13.6.B of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:
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“13.6 Liquidated Damages
13.6.A General. The Authority finds, and Company agrees, that as of the time of the execution of
this Agreement, it is impractical, if not impossible, to reasonably ascertain the extent of damages
which shall be incurred by Authority as a result of a breach by Company of its obligations under this
Agreement. The factors relating to the impracticability of ascertaining damages include, but are not
limited to, the fact that: (i) substantial damage results to members of the public who are denied
services or denied quality or reliable service; (ii) such breaches cause inconvenience, anxiety,
frustration, and deprivation of the benefits of the Agreement to individual members of the general
public for whose benefit this Agreement exists, in subjective ways and in varying degrees of intensity
which are incapable of measurement in precise monetary terms; (iii) that Franchised Services might
be available at substantially lower costs than alternative services and the monetary loss resulting
from denial of services or denial of quality or reliable services is impossible to calculate in precise
monetary terms; and, (iv) the termination of this Agreement for such breaches, and other remedies
are, at best, a means of future correction and not remedies which make the public whole for past
breaches.
13.6.B Service Performance Standards; Liquidated Damages for Failure to Meet Standards. The
parties further acknowledge that consistent, reliable Solid Waste, Recyclable Material, Organic
Material, Green Waste, and Food Scraps Collection service is of utmost importance to Authority and
that Authority has considered and relied on Company's representations as to its quality of service
commitment in awarding the Franchise to it. The parties further recognize that some quantified
standards of performance are necessary and appropriate to ensure consistent and reliable service
and performance. The parties further recognize that if Company fails to achieve the performance
standards, or fails to submit required documents in a timely manner, Authority and its residents will
suffer damages and that it is and will be impractical and extremely difficult to ascertain and
determine the exact amount of damages which Authority will suffer. Therefore, without prejudice
to Authority's right to treat such non‐performance as an event of default under this Article 13, the
parties agree that the following liquidated damage amounts represent a reasonable estimate of the
amount of such damages considering all of the circumstances existing on the date of this
Agreement, including the relationship of the sums to the range of harm to Authority that reasonably
could be anticipated and the anticipation that proof of actual damages would be costly or
impractical. The following liquidated damage amounts related to SB 1383 in Section 13.6.B.6 will
only be applied to the Company if the Authority receives notice from CalRecycle indicating the
Authority is out of compliance related to the services the Company provides on behalf of the
Authority to be in compliance with SB 1383. In placing their initials at the places provided, each
party specifically confirms the accuracy of the statements made above and the fact that each party
has had ample opportunity to consult with legal counsel and obtain an explanation of the liquidated
damage provisions at the time that the Agreement was made.
Company

Authority

Initial Here _____________________

Initial Here _____________________

Company agrees to pay (as liquidated damages and not as penalty) the amounts set forth below.
The amount of Liquidated Damages specified below shall be adjusted annually on the first day of
the Rate Year. The adjustment shall be rounded to the nearest cent. Liquidated Damage amounts
shall be adjusted to reflect changes in the All Urban Consumers Index (CPI‐U), all items, for the San
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Francisco‐Oakland‐Hayward, CA, Base Period 1982 ‐ 1984 = 100, not seasonally adjusted, compiled
and published by the U. S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics or its successor agency,
using the method following:
13.6.B.1 Collection Reliability.
a. For each failure to commence service to a new Customer account within seven (7) days
after order, which exceeds twenty‐four (24) such failures annually: $179.85
b. For each failure to Collect Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, Green
Waste, Food Scraps, or Construction and Demolition Debris, which has been properly
set out for Collection, from an established Customer account on the scheduled
Collection day and not Collected within the period described in this Agreement which
exceeds twenty (20) such failures quarterly: $179.85
c. For each failure to Collect Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, or
Construction and Demolition Debris, which has been properly set out for Collection,
from the same Customer on two (2) consecutive scheduled pickup days: $179.85
d. For each failure to prepare for or properly conduct Annual Cleanups including
advertising and press releases: $299.76
e. For each failure to perform and submit billing reviews: $299.76
13.6.B.2 Collection Quality.
a. For each occurrence of damage to private property which exceeds 36 such occurrences
annually: $299.76
b. For each occurrence of failure to properly return empty Containers to avoid pedestrian
or vehicular traffic impediments or to place cans upright with lids secured which
exceeds twenty (20) such occurrences annually: $179.85
c. For each occurrence of excessive noise or discourteous behavior: $299.76
d. For each failure to clean up Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, Green
Waste, Food Scraps, and Construction and Demolition Debris spilled from Containers
which exceeds twenty (20) such failures annually: $179.85
e. For each day one or more routes Company Collects Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials,
Organic Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, and Construction and Demolition Debris
during unauthorized hours (occurrences in the first ninety (90) days of this Agreement
will not apply towards Rate Year 1 total): $179.85
f.

For each day one or more routes Company Collects Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials,
Organic Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, and Construction and Demolition Debris
during unauthorized hours which exceeds twenty (20) such occurrences quarterly
(occurrences in the first ninety (90) days of this Agreement will not apply towards Rate
Year 1 total): $599.51
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g. In the event twenty (20) days of Collecting Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic
Materials, Food Scraps, and Green Waste during unauthorized hours occurs in two
consecutive quarters then the Company will add one route (occurrences in the first
ninety (90) days of this Agreement will not apply towards Rate Year 1 total): Cost
absorbed by Company
h. For each overweight vehicle citation (occurring on or after July 1, 2017): $809.34
13.6.B.3 Customer Responsiveness.
a. For each failure to initially respond to a Customer complaint within one (1) business
day: $119.90
b. For each failure to process Customer complaints to Authority as required by Article 7:
$599.51
c. For each failure to carry out responsibilities for establishing service: $599.51
13.6.B.4 Public Education.
a. For each failure to prepare and distribute a door hanger, flyer, or mailer to Customers
regarding specific Collection day, holiday, holiday tree, and clean‐up events: $179.85
per day for each day until mailer is sent
b. For each failure to conduct community presentations targeted at residents: $179.85 per
event
c. For each failure to prepare and mail a quarterly newsletter to all residents by the end
of each quarter: $179.85 per day for each day until mailer is sent
d. For each failure to prepare and distribute “how‐to” brochures for each of the four (4)
business types: $179.85 per day
e. For each failure to meet with business associations: $179.85 per day
f.

For each failure to conduct waste audits and submit audit reports: $179.85 per audit

g. For each failure to provide comprehensive report of findings and suggestions to each
company for which an audit was performed: $179.85 per day
h. For each failure to distribute period update for Holiday tree Recycling on or before
December 25 of each year: $179.85 per day
i.

For each failure to develop outreach program for individual Commercial sectors:
$179.85 per day

j.

For each failure to prepare and during the Rate Year update to Recycling resource guide:
$179.85 per day
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k. For each failure to participate in Special Events listed in this Agreement: $359.71 per
event‐day
13.6.B.5 Timeliness of Submissions to Authority. Any report shall be considered late until such
time as a correct and complete report is received by Authority. For each calendar day a report is
late, the daily liquidated damage amount shall be:
a. Monthly Reports: $119.90 per day
b. Quarterly Reports: $199.90 per day
c. Annual Reports: $419.66 per day
13.6.B.6 SB 1383.
a. For each failure to perform Hauler Route reviews per Section 7.5: $500 per route per
year
b. For each failure to provided targeted technical assistance to all Commercial and Multi‐
Family Customers annually: $179.85 per Customer
c. For each failure to deliver Discarded Materials to the appropriate Designated Disposal
Site or Designated Organic Materials Processing Site: $0 for first five (5) failures; $1,000
per each subsequent failure
d. For each failure to deliver Discarded Materials to the appropriate Approved Organic
Materials Processing Site, Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site, or Approved
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site: $0 for first five (5) failure; $1,000
per subsequent failure”
ZZ.

Article 14, Section 14.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“14.1 Relationship of Parties
The parties intend that Company shall perform the services required by this Agreement as an
independent Company engaged by Authority and not as an officer or employee of Authority, nor as
a partner of or joint venture with Authority. No employee or agent or Company shall be or shall be
deemed to be an employee or agent of Authority. Except as expressly provided herein, Company
shall have the exclusive control over the manner and means of conducting the Collection of Solid
Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, and Construction and
Demolition Debris and the Processing of Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials performed
under this Agreement, and all Persons performing such services. Company shall be solely
responsible for the acts and omissions of its officers, employees, Companies, Subcontractors and
agents. Neither Company nor its officers, employees, Companies, Subcontractors and agents shall
obtain any rights to retirement benefits, workers' compensation benefits, or any other benefits
which accrue to Authority employees by virtue of their employment with Authority.”
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AAA. Article 14, Section 14.5.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“14.5.2 Assignment – Authority’s Assignment
Authority may assign and delegate all rights and duties of the Authority, and its Council, Boards and
Officials, its rights under this Agreement to any joint powers authority or other public agency;
provided, however, that this Agreement will continue to govern only the Collection and
Transportation of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps,
and Construction and Demolition Debris and Processing of Recyclable Materials and Organic
Materials generated within Authority.”
BBB. Article 14, Section 14.6 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“14.6 Contracting or Subcontracting
Company shall not engage any Companies or Subcontractors for Collection or Transportation of
Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, Green Waste, Food Scraps, and Construction
and Demolition Debris and Processing of Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials without the
prior written consent of Authority.”
CCC. Exhibit 5 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“Exhibit 5. Public Education and Community Outreach Programs
The Company shall perform the following services as part of the public education program.
Company shall print all materials in English and Spanish. Company shall post all Authority‐approved,
service‐related information on its web site, and shall review and update such service‐related
information at least once per quarter or more frequently as directed by Authority. Authority may
require Company to post information about other Authority and/or City programs, including but not
limited to, Edible Food Recovery.”
Residential Education Program (minimum requirements)
Year Eight Public Education Activities


An introductory letter mailed to Single‐Family residents explaining any transitions from the
existing Collection program to the new program, including the new CNG trucks and expanded
recycling program. A “How‐to” brochure will be included with the introductory letter.



The “How‐to” brochures will be made of a durable, glossy paper that can be kept for future
reference. The “How‐to” brochure explains:
o

The specific list of Recyclable Materials to be Collected. This list can be found at Article
1 of the Agreement.

o

The specific list of Organic Materials to be Collected. This list can be found in Article 1
of the Agreement.

o

The specific list of Solid Waste Materials to be Collected. This list contains all non‐
recyclable, non‐compostable and non‐hazardous items and will be presented in a
format comparable to the example provided in Exhibit5.
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Separate brochures shall be prepared for and delivered to Single‐Family and Multi‐Family
residents.
o

o

Single–Family brochures will provide information on services available including:


Used motor oil and filter recycling – how to order jugs and filter bags, and how
to place them for Collection



Household Batteries – what items are accepted and how to place batteries for
Collection



Extra Garbage – what types of items are accepted and how to schedule a pickup
for a fee



Universal and E‐Waste Item drop off – what types of items are accepted, how
to obtain a detailed list of items and how to schedule an appointment



Bulky Item Collection ‐ what types of items are accepted, how to obtain a
detailed list of items, how to schedule a pick‐up for a fee



Annual Clean‐up – a description of the service, how residents will be notified of
their clean‐up date and the fee option for a special Collection



Roll‐off Box rental – what types of boxes are available, what types of materials
are accepted, how and when to order a box and an explanation of roll‐off
exclusivity, how it works and why



Household Hazardous Waste – what types of items are accepted and how to
make an appointment



How to contact WVC&R for service issues, damaged Carts, account inquiries
and additional information

Multi‐Family “How‐to” brochures will be delivered to complex owners and/or managers
to distribute to residents. Multi–Family brochures will provide information on SB 1383
and services available including:


Organic Materials – what types of items are accepted in Organic Materials
Containers, and how to obtain a detailed list of items



Universal and E‐Waste Item drop off – what types of items are accepted, how
to obtain a detailed list of items and how to schedule an appointment



Household Hazardous Waste – what types of items are accepted and how to
make an appointment



California’s Mandatory Commercial Recycling Program – who is affected, what
is required and how to obtain further information
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Roll‐off Box rental – what types of boxes are available, what types of materials
are accepted, how and when to order a box and an explanation of roll‐off
exclusivity, how it works and why



How to contact WVC&R for additional information

Advertisements will be placed in four community newspapers and on the local patch (online
community specific news site) explaining transitions to the new CNG Collection vehicles and
expanded Recycling program.

Public Education Activities to Be Performed throughout the Term of the Agreement


At events and as needed, distribute “How‐to” brochures as described above.



Prepare and distribute mailers of the holiday Collection schedule and holiday tree Collection
including accepted items, placement and schedule.



Prepare and distribute Single‐Family clean‐up event mailers, mailed out to each resident one
month prior to their scheduled clean‐up. The mailer will include the clean‐up date in bold, what
items are accepted and not accepted, the option of a special cleanup for $20 and WVC&R’s
contact information.



A WVC&R outreach coordinator shall visit homeowner associations and/or other groups to
promote and explain the program throughout the term of the Agreement, as requested by the
associations or scheduled by the Authority.



A quarterly newsletter shall be distributed to all residents promoting and explaining the
programs. The newsletter shall be reviewed and approved by the Authority and distributed to
residents at the same time Residential bills are issued. The newsletter will be delivered with
the quarterly invoice; for those who do not receive a paper invoice via mail, an e‐newsletter will
be sent to their email address.



A corrective actions notice shall be prepared and used in instances where Waste Generators set
out inappropriate materials.



School education programs to teach students about source reduction, reuse, and recyclable
materials shall be made available to schools.



Non‐program related information on source reduction, reuse and recyclable materials (e.g. junk
mail reduction, Household Hazardous Waste events, grass cycling, Composting, etc.) shall be
available.



Specially designed public education materials and programs to reach Multi‐Family residents
shall be prepared.

Commercial Education Program (minimum requirements)
Year Eight Public Education Activities


A second full time outreach coordinator will be hired for years eight and nine of the contract.
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He/she will initially focus on the Commercial sector to increase traditional Recycling Diversion
by targeting each City’s largest producers and downtown areas, making site visits, meeting with
managers and/or contacting owners to offer free site assessments, Recycling presentations and
outreach materials including the “How‐to” brochures/posters.



He/she will increase the focus on outreach to children, working through the local schools and
libraries, using creative strategies such as drawing and essay contests. Additionally, he/she will
increase the focus on Multi‐Family complexes by meeting with complex managers and/or
owners to offer Recycling presentations and outreach materials for the residents.



The “How‐to” brochure will be in poster form and will be laminated, to post in outdoor
enclosures and interior areas. There will be three versions of the “How‐to” poster, 1.
Commercial without Compost service, 2. Commercial with Compost service and 3. Multi‐
Family. The “How‐to” poster explains:



The specific list of Recyclable Materials to be Collected defined in Article 1.



The specific list of Garbage Materials to be Collected. This list contains all non‐Recyclable, non‐
Compostable and non‐hazardous items and will be presented in a format similar to Exhibit 5.



For Commercial Customers with Compost service, the specific list of Food Scrap Materials to be
Collected. This list can be found in Article 1.



Roll‐off Box rental – what types of boxes are available, what types of materials are accepted,
how and when to order a box and an explanation of roll‐off exclusivity, how it works and why.



How to contact WVC&R for service issues, damaged Containers, free site assessments, Recycling
outreach, account inquiries and additional information.

Public Education Activities to Be Performed throughout the Term of the Agreement


Prepare and distribute a Recyclable Materials resource guide to provide vendors’ names, phone
numbers and contacts for purchasing Recycled products, re‐use donation locations, and other
Recyclable Materials companies, to be updated annually.



Prepare and distribute a quarterly newsletter to be distributed to all businesses promoting and
explaining the programs. The newsletter shall be reviewed and approved by the Authority. The
newsletter will be delivered quarterly with an invoice; for those who do not receive a paper
invoice via mail, an e‐newsletter will be sent to their email address.



Prepare and distribute an annual notification of AB341, California’s Mandatory Commercial
Recycling Program, who is affected, what is required and how to obtain further information

Continually recruit new Customers for the clean food waste Composting program, as well as audit
for elimination of contaminants.
Commercial Edible Food Generators
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On or before February 1, 2022 or insert earlier date if desired, the Company shall develop a list
(in coordination of the County of Santa Clara), of Food Recovery Organizations and Food
Recovery Services operating within the Cities, maintain the list on the Company’s Authority‐
specific website, share the list with the Authority if the Authority and/or City wants to post the
list on additional Authority websites, and update the list annually. The list shall include, at a
minimum, the following information about each Food Recovery Organization and each Food
Recovery Service:
o

Name and physical address;

o

Contact information;

o

Collection service area; and,

o

An indication of types of Edible Food the Food Recovery Service or Food Recovery
Organization can accept for Food Recovery.

At least annually, the Company shall provide Commercial Edible Food Generators with the
following information:
o

Information about the Authority’s Edible Food Recovery program;

o

Information about the Commercial Edible Food Generator requirements under 14 CCR,
Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 10;

o

Information about Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating
within the Authority, and where a list of those Food Recovery Organizations and Food
Recovery Services can be found; and,

o

Information about actions that Commercial Edible Food Generators can take to prevent
the creation of Food Scraps.

The Company may provide the information required by above by including it with regularly
scheduled notices, education materials, billing inserts, or other information disseminated to
Commercial Properties.

All Customers


Company shall develop and implement a public education program designed to educate
Generators regarding proper methods of handling and Disposing of Hazardous Waste and a load
inspection program for Company’s personnel to detect and discover Hazardous Waste placed
by Generator for Collection by Company.



Not less than once per year during each Rate Year, and by January 1, 2021, Company shall
prepare and distribute to each Generator in the Authority a mailer that includes information
specified in 14 CCR Section 18985.1(a). Company shall provide the mailer for Authority review
and approval prior to ordering and distribution. Such mailer shall be distributed by Company to
all Residential and Commercial mailing addresses including individual Multi‐Family Dwelling
Units and tenants of multi‐tenant Commercial properties. Company shall also make this notice
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available in an electronic format through the Company’s website. Minimum content
requirements include:
o

Information on the Generator’s requirements to properly separate Discarded Materials
and place such materials in appropriate Containers pursuant to this Agreement, SB 1383
Regulations, and all other Applicable Law;

o

Information on methods for the prevention of Recyclable Materials and Organic
Materials generation; managing Organic Materials on Generator’s Premises through
Composting or other landfill Disposal reduction activities allowed under 14 CCR Sections
18983.1 and 18983.2; sending Organic Materials to Community Composting operations;
and any other local requirements regarding Discarded Materials;

o

Information regarding the methane reduction benefits of reducing the Disposal of
Organic Materials, and the method(s) that the Company uses to recover Organic
Materials;

o

Information regarding how to recover Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials

o

Information related to the public health and safety and environmental impacts
associated with the Disposal of Organic Materials;

o

Information regarding programs for donation of Edible Food;

o

For Commercial Property Customers, information about the Authority’s Edible Food
Recovery Collection program; Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generators and Tier
Two Edible Food Generators requirements specified in 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12,
Article 10; Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating within
the Authority, and where a list of those Food Recovery Organizations and Food
Recovery Services can be found; and, information about actions that Commercial Edible
Food Generators can take to prevent the creation of Food Waste;

o

Information regarding Self‐Hauling requirements;

o

Any other federal, State, or local requirements to properly separate Discarded Materials
or other necessary actions by Generators, including applicable requirements of the
Cities’ Municipal Codes, AB 341, AB 1826, and SB 1383 and corresponding regulations.”

DDD. Exhibit 10 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“Exhibit 10. Disposal and Processing Payment Provisions
The rates of January 1, 2022 at the Designated Disposal Site, Designated Organic Materials
Processing Site, and Designated Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site are as follows:
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Disposal Rate

Organic
Materials
Processing Rate

Green Waste
Processing Rate

Construction
and Demolition
Debris Rate

Proprietary
Rate

$34.70/Ton

$79.32/Ton

$79.18/Ton

$59.86/Ton

State AB 1220
Fee

$1.40/Ton

n/a

n/a

n/a

Santa Clara
County AB 939
Fee

$4.10/Ton

n/a

n/a

n/a

Santa Clara
County Solid
Waste Planning
Fee

$0.78/Ton

n/a

n/a

n/a

City of San Jose
Business Tax

$13.00/Ton

n/a

n/a

n/a

City of San Jose
Solid Waste
Enforcement
Fee

$0.52/Ton

$0.52

$0.52/Ton

$0.52/Ton

Total
Government
Fee Component

$19.80/Ton

$0.52/Ton

$0.52/Ton

$0.52/Ton

$54.50/Ton

$79.84/Ton

$79.70/Ton

$60.38/Ton

Transportation
Component
TOTAL RATE

EEE. Exhibit 11 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“Exhibit 11. Authority Approved Subcontractors and Processing and
Transfer Services and Facility Standards
Company has selected and arranged for Discarded Materials to be Transported to Approved
Facilities for Processing in accordance with this Exhibit. The Approved Facilities shall comply with
the standards specified in this Exhibit. If the Company does not own or operate one or more of the
Approved Facilities, Company shall enter into a subcontract agreement with the owner or facility
operator of such Approved Facility(ies) requiring Subcontractor to maintain all required permits and
comply with all Applicable Laws, with an exception for approved Construction and Demolition
Debris Processing facilities. In such event the requirements of Section 6.7 of the Agreement and
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this Exhibit shall additionally pertain to the Subcontractor(s). Such agreement shall be provided to
Authority prior to Delivering to any Approved Facility.
A. General Requirements
1. Overview. Company agrees to Transport Discarded Materials it Collects in the Authority to
an appropriate Approved Facility(ies) for Processing as applicable for each type of Discarded
Material. As of the Commencement Date of this Agreement, the Approved Facilities, which
were selected by Company and reviewed and approved by the Authority, are listed in the
following table and in the definitions in Article 1 of this Agreement. Company will perform
all Processing services at Approved Facilities in accordance with Applicable Law, standard
industry practice, and specifications and other requirements of this Agreement.
Subcontractor
GreenWaste Recovery Incorporated
625 Charles Street, San Jose, CA
Zanker Road Landfill
705 Los Esteros Road, San Jose, CA
Zanker Materials Processing Facility
675 Los Esteros Road, San Jose, CA

Approved to Perform
Processing of Recyclable Materials, Organic
Materials, and Construction and Demolition
Debris
Processing of Construction and Demolition
Debris
Processing of Construction and Demolition
Debris

2. Facility Capacity Guarantee. Company shall guarantee sufficient capacity over the Term of
this Agreement to Transfer (if applicable), Transport, and Process all Recyclable Materials,
Multi‐Family and Commercial Organic Materials, and all Construction and Demolition
Debris, unless the Construction and Demolition Debris is delivered to the Designated
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, Collected under this Agreement.
Company shall cause the Approved Facility(ies) to recover or Process the Discarded
Materials as appropriate; market the Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and
Construction and Demolition Debris recovered from such operations; and Dispose of
Residue. Company shall provide the Authority, upon request, with documentation
demonstrating the availability of such Transfer (if applicable), Transport, and Processing,
capacity as described below.
Upon Authority request, Company shall demonstrate that such capacity is available and
allocated to the Authority by provision of its agreement with the Approved Facility(ies)
owner(s)/operator(s) (Subcontractor(s)) documenting the Subcontractor’s guarantee to
accept the Discarded Materials Company delivers over the Term of this Agreement.
3. Facility Permits. Company shall ensure the facility operator shall keep all existing permits
and approvals necessary for use of the Approved Facility(ies), in full regulatory compliance
with an exception for approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing facilities.
Company, or facility operator, shall, upon request, provide copies of permits or other
approvals and/or notices of violation of permits to the Authority.
4. Notification of Emergency Conditions. Each Approved Facility shall notify the Authority of
any unforeseen operational restrictions that have been imposed upon the facility by a
regulatory agency or any unforeseen equipment or operational failure that will temporarily
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prevent the facility from Processing the Discarded Materials Collected under this
Agreement. Company shall notify the Authority in accordance with Section 7.8.1 of the
Agreement.
5. Discarded Materials Monitoring/Waste Evaluation Requirements. Company shall conduct
material sampling, sorting, and waste evaluations of various material streams as further
described in this Exhibit 11, Section E to meet or exceed SB 1383 Regulatory requirements.
6. Compliance with Applicable Law. Company (including its Subcontractors) shall include in
their contracts with Approved Facilities that the Approved Facilities are respectively
authorized and permitted to accept Discarded Materials in accordance with Applicable Law
and are in full compliance with Applicable Law.
7. Records and Investigations. Company shall maintain accurate records of the quantities of
Discard Materials Transported to and Accepted at the Approved Facility(ies) and shall
cooperate with Authority and any regulatory authority in any audits or investigations of
such quantities.
8. Inspections and Investigations. Subject to the rules of the facility, an authorized Authority
employee or agent shall be allowed to enter each facility during normal working hours in
order to conduct inspections and investigations in order to examine facility operations;
Processing activities; contamination monitoring; material sampling and sorting activities,
including inspection of end‐of‐line materials after sorting; and records pertaining to the
facility in order to assess compliance with this Agreement, to understand protocols and
results, and conduct investigations, if needed. Company shall permit Authority or its agent
to review or copy, or both, any paper, electronic, or other records required by Authority.
B. Processing Standards
1. Recovery Required. Company agrees to Transport and deliver all Recyclable Materials,
Multi‐Family and Commercial Organic Materials, and all Construction and Demolition
Debris, unless the Construction and Demolition Debris is delivered to the Designated
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, Collected under this Agreement to an
Approved Facility for Processing as applicable for each material type. Company shall
conduct Processing activities for all Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and
Construction and Demolition Debris to recover Recyclable Materials and Organic Materials
to reduce Disposal. The Processing shall be performed in a manner that minimizes Disposal
to the greatest extent practicable and complies with Applicable Law, including SB 1383
Regulations. Pursuant to Sections 7.8.2 and 7.8.3 of this Agreement, Company may Dispose
of Organic Waste removed from homeless encampments and illegal disposal sites and
quarantined Organic Waste rather than Process such materials and report to the Authority
in Accordance with Section 10.3.3.4.
2. Separate Handling Requirements.
a. Company shall keep Recyclable Materials, Organic Materials, and Construction and
Demolition Debris separate from each other and separate from other any other
material streams and shall Process the materials separately from each other.
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b. Pursuant to 14 CCR Section 17409.5.6(a)(1), remnant Organic Material separated from
the Solid Waste stream for recovery can be combined with Organic Waste removed
from the Organic Materials Collection stream for recovery once the material from the
Organic Materials stream has gone through the Organic Waste recovery measurement
protocol described in 14 CCR Sections 17409.5.4 and 17409.5.5.
3. Residue Disposal. Company shall be responsible for Disposal of Residue from Processing
activities at its own expense and may select the Disposal Facility(ies) to be used for such
purpose.
4. Processing Facility Residue Guarantees. Upon request of the Authority, Company shall
provide a statement from the facility operator, signed under penalty of perjury,
documenting its Residue level. The Residue level shall be calculated separately for each
material type and for each Approved Facility used for Recycling and Processing. The Residue
level calculation method shall be reviewed and approved by the Authority.
5. Recyclable Materials Processing Standards. Company shall arrange for Processing of all
Recyclable Materials at the Approved Recyclable Materials Processing Site, which shall be a
facility that recovers materials designated for Collection in the Recyclable Materials
Container and in a manner deemed not to constitute landfill Disposal pursuant to 14 CCR
Section 18983.1(a), which states that landfill Disposal includes final deposition of Organic
Waste (which includes Organic Waste materials that are Collected in the Recyclable
Materials Container, such as paper), at a landfill or use of Organic Waste as Alternative Daily
Cover (ADC) or Alternative Intermediate Cover (AIC).
6. Organic Materials Processing Standards.
a. Company shall arrange for Processing of all Organic Materials at a facility that recovers
Organic Materials and in a manner deemed not to constitute landfill Disposal pursuant
to 14 CCR Section 18983.1(a) which states that landfill Disposal includes final deposition
of Organic Waste, including Organic Materials, at a landfill or use of Organic Waste,
including Organic Materials, as Alternative Daily Cover (ADC) or Alternative
Intermediate Cover (AIC).
b. Company shall arrange for Organic Materials Processing at the Approved Organic
Materials Processing Site, which shall be a facility that meets one or more of the
following criteria, and such facility or operation is capable of and permitted to accept
and recover the types of Organic Materials Collected under this Agreement:
i.

A “Compostable Material Handling Operation or Facility” as defined in 14 CCR
Section 17852(a)(12); small Composting facilities that are otherwise excluded
from that definition; or Community Composting as defined in 14 CCR Section
18982(a)(8). The compostable materials handling operation or facility shall,
pursuant to 14 CCR Section 17867(a)(16), demonstrate that the percentage of
Organic Materials in the materials sent to Disposal is:


On and after January 1, 2022, less than 20 percent (20%); and,



On and after January 1, 2024, less than 10 percent (10%).
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ii.

An “In‐vessel Digestion Operation or Facility” as defined in 14 CCR Section
17896.5. The in‐vessel digestion facility or operation shall, pursuant to 14 CCR
Section 17896.44.1, demonstrate that the percentage of Organic Waste in the
materials sent to Disposal is:


On and after January 1, 2022, less than 20 percent (20%); and,



On and after January 1, 2024, less than 10 percent (10%).

iii.

A “Biomass Conversion Operation” as defined in Section 40106 of the California
Public Resources Code.

iv.

Soil amendment for erosion control, revegetation, slope stabilization, or
landscaping at a landfill, that is defined as a reduction in landfill Disposal
pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18983.1(b)(5).

v.

Land application of compostable materials consistent with 14 CCR Section
17852(a)(24.5) and subject to the conditions in 14 CCR Section 18983.1(b)(6).

vi.

Lawful use as animal feed, as set forth in California Food and Agricultural Code
Section 14901 et seq. and Title 3, Division 4, Chapter 2, Subchapter 2
commencing with 14 CCR Article 1, Section 2675.

vii.

Other operations or facilities with processes that reduce short‐lived climate
pollutants that are approved by the State in accordance with 14 CCR Section
18983.2.

If Company is interested in using an operation, facility, or activity not expressly
identified above and not specifically identified in 14 CCR Section 18983.1(b) for Organic
Materials Processing, Company shall be responsible for securing the necessary
approvals from CalRecycle, pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18983.2, that the facility’s
Process or technology constitutes a reduction in landfill Disposal pursuant to 14 CCR
Section 18983.1(b)(8) prior to the Authority’s final approval of such operation, facility,
or activity.
c. Preparation of Materials for Processing. The Company shall be responsible for preparing
materials for Processing at the Approved Organic Materials Processing Site, which shall
include, but is not limited to, removal of visible physical contaminants such as plastic,
glass, metal, and chemicals prior to size reduction.
d. “Overs” Management. The Authority may require that at no cost to the Authority, the
Company conduct and provide Authority‐specific Organic Materials Processing Residue
and “overs” composition data to the Authority reflecting then‐current conditions and
using a sampling protocol acceptable to the Authority, in its reasonable discretion. In
the event that the composition of “overs” includes appreciable quantities (over 10%) of
Organic Materials, as determined by Company’s waste evaluation or visual assessment
by the Authority, the Company shall immediately inform the Authority Contract
Manager and propose a strategy for reducing the “overs” level. At the Company’s
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expense, Company shall implement the “overs” management strategy within ten (10)
Working Days of Authority approval.
e. Limits on Incompatible Materials in Organic Materials.
i.

Limits. Except as described in this Exhibit 11, Section B.6.e, Company’s
Transfer/Processing Facility or operation shall only send offsite that Organic Waste
recovered after Processing the Organic Materials that meets the following
requirements or as otherwise specified in 14 CCR Section 17409.5.8(a):


On and after January 1, 2022 with no more than 20 percent (20%) of
Incompatible Material by weight; and,



On and after January 1, 2024 with no more than 10 percent (10%) of
Incompatible Material by weight.

ii. Measurement. Company shall measure the actual levels of Incompatible Materials
in accordance with procedures described in 14 CCR Section 17409.5.8(b).
iii. Exceptions. The limits in this Exhibit 11, Section B.6.e.i shall not apply to the
recovered Organic Waste sent offsite from the Transfer/Processing Facility or
operation, if the Company sends the recovered Organic Waste from the
Transfer/Processing Facility or operation to one or more of the following types of
facilities that will further Process the Organic Waste, or as otherwise specified in 14
CCR Section 17409.5.8(c):


A Transfer/Processing Facility or operation that complies with this Exhibit
11, Section B.6.e.i;



A compostable materials handling facility or operation that, pursuant to 14
CCR Section 17867(a)(16), demonstrates that the percentage of Organic
Waste in the materials sent to Disposal is:
a. On and after January 1, 2022, less than 20 percent (20%); and,
b. On and after January 1, 2024, less than 10 percent (10%).



An in‐vessel digestion facility or operation that, pursuant to 14 CCR Section
17896.44.1, demonstrates that the percentage of Organic Waste in the
materials sent to Disposal is:
a. On and after January 1, 2022, less than 20 percent (20%); and,
b. On and after January 1, 2024, less than 10 percent (10%).



An activity that meets the definition of a Recycling center as described in
14 CCR Section 17402.5(d).

7. Construction and Demolition Debris Program Standards.
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a. Company shall comply with the Authority’s Construction and Demolition Debris
materials Recycling program requirements pursuant to the Cities’ Municipal Code.
b. Company shall deliver mixed Construction and Demolition Debris loads to an Approved
Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site for Recycling, if Construction and
Demolition Debris is not delivered to the Designated Construction and Demolition
Debris Processing Site as agreed upon by Customer and Company.
c. Company shall deliver Source Separated Construction and Demolition Debris such as,
but not limited to, dirt, concrete, wood waste, cardboard, or other Recyclable
Construction and Demolition Debris materials resulting from construction or demolition
to an Approved Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Site, and shall deliver
Salvageable Materials to a party for reuse or salvage.
d. Company shall arrange for Processing of Organic Waste in Construction and Demolition
Debris at a facility that recovers Organic Waste from Construction and Demolition
Debris and in a manner deemed not to constitute landfill Disposal pursuant to 14 CCR
Section 18983.1(a), which states that landfill Disposal includes final deposition of
Organic Waste at a Landfill or use of Organic Waste as Alternative Daily Cover (ADC) or
Alternative Intermediate Cover (AIC).
C. Weighing of Discarded Materials
1. Maintenance and Operation. This Section C of Exhibit 11 applies to motor vehicle scales
used at the Approved Facilities. Approved Facilities shall be equipped with one or more
State‐certified motor vehicle scales in accordance with Applicable Law. Upon request,
Company shall arrange for facility operator to provide documentary evidence of such scale
certification within ten (10) days of Authority’s request during the Term. Licensed weigh
master(s) shall operate those scales to weigh all inbound and outbound Collection vehicles
Transporting Discarded Materials and all Transfer vehicles Transporting materials to
another site. Company shall arrange for facility operator to provide Authority with access
to weighing information at all times and copies thereof within three (3) Business Days
following the Authority’s request. Exceptions to weighing requirements are specified in this
Exhibit 11, Section C.7.
2. Vehicle Tare Weights for Approved Facilities. Within thirty (30) days prior to the
Commencement Date, Company shall coordinate with the facility operator(s) to ensure that
all Collection vehicles used by Company to Transport Discarded Materials to Approved
Facilities are weighed to determine unloaded (“tare”) weights. Company shall work with
facility operator(s) to electronically record the tare weight, identify vehicle as Company’s,
and provide a distinct vehicle identification number for each vehicle. Company shall provide
Authority with a report listing the vehicle tare weight information upon request. Company
shall promptly coordinate with facility operator to weigh additional or replacement
Collection vehicles prior to Company placing them into service. Company shall check tare
weights at least annually, or within fourteen (14) days of an Authority request, and shall re‐
tare vehicles immediately after any major maintenance service that could impact the weight
of the vehicle by more than fifty (50) pounds.
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3. Substitute Scales. If any scale at an Approved Facility is inoperable, being tested, or
otherwise unavailable, facility operator shall use reasonable business efforts to weigh
vehicles on the remaining operating scale(s). To the extent that all the scales are inoperable,
being tested, or otherwise unavailable, facility operator shall substitute portable scales until
the permanent scales are replaced or repaired. Facility operator shall arrange for any
inoperable scale to be repaired as soon as possible.
4. Estimates. Pending substitution of portable scales or during power outages, facility operator
shall estimate the Tonnage of the Discarded Materials Transported to and accepted at the
Approved Facilities by utilizing the arithmetic average of each vehicle's recorded Tons of
Discarded Materials delivered on its preceding three (3) deliveries.
During any period of time the scales are out of service, facility operator shall continue to
record all information required by this Exhibit 11, Section C, for each delivery of Discarded
Materials to the Approved Facilities and each load of material Transferred to another
Approved Facility(ies).
5. Weighing. At the Approved Facilities, facility operator shall weigh and record inbound
weights of all vehicles delivering Discarded Materials when the vehicles arrive at the facility.
In addition, facility operator shall weigh and record outbound weights of vehicles for which
facility operator does not maintain tare weight information. Furthermore, facility operator
shall weigh and record outbound weights of all Transfer vehicles Transporting Discarded
Materials from a Transfer Facility to another Approved Facility(ies) for Processing or
Disposal.
6. Records. Facility operator shall maintain scale records and reports that provide information
including date of receipt, inbound time, inbound and outbound weights (or tare weights) of
vehicles, vehicle identification number, Authority of origin of materials delivered, type of
material, company/hauler identification, and classification, type, weight, and final
destination of Discarded Material if the Discarded Materials are Transferred to another
Approved Facility(ies).
7. Exceptions to Weighing Requirements. If an Approved Facility does not have motor vehicle
scales to weigh Company’s vehicles and Discarded Materials delivered to the facility,
Company shall obtain a receipt for delivery of the Discarded Materials that identifies the
date and time of delivery, the type of material delivered, and the vehicle number. Company
or facility operator shall estimate the Tonnage of material delivered for each load based on
the volumetric capacity of the vehicle and material density factors (e.g., pounds per cubic
yard) approved by or designated by the Authority Contract Manager.
8. Upon‐Request Reporting. If vehicle receiving and unloading operations are recorded on
video cameras at the Approved Facilities, Company shall make those videos available for
Authority review during the Approved Facilities’ operating hours, upon request of the
Authority, and shall provide the name of the driver of any particular load if available.
D. Discarded Materials Evaluations at Approved Facilities
1. General. Company shall conduct the following “evaluations” at Approved Facilities if
required by Applicable Law referenced below:
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a. Organic Materials Recovery Efficiency Evaluations. If applicable pursuant to 14 CCR
Sections 17409.5.1 to 17409.5.5 and 17409.5.8, Company shall conduct waste
evaluations at Approved Facility(ies) used for Processing in accordance with 14 CCR
Sections 17409.5.1 to 17409.5.5 and 17409.5.8.
b. Evaluation of Organic Materials in Residuals. If applicable pursuant to 14 CCR Sections
17409.5.3, 17409.5.5, 17867, and/or 17896.44.1, Company shall conduct compliance
evaluations of Organic Materials to determine the level of Organic Waste in materials
sent for Disposal in accordance with 14 CCR Sections 17409.5.3 (Transfer/Processor for
mixed waste), 17409.5.5 (Transfer/Processor for Organic Waste), 17867 (Compost
operations and facilities), and 17896.44.1 (In‐vessel digestion operations and facilities).
2. Record Keeping and Reporting. For the evaluations described above, Company shall
maintain all records and submit reports to CalRecycle as described in 14 CCR Division 7,
Chapter 3, Article 6.3; 14 CCR Division 7, Chapter 3.1, Article 8; and 14 CCR Division 7,
Chapter 3.2, Article 4; and, 14 CCR Sections 18815.5 and 18815.7, as applicable. Company
shall report this information to the Authority on a monthly basis in accordance with Section
10.3.
3. Scheduling of Evaluations. Company shall schedule evaluations during normal working
hours. Company shall provide Authority notice of its intent to conduct evaluations at the
Approved Facility(ies) at least fourteen (14) days in advance of the evaluations.
4. Observance of Study by Authority and/or CalRecycle. Company acknowledges that, upon
request, a representative of the Authority, the LEA, and/or CalRecycle may oversee its next
scheduled sampling and evaluation of any of the evaluations described in this Exhibit 11,
Section A, conducted at the Approved Facility(ies).”
FFF. Exhibit 13, of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“Exhibit 13. Container Specifications
Company shall use the Company‐provided Collection Containers that are currently located at
Customers’ Premises or provide Customers with Collection Containers from Company’s current
inventory.
At least seven (7) days in advance of Company Container purchases or repainting of metal
Containers, Company shall present proposed colors to the Authority for review and approval. If an
existing Container breaks or is otherwise rendered non‐functional on or after January 1, 2022, the
Company shall replace the non‐functional Container with a Container that complies with the color
and labeling requirements of this Exhibit. Notwithstanding this Exhibit, the Company is not required
to replace functional Containers, including Containers purchased prior to January 1, 2022, that do
not comply with the color requirements of this Exhibit. prior to the end of the useful life of those
Containers.
All Containers
A.

CONTAINER DESIGN REQUIREMENTS
1.

Container Colors
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For all colors, the Company shall obtain written approval from the Authority for
the Container color before Company’s purchase of the Containers.

2.



Solid Waste Carts must have a black body and lid.



Solid Waste Bins must have a green body and black lid.



Recyclable Materials Carts must have a blue body and lid.



Recyclable Materials Bins must have a white body and blue lid.



Organic Materials Carts and Bins must have a green body and lid.



Construction and Demolition Debris Containers may be in any color,
provided that the colors do not conflict with the Container color
requirements in this Exhibit 13 and provided that the Construction and
Demolition Debris Container colors are consistent for all Construction and
Demolition Debris Containers.

Labeling Requirements
Commencing on or before January 1, 2022, Company shall place a label or
imprint on each new Container body or lid that includes language or graphic
images, or both, that indicate the primary materials accepted and the primary
materials prohibited in that Container. Labels or imprints shall clearly indicate
items that are Prohibited Container Contaminants for each Container. Prior to
ordering labels or imprints for Containers, and by August 1, 2021 Company shall
submit a copy of its proposed label or imprint, proposed location(s) for
placement of labels on each type of Container, and its labeling or imprint plan to
the Authority for approval.

Carts
A.

CART DESIGN REQUIREMENTS
1.

General
The Carts shall be manufactured by injection or rotational molding and meet the
Container design requirements above and the Cart design and performance
requirements as specified below. All Carts selected shall be subject to Authority
approval.

2.

Cart Handles
The Cart handles and handle mounts may be an integrally molded part of the
Cart body or molded as part of the lid. The Cart handles will provide
comfortable gripping area for pulling or pushing the Cart or lifting the lid. Pinch
points are unacceptable.

3.

Cart Lid
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Each Container shall be provided with a lid that continuously overlaps and
comes in contact with the Container body or otherwise causes an interface with
the Container body that simultaneously:


Prevents the intrusion of rainwater, rodents, birds, and flies;



Prevents the emission of odors;



Enables the free and complete flow of material from the Container during
the dump cycle without interference with the material already deposited in
the truck body or the truck body itself and its lifting mechanism; and,



Permits users of the Container to conveniently and easily open and shut the
lid throughout the serviceable life of the Container.

In addition, Container lids should also meet the following requirements:

4.



The lid handle shall be an integrally molded part of the lid;



The lid (and body) must be of such design and weight that would prevent an
empty Container from tilting backward when flipping the lid open; and,



The lid shall be hinged to the Cart body in such a manner so as to enable the
lid to be fully opened, free of tension, to a position whereby it may rest
against the backside of the Container body.

Identification Markings
All markings on the Containers shall be approved by the Authority in advance of
ordering Carts. An arrow (at least 3 inches by 5 inches) hot stamped in white
color shall be placed on the lid, indicating the direction of Cart placement.
In character size of no less than 3/16 inch, the phrase:
PLACE CONTAINER WITH ARROW FACING
STREET FOR COLLECTION
Additionally, the SOLID WASTE, RECYCLING or ORGANIC MATERIALS must be hot
stamped in white color on the front or sides of the Cart in characters no less
than one inch.

B.

CART PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS
1.

General
All Carts shall be designed and manufactured to meet the minimum
performance requirements described below.

2.

Cart Load Capacity
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Depending on the capacity, the Carts shall have a minimum load capacity as
noted below without Container distortion, damage, or reduction in
maneuverability or any other functions as required herein.
Cart Size (Gallons)
90‐101
60‐68
30‐35
20

3.

Minimum Load Capacity (LBS)
200
130
70
40

Cart Durability
Carts shall remain durable, and at a minimum, shall meet the following
durability requirements to satisfy its intended use and performance, for the
term of this Agreement:

4.



Maintain its original shape and appearance;



Be resistant to kicks and blows;



Require no routine maintenance and essentially be maintenance free;



Not warp, crack, rust, discolor, or otherwise deteriorate over time in a
manner that will interfere with its intended use;



Resist degradation from ultraviolet radiation;



Be incapable of penetration by biting or clawing of household pets (i.e.,
dogs and cats);



The bottoms of Cart bodies must remain impervious to any damage, that
would interfere with the Cart’s intended use after repeated contact with
gravel, concrete, asphalt or any other rough and abrasive surface;



All wheel and axle assemblies are to provide continuous maneuverability
and mobility as originally designed and intended; and,



Resist degradation by other airborne gases or particulate matter currently
present in the ambient air of the Authority.

Chemical Resistant
Carts shall resist damage from common household or Residential products and
chemicals. Carts, also, shall resist damage from human and animal urine and
feces.

5.

Stability and Maneuverability
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The Carts shall be stable and self‐balancing in the upright position, when either
empty or loaded to its maximum design capacity with an evenly distributed
load, and with the lid in either a closed or an open position.
The Carts shall be capable of maintaining its upright position in sustained or
gusting winds of up to twenty‐five (25) miles per hour as applied from any
direction.
The Carts shall be capable of being easily moved and maneuvered, with an
evenly distributed load equal in weight to its maximum design capacity on a
level, sloped or stepped surface.
6.

Lid Performance
Cart lid assemblies shall meet the following minimum requirements:

7.



Prevent damage to the Cart body, the lid itself or any component parts
through repeated opening and closing of the lid by residents or in the
dumping process as intended;



Remain closed in winds up to 25 miles per hour from any direction. All lid
hinges must remain fully functional and continually hold the lid in the
original designed and intended positions when either opened or closed or
any position between the two extremes; and,



Lid shall be designed and constructed such that it prevents physical injury to
the user while opening and closing the Container.

Reparability
Minor cracks, holes, and other damages to hinges, wheels, axle, hardware, and
other component parts shall be readily repairable by the Company personnel.
All repairs must restore the Container to its full functionality to meet the design
and performance requirements as set for herein.”

GGG. Exhibit 16. Company’s Implementation Plan is hereby added to the Agreement and is included at
the end of this Amendment as Exhibit 1.

III. AMENDMENTS TO AGREEMENT RELATED TO COSTS OF SB 1383
PROGRAMS
HHH. Section 8.3 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“8.3 Company’s Compensation and Rates – Subsequent Rates for Rate
Years 8 through 15 and Rate Year 17
For each Rate Year beginning with Rate Year 8 (i.e., from July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015), Rates shall
be adjusted as described below. For purposes of this calculation, Rates shall be composed of six (6)
components: a Collection Rate, a monthly Disposal Rate, a monthly Organics Processing Rate, a
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monthly Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Rate, Recycling Surcharge, a Franchise Fee,
and other City Fees and surcharges.
8.3.1 Monthly Collection Rate per Generator Adjustment. The monthly Solid Waste
Collection Rate, monthly Recycling Collection Rate, and monthly Organic Materials
Collection Rate shall be adjusted upward or downward to reflect eighty percent (80%)
of the change in the “San Francisco‐Oakland‐San Jose Metropolitan Area Consumer
Price Index (All Urban Consumers; 1982‐84=100)” for the most recent twelve (12)
month period ending December 31, as published by the U.S. Department of Labor,
Bureau of Labor Statistics. No monthly Collection Rate increase shall exceed five
percent (5%) per annum, nor shall it be less than one and one‐half percent (1.5%). The
commercial Solid Waste Collection Rate is inclusive of the total of Organic Materials
Collection and Processing costs.
8.3.2 Monthly Disposal Rate per Generator Adjustment. The monthly Disposal Rate
consists of two components: the Disposal Proprietary Rate and the Disposal
Government Fee. The Disposal Proprietary Rate shall be adjusted in accordance with
the agreement between Guadalupe Rubbish Disposal, Inc. and the Authority effective
through December 31, 2021 and subsequent agreement with USA Waste of California,
Inc. D/B/A Waste Management of South Bay and the Authority effective January 1,
2022.
8.3.3 Monthly Residential Organic Materials Processing Rate per Generator
Adjustment. The monthly Residential Organic Materials Processing Rate consists of two
components: the Residential Organic Materials Processing Proprietary Rate and the
Residential Organic Materials Processing Government Fee. The monthly Residential
Organic Materials Processing Proprietary Rate shall be adjusted in accordance with the
Agreement between Guadalupe Rubbish Disposal, Inc. and the Authority effective
through December 31, 2021 and subsequent agreement with USA Waste of California,
Inc. D/B/A Waste Management of South Bay and the Authority effective January 1,
2022.
8.3.4 Monthly Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Rate per Generator
Adjustment. The monthly Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Rate consists
of two components: the Construction and Demolition Debris Proprietary Rate and the
Construction and Demolition Debris Government Fee. The monthly Construction and
Demolition Debris Proprietary Rate shall be adjusted in accordance with the Agreement
between Guadalupe Rubbish Disposal, Inc. and the Authority effective through
December 31, 2021 and subsequent agreement with USA Waste of California, Inc.
D/B/A Waste Management of South Bay and the Authority effective January 1, 2022.
8.3.5 Monthly Recycling Surcharge per Generator Adjustment. The monthly Recycling
Surcharge shall be remained unchanged from the prior Rate Year.
8.3.6 Monthly Construction and Demolition Debris Surcharge. The monthly
Construction and Demolition Debris Surcharge consists of two components: the
Transportation component and a Processing fee component. The Transportation
component shall be adjusted by upward or downward to reflect eighty percent (80%)
of the change in the “San Francisco‐Oakland‐San Jose Metropolitan Area Consumer
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Price Index (All Urban Consumers; 1982‐84=100)” for the most recent twelve (12)
month period ending December 31, as published by the U.S. Department of Labor,
Bureau of Labor Statistics. The Transportation component increase shall not exceed
five percent (5%) per annum, nor shall it be less than one and one‐half percent (1.5%).
The Processing fee component shall be the difference between the current
Construction and Demolition Rate at the Designated Facility and the rate charged by
the Approved Construction and Demolition Facility as agreed upon by the Company and
Customer.
8.3.7 Franchise Fee Adjustment. The Franchise Fee component shall be calculated as
described in Exhibit 8 to the Agreement.
8.3.8 Other City Fees and Surcharges Adjustment. The surcharges component is
composed of charges for the Vehicle Impact Fee, Street Sweeping Fee, HHW Fee,
Authority Administrative Costs and other miscellaneous surcharges, as determined by
the Cities, individually or collectively. The Fees component shall be calculated as
described in Exhibit 8 to the Agreement.”
III.

Section 8.4.2.B.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“8.4.2.B.2 Company’s Compensation and Rates – Calculate Adjusted
Costs
Company shall adjust actual costs for Rate Years 4 and 14 (determined in Section 8.4.2.B.1) above
to ensure that non‐allowable costs are not included in actual costs. Non‐allowable costs include the
following:
a.

Labor and equipment costs for personnel and vehicles that are not specified in
Exhibit 4.

b.

Payments to directors and/or owners of Company unless paid as reasonable
compensation for services actually rendered.

c.

Promotional advertising, entertainment, and travel expenses (above $5,000
annually in total) unless authorized in advance by the Authority.

d.

Payments to repair damage to property of third parties or the Authority for which
Company is legally liable.

e.

Fines for penalties of any nature.

f.

Liquidated Damages assessed under this Agreement.

g.

Federal or State income taxes.

h.

Charitable or political donations.

i.

Depreciation or interest expense for Collection vehicles, Containers, other
equipment, offices and other Facilities if such items are leased as specified in
Exhibit 4.
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JJJ.

j.

Attorney's fees and other expenses incurred by Company in any court proceeding
in which the Authority and Company are adverse Parties, unless Company is the
prevailing Party in such proceeding.

k.

Attorney's fees and other expenses incurred by Company arising from any act or
omission in violation of this Agreement.

l.

Attorneys' fees and other expenses incurred by Company in any court proceeding
in which Company's own negligence, violation of law or regulation, or wrong
doing are in issue and occasion, in whole or in part, the attorneys' fees and
expenses claimed; and attorneys' fees and expenses incurred by Company in a
court proceeding in which the legal theory or statute providing a basis of liability
against Company also provides for separate potential liability for the Authority
derived from the action of its citizens or Rate payers (such as in a CERCLA lawsuit)
unless the Company is found not liable in such claims and such claims arise from
acts or occurrences within the Term of the Agreement.

m.

Payments to Related‐Party Entities for products or services, in excess of the cost
to the Related‐Party Entities for those products or services, except for Recyclable
Materials Processing.

n.

Goodwill.

o.

Unreasonable profit sharing distributions.

p.

Replacement costs for Carts, Bins, or Drop Boxes that need to be replaced
because the useful life of such Container was less than the Term.

q.

Administrative costs greater than the administrative costs proposed for Rate Year
6 adjusted using the consumer price index described in Section 8.4.2.B.5.d.

r.

Bad debt write‐offs in excess of 2% of annual Rate revenues.

s.

Annual Fee payment in accordance with Section 5.2.”

Section 8.4.2.B.5.c of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“8.4.2.B.5.c Company’s Compensation and Rates – Forecasted
Recyclable Materials Processing Costs
Forecasted Recyclable Materials Processing costs shall be calculated for Rate Years 6 and 16 in the
following manner:
Rate Year 6: Forecasted Recyclable Materials Processing cost = (Recyclable Materials Processing cost
per Ton in accordance with Exhibit 4) x (total Tons of Recyclable Materials Collected for the most‐
recently reported twelve‐month year).
Rate Year 16: Forecasted Recyclable Materials Processing cost = (Recyclable Materials Processing
cost per Ton based on the most‐recently report twelve‐month average receipt from or payment to
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Company’s Recyclable Materials Subcontractor) x (total Tons of Recyclable Materials Collected for
the most‐recently reported twelve‐month year).”
KKK. Section 8.4.2.D.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“8.4.2.D.2 Company’s Compensation and Rates – Forecasted Organic
Materials Processing Cost.
Annual forecasted Organic Materials Processing cost = (Organic Materials Processing rate at
Designated Organic Materials Processing Site) x (total Tons of Single‐Family Organic Materials
Collected for the most‐recently reported twelve‐month year). The Organic Materials Processing rate
shall not exceed the forecasted Residential Organic Materials Processing Rate. "
LLL. Section 8.4.2.F of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“8.4.2.F Company’s Compensation and Rates
The Rate Adjustment Factor shall be equal the Total Company Compensation for the coming Rate
Period divided by the Gross Revenues for the most‐recently reported 12‐month period, which shall
be rounded to the nearest thousandth. It shall be shall it be composed of seven (7) components: a
Collection Rate adjustment, a Disposal Rate adjustment, a Organic Materials Processing Rate
adjustment, a Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Rate adjustment, and a Recycling
Surcharge, and City Fees adjustment (Franchise Fee, HHW Fee, Street Sweeping Fee, Vehicle Impact
Fee, Authority Administration Costs and other City Fees and Surcharges). The Collection Rate
Adjustment factor shall not exceed five percent (5%), nor less than one and one‐half percent
(1.5%).”
MMM. Article Section 8.4.2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the following subsection:

“8.4.2.G Monthly Construction and Demolition Debris Surcharge
The monthly Construction and Demolition Debris Surcharge consists of two components: the
Transportation component and a Processing fee component. The Transportation component shall
be adjusted by upward or downward to reflect eighty percent (80%) of the change in the “San
Francisco‐Oakland‐San Jose Metropolitan Area Consumer Price Index (All Urban Consumers; 1982‐
84=100)” for the most recent twelve (12) month period ending December 31, as published by the
U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. The Transportation component increase shall
not exceed five percent (5%) per annum, nor shall it be less than one and one‐half percent (1.5%).
The Processing fee component shall be the difference between the current Construction and
Demolition Rate at the Designated Facility and the rate charged by the Approved Construction and
Demolition Facility as agreed upon by the Company and Customer. The Processing fee shall not be
subject to City Fees.”
NNN. Section 8.7 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows:

“8.7 Company’s Compensation and Rates – Interim Rate Adjustment
In the event the Authority directs the Company to change its operations in accordance with Section
4.5 of this Agreement or in the event of an extraordinary or unanticipated event including a change
in law, a change in Disposal Site, Organic Materials Processing Site, Construction and Demolition
Debris Processing Site, or an extraordinary adjustment to the Disposal Proprietary Rate, Disposal
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Government Fee, Residential Organic Materials Processing Proprietary Rate, Residential Organic
Materials Processing Government Fee, Commercial Organic Materials Processing Fee, Construction
and Demolition Debris Proprietary Rate, and/or Construction and Demolition Debris Government
Fee, and such adjustment materially affects the Company's annual cost of operations then the
Company or the Authority may submit a request for an interim Rate adjustment. In such case, the
Company shall provide Authority with its calculations of the impact of the change in a format
approved by the Authority. Any proposed change in the ratified Rates shall be subject to Authority
review and approval. The Company shall not be entitled to an interim Rate adjustment for any costs
associated with additional routes beyond those outlined in the Proposal, unless required under
Section 4.5. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to require Authority to accept Company’s
calculations as correct.”

OOO.

Exhibit 4 of the Agreement is hereby amended to add the content of Exhibit 2 to this Amendment.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Authority and Company have executed this Agreement as of the day
and year first above written.
WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE
MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
("Authority")
ATTEST:

By
AUTHORITY CLERK

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

AUTHORITY
WEST VALLEY COLLECTION
& RECYCLING, LLC
("COMPANY")
By: Waste Connections of California, Inc.,
Manager
By:

AUTHORITY ATTORNEY
Name: ____________________________
Title: Division Vice President

By:
Name: ________________________________
Title: Secretary
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EXHIBIT 1:
COMPANY’S IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

WVCR 1383 Implementation Plan

CONTAINERS

ACTION ITEM
decide on colors
begin ordering bins/carts in compliant colors

DUE DATE
3/31/2021
11/1/2021

CONTAINER LABELING

decide on cart label method
develop cart label/imprint
develop bin labels
print bin labels and if necessary cart labels

3/31/2021
9/1/2021
9/1/2021
12/22/2021

RESIDENTIAL IN KITCHEN PAILS

order pails
distribute pails SFD & MFD
(begin distribution 11/01/2021, open for discussion around earlier timing)

9/1/2021
12/31/2021

OUTREACH
INTRODUCTORY FLYER develop SFD introductory flyer
develop commercial/MFD introductory flyer
send SFD flyer to HF&H for review
send commercial/MFD to HF&H for review
print SFD and commercial/MFD flyers
mail commercial/MFD flyers
distribute SFD flyer with kitchen pails

9/15/2021
9/15/2021
10/1/2021
10/1/2021
10/15/2021
12/15/2021
12/30/2021

KITCHEN PAIL FLYER develop MFD flyer
send to HF&H for review
print

10/1/2021
10/15/2021
10/22/2021

NCN revise NCN
send to HF&H for review
print

12/1/2021
12/13/2021
12/22/2021

WVCR 1383 Implementation Plan

ADDITIONAL OUTREACH develop and implement messaging for:
website
outgoing phone message
billing messages
email blast
newsletters
ASSESS/DATABASE

finalize commercial customer list
assesss properties
implement organics service

TRAINING

train customer service
train drviers

1/1/2022
1/1/2022
9/1/2021
1/12/2022
ongoing
7/1/2021
12/1/2021
1/1/2022
1/1/2022
1/1/2022

EXHIBIT 2:
CLARIFICATION OF COMPANY’S COMPENSATION
– ALLOWABLE SB 1383 COSTS

Form 2

Operating Statistics
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.

Residential Cart Service (Form 6A)

REPORT FOR 12‐MONTH PERIOD

Solid Waste
Carts

From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022
1 Account Information
# of weekly accounts (customers)

Recyclable
Organic
Materials Carts Materials Carts

30,000

30,000

30,000

0

0

11.0
1.0
2,860

Commercial and Multi‐Family Cart and Bin Service (Form 6B)
Solid Waste
Carts & Bins

City‐Wide Clean‐
Up (Form 6D)

Drop Box (Form 6C)

Multi‐Family Bins and
Multi‐Family Bins and
Recyclable Materials Multi‐Family Carts ‐ Commercial Carts & Bins‐ Commercial Carts & Bins‐
Green Waste
Food Waste
Carts & Bins
Organic Materials

Solid Waste

Recyclable
Materials

Organic
Materials

C&D

0

0

0

0

TOTAL

Labor Information
2

# of regular route personnel

3

Labor hours/day/person

4

Total labor hours/year

11.0
0

0

0

0

0

0

2,860

Route Information
# of routes per
5

Weekday

6

Saturday

7

11.00

11.0
0.0
0.0

Sunday
# of persons per route per

8

Weekday

9

Saturday

10

1.0

Sunday
# of route hours/day/route per

11

Weekday

12

Saturday

13

11.0

Sunday
# of route hours per year per:

14

Weekday

15

Saturday

16

Sunday

17
18

Total Route Hours per Year (all routes)
# of FTE routes

19

Total # of cart setouts per day for all routes

20

# of cart setouts/day/FTE route

21

# of cart setouts per week for all routes

22

# of household drive‐bys per wk for all routes

23

Set out rate (%)

24

# of lifts or pulls per week for all routes

25
26

2,860

0
0.00

0
0.00

2,860
1.38

0
0

0
0

0
0

0%

0%

0%

# of lifts or pulls per year for all routes
# of lifts or pulls per route hour

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.0

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0
0.00

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

2,860
0
0
2,860
1.38

Vehicle Information
27

# of regular collection vehicles (from Form 4)

28

# of hard to service collection vehicles (from Form 4)

29

# of spare collection vehicles (from Form 4)

30

Total # of collection vehicles

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Tonnage Information (annual)
31

Solid Waste Collected

32

Recyclable Materials Collected

33

Organic Materials

34

Green Waste

35

Food Waste

36

C&D Materials

37

Reusable Materials Collected

38

Other Materials Collected (Specify)

39 Total Collected
40

Processing residue disposed

41

Net Diverted (Line 32 + 33 + 34 + 35 + 36 + 37 + 38 ‐ 40)

(1,560)

(546)
1,560

468
78

(1,560)

0

1,560

(546)

0

468

0

78

0

0

0

0

1,560

0

0

468

0

78

0

0

0
0
Projected Diversion Rate

0

0

0

0

‐2,106.0
0.0
2,028.0
0.0
78.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0
0.0
2,106
0.0%
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Operating Statistics
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

Form 2

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Notes for Form 2:
Line 1 ‐ Should equal the number of customer serviced on a weekly basis
Line 2 ‐ Data to be input by proposer. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6A ‐ 6D.
Line 3 ‐ Identify number of hours per day each regular route employee will work each day (including breaks, pre‐ and post‐route checks, etc., excludes casual/pool personnel).
Line 4 ‐ Should equal Line 2 * Line 3 * 260 days
Lines 5, 6, and 7 ‐ Information is to be reported for collection routes only and does not include any support (e.g., container delivery routes, cleanup routes, missed pickup routes etc.)
Line 8, 9, and 10 ‐ Data to be input by proposer. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6A ‐ 6D.
Lines 11, 12, and 13 ‐ Identify number of hours per day each route will take to complete (including collection time and hauling time to transfer station, landfill, or processing site).
Line 14 ‐ Should equal Line 5 * Line 11* 260 days
Line 15 ‐ Should equal Line 6 * Line 12 * 52 weeks
Line 16 ‐ Should equal Line 7 * Line 13 * 52 weeks
Line 17 ‐ Should equal Line 14 + Line 15 + Line 16
Line 18 ‐ Should equal Line 17 / 2,080 hours
Line 19 ‐ Data to be input by proposer. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Form 6A
Line 20 ‐ Should equal Line 19 / Line 18
Line 21 ‐ Should equal Line 19 * 5 days
Line 22 ‐ Data to be input by proposer. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Form 6A.
Line 23 ‐ Should equal Line 21 / Line 22
Line 24 ‐ Data to be input by proposer. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6B ‐ 6D.
Line 25 ‐ Data to be input by proposer and should equal Line 24 * 52 weeks. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6B ‐ 6D.
Line 26 ‐ Should equal Line 25/ Line 17
Line 27 ‐ No input needed by proposer, data linked to Form 4 ‐ Capital. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6A ‐ 6D.
Line 28 ‐ No input needed by proposer, data linked to Form 4 ‐ Capital. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6A ‐ 6D.
Line 29 ‐ No input needed by proposer, data linked to Form 4 ‐ Capital. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6A ‐ 6D.
Line 30 ‐ Should equal Line 27 + Line 28 + Line 29
Lines 31 ‐ 38 ‐ Data to be input by proposer. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6A ‐ 6D.
Line 39 ‐ Should equal the sum of Line 32 + Line 33 + Line 34 + Line35 + Line 36 + Line 37 + Line 38
Line 40 ‐ Data to be input by proposer. Data should reflect the assumptions used for the basis of the costs proposed in Forms 6A ‐ 6D.
Line 41 ‐ Should equal Line 32 + Line 33 + Line 34 + Line 35 + Line 36 + Line 37 + Line 38 ‐ Line 40

Pulls = pull and return etc.
Full Time Equivalent (FTE) = 40 hours per week, 2,080 hours per year
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Form 3

Proposed Labor Requirements
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.

Route Personnel Headcount (include fraction of employee)

# of Regular Personnel

# of Casual/Pool

Average Hourly
Rate

Benefits
Cost/Year/Hour

$67.88

$23.50

# of Employees

Average Hourly
Rate

Benefits
Cost/Year/Hour

1.0

$39.00

$18.70

Total

Residential Cart Solid Waste

0.0

0.0

Residential Cart Recyclable Materials

0.0

0.0

Residential Cart Organic Materials

11.0

11.0

Commercial Cart & Bin Solid Waste

0.0

0.0

Commercial Cart & Bin Recyclable Materials

0.0

0.0

Commercial Cart Organic Materials

0.0

0.0

Commercial Cart & Bin Green Waste

0.0

0.0

Commercial Cart & Bin Food Waste

0.0

0.0

Drop Box Solid Waste

0.0

0.0

Drop Box Recyclable Materials

0.0

0.0

Drop Box Organic Materials

0.0

0.0

Drop Box C&D

0.0

0.0

City‐Wide Clean‐Ups

0.0

0.0

Subtotal Route Personnel
Other Personnel Headcount (include fraction of employee)

11.0

0.0

Notes

11.0

Executive Management (CEO, CFO, COO, etc.)
General Manager
Operations Manager
Route Supervisor
Dispatcher
Container Distribution
Container Maintenance/Welder
Maintenance Supervisor
Maintenance Personnel
Controller
Staff Accountant
Office Manager
Accounting Clerk
Customer Service Supervisor
Customer Service Representatives
Recycling Manager
Recycling/Public Education Coordinator
Other (specify): __________________
Other (specify): __________________
Other (specify): __________________

Subtotal Other Personnel

1.0

Total All Personnel

12.0
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Form 4

Capital Requirements
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.

Quantity
Used

New
Actual

Spare

Total

Actual

Spare

Total Capital Cost
Over Contract Term
(in 2022 dollars)

Total
Total

Actual

Spare

Total

Average Price

Vehicles
Collection Vehicles
Residential Cart Solid Waste

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Residential Cart Recyclable Materials

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Residential Cart Organic Materials

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Commercial Cart & Bin Solid Waste

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Commercial Cart & Bin Recyclable Materials

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Multi‐Family Cart Organic Materials

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Multi‐Family Bin and Commercial Cart & Bin Green Waste

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Multi‐Family Bin and Commercial Cart & Bin Food Waste

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Drop Box Solid Waste

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Drop Box Recyclable Materials

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Drop Box Organic Materials

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Drop Box C&D

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

City‐Wide Clean‐Up

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Cart Hard to Service Trucks (Solid Waste)

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Cart Hard to Service Trucks (Recyclable Materials)

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Cart Hard to Service Trucks (Organic Materials)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Subtotal

0

0

0

0

0

N/A
$0

Other Vehicles
Pickup Trucks

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Container Distribution

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Mobile Service Truck

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Other (specify): __________________

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

$0

Total Vehicle Cost

$0

Other (specify): __________________

0
Subtotal

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Containers
Carts
Solid Waste 20‐gallon

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

0

0

0

0

0

$0 N/A

Solid Waste 65‐gallon

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Solid Waste 95‐gallon

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Recyclable Materials 20‐gallon

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Recyclable Materials 35‐gallon

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Recyclable Materials 65‐gallon

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Recyclable Materials 95‐gallon

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

Organic Materials 20‐gallon

0

0

0

0

0

520

0

480

40

520

0

0

0

0

0

Solid Waste 35‐gallon

0

Organic Materials 35‐gallon

480

0

40

Organic Materials 65‐gallon
Organic Materials 95‐gallon
Subtotal

720

60

780

1200

100

1300

0

0

0

720

60

780

0

1200

100

1300

N/A
$22,442 $

43.16

N/A
$40,178 $

51.51

$62,620

Bins
1 cubic yard

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

1.5 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

2 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

3 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

4 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

6 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

8 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Subtotal

0

0

0

0

0

N/A
$0

Drop Boxes
8 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

10 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

15 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

20 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

30 cubic yards

0

0

0

0

0

5

0

5

0

5

$25,500 $

0

5

0

5

$25,500

40 cubic yards

5
Subtotal

0

5

Foodwaste Pails

30000

3000

33000

0

30000

3000

33000

$336,600 $

10.20

Foodwaste Pails

14400

2550

16950

0

14400

2550

16950

$172,890 $

10.20

0

0

0

0

0

0

44400

5550

49950

$509,490

Total Container Cost

$597,610

Subtotal

Other

44400

5550

49950

0

0

5,100.00

5

Other (specify): __________________

0

N/A

0

N/A

Description

Offices
Processing Site(s)
Transfer Station
Corporation Yard/Maintenance
Container Storage Yard
Shop Equipment
Fueling Equipment
Computer and Office Equipment
Other (specify): __________________
Other (specify): __________________
Total Other Cost

Total Capital Cost

$0
$597,610
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Form 5

Summary of Proposed Costs
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Note to proposer: No data input required on this Form 5; costs are pulled automatically from Forms 6A through 6D.

RATE PERIOD 1

Residential Cart Service (Form 6A)

Commercial and Multi‐Family Cart and Bin Service (Form 6B)
Multi‐Family Bins Multi‐Family Bins
Multi‐Family
Recyclable
and Commercial and Commercial
Carts ‐ Organic
Organic
Solid Waste Materials Carts
Carts & Bins‐
Carts & Bins‐
Materials
Materials Carts Carts & Bins
& Bins
Green Waste
Food Waste

From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022

City‐Wide
Clean‐Up
(Form 6D)

Drop Box (Form 6C)

Solid Waste

Recyclable
Materials

Organic
Materials

C&D

TOTAL

Cost of Operations
Labor‐Related Costs

$0

$0

$74,352

$0

$0

$278,097

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$352,449

Vehicle‐Related Costs

$0

$0

$4,025

$0

$0

$39,156

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$43,181

Fuel Costs

$0

$0

$9,047

$0

$0

$32,092

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$41,139

Net Processing Costs

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$37,365

$0

$6,228

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$43,593

Other Costs

$0

$0

$104,656

$0

$0

$7,471

$0

$0

$0

$0

$5,010

$0

$0

$117,137

Direct Depreciation

$0

$0

$115,406

$0

$0

$63,370

$0

$0

$0

$0

$8,500

$0

$0

$187,276

Total Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other

$0

$0

$132,238

$0

$0

$24,795

$0

$0

$0

$0

$8,265

$0

$0

$165,298

Total Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation & Start‐Up

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$439,725

$0

$0

$482,345

$0

$6,228

$0

$0

$21,775

$0

$0

$950,073

$0.00

$0.00

$101,929.26

$0.00

$0.00

$87,129.66

$0.00

$1,124.92

$0.00

$0.00

$3,933.36

$0.00

$0.00

$194,117.20

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

($114,777)

Total Cost of Operations
Profit
Pass‐Through Costs
Disposal Cost

($85,020)

$0

Net Processing Costs ‐ WM Guad

$0

($29,757)

$124,550

Interest Expense

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

Direct Lease Costs

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$124,550

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

Total Allocated Costs ‐ Lease

Total Pass‐Through Costs

($85,020)

($29,757)

$0
($114,777)

Authority Fees
Franchise Fees (19%)

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

$0

Authority Admin Fee

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

$0

Vehicle Impact Fee

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

$0

HHW Fee

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

$0

Street Sweeping

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

$0

Total Authority Fees
Total Proposed Costs

$0
($85,020)

$0

$0

$0

$666,205

$0
($29,757)

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$569,475

$0

$7,352

$0

$0

$25,708

$0

$0

$1,029,413
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Form 6

Collection Cost Proposal
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Note to proposer: No data input required on Form 6; costs are pulled from Forms 6A‐6D.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to
June 30, 2022

SUMMARY (Total Costs from Forms 6A through 6D)

Labor‐Related Costs (include regular & pool personnel)
Regular Wages
Overtime Wages
Cart & Pail Delivery ‐ over 3 yrs
Vacation Wages
Sick Leave Wages
Workers Compensation Insurance Premiums
Workers Compensation Claims
Health & Welfare
Pension/ Retirement Benefits
Payroll Taxes
Other (Please List)
Employee Performance Bonus
Temporary Labor
Total Labor Related‐Costs

$0
$285,890
$13,914
$0
$0
$28,849
$0
$0
$861
$22,935
$0
$0
$0
$352,449

Vehicle‐Related Costs (do not include depreciation)
Tires & Tubes
Parts & Supplies (fluid, oil, etc,)
Taxes & Licenses
Other ‐ Total Variable Cost/Hr w/o Fuel
Total Vehicle‐Related Costs

$0
$0
$0
$43,181
$43,181

Fuel Costs

$41,139

Net Processing Costs
Recyclable Materials Processing Costs
Organic Materials Processing Costs
Green Waste Processing Costs
Food Scraps Processing Costs
C&D Processing Costs
Reusable Materials Handling Costs
Material Processing Revenue
CRV recycling revenues
Other revenues from grants (specify) __________
Total Net Processing Costs

$0.00
$0.00
$79.84
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton

$0
$0
$168,143
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$168,143

Other Costs
Liability & Property Damage Insurance
Damage Claims
Equipment Insurance
Rent
Utilities
Telephone
Non‐Vehicle Related Supplies
Non‐Vehicle Related Taxes & Licenses
Training & Safety Programs
Initial Public Education & Outreach
Continuing Public Education & Outreach
Uniforms
Other: Vehicle rental to distribute carts & pails over 3 yrs & Fuel
Total Other Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$76,148
$0
$0
$33,217
$0
$0
$7,772
$117,137

Direct Depreciation
Container Depreciation
Route Vehicle Depreciation
Other Depreciation
Total Direct Depreciation

$187,276
$0
$0
$187,276
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Form 6

Collection Cost Proposal
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

Note to proposer: No data input required on Form 6; costs are pulled from Forms 6A‐6D.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to
June 30, 2022

SUMMARY (Total Costs from Forms 6A through 6D)

Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs

$160,253
$5,045
$0
$165,298

Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Cost of Operations

$1,074,623

Gross Operating Ratio; i.e. 95%):
Pass‐Through Costs
Disposal Cost

$

84.7 %

$194,117

54.50 /ton

($114,777)

Interest Expense

$0

Direct Lease Costs
Route Vehicles
Other (Please List)
Total Direct Lease Costs

$0
$0
$0

Allocated Lease Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Lease Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Pass‐Through Costs
Cost Reimbursements to City
Franchise Fees
Authority Admin Fee
Vehicle Impact Fee
HHW Fee
Street Sweeping
Total Cost Reimbursements to City
Total Proposed Cost

($114,777)

19 %

$0
$1,153,963
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Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

Form 6A

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022
Solid Waste

RESIDENTIAL CART COSTS
Labor‐Related Costs (include regular & pool personnel)
Regular Wages
Overtime Wages ‐ 1 hr/wk/driver
Pail Delivery ‐‐‐‐‐ over 3 Yrs
Vacation Wages
Sick Leave Wages
Workers Compensation Insurance Premiums
Workers Compensation Claims
Health & Welfare
Pension/ Retirement Benefits ‐ Pails ‐ straight time
Payroll Taxes
Other (Please List)
Employee Performance Bonus
Temporary Labor
Total Labor Related‐Costs

Recyclable
Materials

Organic Materials

Direct Depreciation
Container Depreciation
Route Vehicle Depreciation
Other Depreciation
Total Direct Depreciation

$9,047

$9,047

$0
$0
$124,550
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$124,550

$672
$3,801

$0

$0

$0

Fuel Costs

Other Costs
Liability & Property Damage Insurance
Damage Claims
Equipment Insurance
Rent
Utilities
Telephone
Non‐Vehicle Related Supplies‐ Labels
Non‐Vehicle Related Taxes & Licenses
Training & Safety Programs
Initial Public Education & Outreach over 3 yrs
Continuing Public Education & Outreach
Uniforms
Other: Vehicle rental to distribute carts & pails over 3 yrs & Fuel
Total Other Costs

$4,025
$4,025

$0
$0
$0
$4,025
$4,025

$20,194

Vehicle‐Related Costs (do not include depreciation)
Tires & Tubes
Parts & Supplies (fluid, oil, etc,)
Taxes & Licenses
Other ‐ Total Variable Cost/Hr w/o Fuel
Total Vehicle‐Related Costs

Net Processing Costs
Recyclable Materials Processing Costs
Organic Materials Processing Costs
Green Waste Processing Costs
Food Scraps Processing Costs
C&D Processing Costs
Reusable Materials Handling Costs
Material Processing Revenue
CRV recycling revenues
Other revenues from grants (specify) __________
Total Net Processing Costs

$74,352

$0
$38,825
$10,860
$0
$0
$20,194
$0
$0
$672
$3,801
$0
$0
$0
$74,352

$38,825
10,860

$0

$0.00
$0.00
$79.84
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$124,550
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0

$124,550

$66,128

$30,756

$0

$0

7,772
$104,656

$115,406

$0

$0

Subtotal

$115,406

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$66,128
$0
$0
$30,756
$0
$0
$7,772
$104,656

$115,406
$0
$0
$115,406
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Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

Form 6A

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022
Solid Waste

RESIDENTIAL CART COSTS

Recyclable
Materials

Organic Materials

Subtotal

Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$128,202
$4,036
$0
$132,238

$128,202
$4,036
$0
$132,238

Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Cost of Operations

$0

$0

$564,275

$564,275

$0

$0

$101,929

$101,929.26

$0

$0

Gross Operating Ratio; i.e. 95%):
Pass‐Through Costs
Disposal Cost

84.7 %
per ton
$54.50

($85,020)

($85,020)

Interest Expense

$0

Direct Lease Costs
Route Vehicles
Other (Please List)
Total Direct Lease Costs

$0

$0

$0

$0
$0
$0

Allocated Lease Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Lease Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Pass‐Through Costs

($85,020)

$0

$0

Total Cost

($85,020)

$0

$666,204

($85,020)
$581,184
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Form 6B

Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022

Labor‐Related Costs (include regular & pool personnel)
Regular Wages
Overtime Wages
Cart Delivery over 3 yrs
Vacation Wages
Sick Leave Wages
Workers Compensation Insurance Premiums
Workers Compensation Claims
Health & Welfare
Pension/ Retirement Benefits ‐ Cart Delivery
Payroll Taxes
Other (Please List)
Employee Performance Bonus
Temporary Labor
Total Labor Related‐Costs

Recyclable
Materials

Solid Waste

BIN COSTS

Organic
Materials

Direct Depreciation
Container Depreciation
Route Vehicle Depreciation
Other Depreciation
Total Direct Depreciation

$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$39,156
$39,156

$189
$19,134

$0

$0

$0

$0

$278,097

$39,156
$39,156

$0

$0

Subtotal

$0
$247,065
$3,054
$0
$0
$8,655
$0
$0
$189
$19,134
$0
$0
$0
$278,097

$8,655

$1,029,413

Fuel Costs

Other Costs
Liability & Property Damage Insurance
Damage Claims
Equipment Insurance
Rent
Utilities
Telephone
Non‐Vehicle Related Supplies ‐ Labels
Non‐Vehicle Related Taxes & Licenses
Training & Safety Programs
Initial Public Education & Outreach‐ over 3 yrs
Continuing Public Education & Outreach
Uniforms
Other (Please List)
Total Other Costs

Food Waste

$247,065
3,054

Vehicle‐Related Costs (do not include depreciation)
Tires & Tubes
Parts & Supplies (fluid, oil, etc,)
Taxes & Licenses
Other ‐ Total Variable Cost/Hr w/o Fuel
Total Vehicle‐Related Costs

Net Processing Costs
Recyclable Materials Processing Costs
Organic Materials Processing Costs
Green Waste Processing Costs
Food Scraps Processing Costs
C&D Processing Costs
Reusable Materials Handling Costs
Material Processing Revenue
CRV recycling revenues
Other revenues from grants (specify) __________
Total Net Processing Costs

Green Waste

$32,092

$0.00
$0.00
$79.84
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton

$32,092

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$37,365
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$6,228
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0

$37,365

$0

$6,228

$0
$0
$43,593
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$43,593

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$5,010
$0
$0
$2,461
$0
$0
$0
$7,471

$0

$63,370
$0
$0
$63,370

$5,010

$2,461

$0

$0

$7,471

$0

$63,369.69

$0

$0

$63,370

$0
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Form 6B

Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022
Recyclable
Materials

Solid Waste

BIN COSTS

Organic
Materials

Green Waste

Food Waste

Subtotal

Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$24,038
$757
$0
$24,795

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$24,038
$757
$0
$24,795

Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Cost of Operations

$0

$0

$482,345

$0

$6,228

$488,573

$0

$0

$87,130

$0

$1,125

$88,254.59

($29,757)

$0

$0

$0

$0

($29,757)

Gross Operating Ratio; i.e. 95%):
Pass‐Through Costs
Disposal Cost

84.7 %
per ton
$54.50

Interest Expense

$0

Direct Lease Costs
Route Vehicles
Other (Please List)
Total Direct Lease Costs

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0
$0
$0

Allocated Lease Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Lease Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Pass‐Through Costs

($29,757)

$0

$0

$0

$0

($29,757)

Total Cost

($29,757)

$0

$569,475

$0

$7,352

$547,070
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Form 6C

Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.

DROP‐BOX COSTS

Solid Waste

Labor‐Related Costs (include regular & pool personnel)
Regular Wages
Overtime Wages
Holiday Wages
Vacation Wages
Sick Leave Wages
Workers Compensation Insurance Premiums
Workers Compensation Claims
Health & Welfare
Pension/ Retirement Benefits
Payroll Taxes
Other (Please List)
Employee Performance Bonus
Temporary Labor
Total Labor Related‐Costs

$0

Vehicle‐Related Costs (do not include depreciation)
Tires & Tubes
Parts & Supplies (fluid, oil, etc,)
Taxes & Licenses
Other (Please List)
Total Vehicle‐Related Costs

$0

Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022
Recyclable
Organic
Materials
Materials
C&D

$0

$0

$0

$0

Subtotal

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

Fuel Costs
Net Processing Costs
Recyclable Materials Processing Costs
Organic Materials Processing Costs
Green Waste Processing Costs
Food Scraps Processing Costs
C&D Processing Costs
Reusable Materials Handling Costs
Material Processing Revenue
CRV recycling revenues
Other revenues from grants (specify) __________
Total Net Processing Costs
Other Costs
Liability & Property Damage Insurance
Damage Claims
Equipment Insurance
Rent
Utilities
Telephone
Non‐Vehicle Related Supplies
Non‐Vehicle Related Taxes & Licenses
Training & Safety Programs
Initial Public Education & Outreach
Continuing Public Education & Outreach
Uniforms
Other (Please List)
Total Other Costs
Direct Depreciation
Container Depreciation
Route Vehicle Depreciation
Other Depreciation
Total Direct Depreciation

$0

$0.00
$0.00
$79.84
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$5,010
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$5,010

$0

$8,500
$0
$0
$8,500

$5,010

$0

$0

$0

$5,010

$8,500

$0

$0

$8,500
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Form 6C

Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.

DROP‐BOX COSTS

Solid Waste

Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022
Recyclable
Organic
Materials
Materials
C&D

Subtotal

Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$8,013
$252
$0
$8,265

$0
$0
$0
$0

$8,013
$252
$0
$8,265

Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Cost of Operations

$0

$0

$21,775

$0

$21,775

$0

$0

$3,933

$0

$3,933

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

Gross Operating Ratio; i.e. 95%):
Pass‐Through Costs
Disposal Cost

84.7 %
per ton
$0.00

Interest Expense

$0

Direct Lease Costs
Route Vehicles
Other (Please List)
Total Direct Lease Costs

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0
$0
$0

Allocated Lease Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Lease Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Pass‐Through Costs

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

Total Cost

$0

$0

$25,708

$0

$25,708
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Form 6D

Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022

BULKY COSTS

City‐Wide Clean‐Up

Labor‐Related Costs (include regular & pool personnel)
Regular Wages
Overtime Wages
Holiday Wages
Vacation Wages
Sick Leave Wages
Workers Compensation Insurance Premiums
Workers Compensation Claims
Health & Welfare
Pension/ Retirement Benefits
Payroll Taxes
Other (Please List)
Employee Performance Bonus
Temporary Labor
Total Labor Related‐Costs
Vehicle‐Related Costs (do not include depreciation)
Tires & Tubes
Parts & Supplies (fluid, oil, etc,)
Taxes & Licenses
Other (Please List)
Total Vehicle‐Related Costs

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

Fuel Costs
Net Processing Costs
Recyclable Materials Processing Costs
Organic Materials Processing Costs
Green Waste Processing Costs
Food Scraps Processing Costs
C&D Processing Costs
Reusable Materials Handling Costs
Material Processing Revenue
CRV recycling revenues
Other revenues from grants (specify) __________
Total Net Processing Costs
Other Costs
Liability & Property Damage Insurance
Damage Claims
Equipment Insurance
Rent
Utilities
Telephone
Non‐Vehicle Related Supplies
Non‐Vehicle Related Taxes & Licenses
Training & Safety Programs
Initial Public Education & Outreach
Continuing Public Education & Outreach
Uniforms
Other (Please List)
Total Other Costs
Direct Depreciation
Container Depreciation
Route Vehicle Depreciation
Other Depreciation
Total Direct Depreciation

Subtotal

$0

$0.00
$0.00
$79.84
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton
/ton

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
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Form 6D

Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022

BULKY COSTS

City‐Wide Clean‐Up

Subtotal

Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Costs ‐ Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Cost of Operations

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

Gross Operating Ratio; i.e. 95%):
Pass‐Through Costs
Disposal Cost

84.7 %
per ton
$ 54.50

Interest Expense

$0

Direct Lease Costs
Route Vehicles
Other (Please List)
Total Direct Lease Costs

$0

$0
$0
$0

Allocated Lease Costs
From General and Administrative (6E)
From Vehicle Maintenance (6E)
From Container Maintenance (6E)
Total Allocated Lease Costs

$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0

Total Pass‐Through Costs

$0

$0

Total Cost

$0

$0

Page 15 of 18

Form 6E

Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.
Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022
Vehicle
Container
Maintenance
Maintenance

General and
Administrative

PROPOSED ALLOCATED COST
Labor‐Related Costs (include non‐route personnel only)
Regular Wages
Overtime Wages
Holiday Wages
Vacation Wages
Sick Leave Wages
Workers Compensation Insurance Premiums
Workers Compensation Claims
Health & Welfare
Pension/ Retirement Benefits
Payroll Taxes
Other (Please List)
Employee Performance Bonus
Temporary Labor
Total Labor Related‐Costs

$80,000

$0

$0
$20,100
$4,000
$6,120
$10,000
$120,220

Vehicle‐Related Costs
Tires & Tubes
Parts & Supplies (fluid, oil, etc,)
Taxes & Licenses
Other (Please List)
Total Vehicle‐Related Costs

Total Labor, Vehicle, Fuel, and Other Costs
Depreciation (non‐route specific) and Start‐Up Costs
Vehicle Depreciation (non‐route vehicles)
Other Depreciation
Initial Public Education & Outreach Efforts
Procurement Cost Reimbursement
Start‐up Costs
Total Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs

$0

$0

$80,000
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$20,100
$4,000
$6,120
$0
$10,000
$0
$120,220
$0
$0

$0

Fuel Costs
Other Costs
Liability & Property Damage Insurance
Damage Claims
Equipment Insurance
Rent
Utilities
Telephone
Non‐vehicle Related Supplies
Non‐vehicle Related Taxes & Licenses
Training & Safety Programs
Initial Public Education & Outreach
Ongoing, Annual Public Education & Outreach Efforts
Uniforms
Bad Debt
Performance Bond
Corporate Overhead Charge (Please List)
Other (Please List)
Total Other Costs

Subtotal

$0
$5,045

$5,045

$40,033

$0

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$11,540
$0
$28,493
$0
$40,033

$160,253

$5,045

$0

$165,298

$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$11,540
$1,029,413

$0
$0

$0

$28,493

$0

$0
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Form 6E

Detailed Collection Cost Proposal Information
West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.

General and
Administrative

PROPOSED ALLOCATED COST
Lease Costs
Facility Costs: ________________________ (describe)
Other Lease Costs: _________________________ (describe)
Total Lease Costs
Total Costs to be Allocated
Labor, Vehicle, Fuel, & Other Costs Allocated Out
To Residential Cart Solid Waste (6A)
To Residential Cart Recyclable Materials (6A)
To Residential Cart Organic Materials (6A)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Solid Waste (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Recyclable Materials (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Organic Materials (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Green Waste (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Food Waste (6B)
To Drop Box Solid Waste (6C)
To Drop Box Recyclable Materials (6C)
To Drop Box Organic Materials (6C)
To Drop Box C&D (6C)
To City‐Wide Clean‐Up (6D)
Total Labor, Vehicle, Fuel & Other Costs Allocated Out
Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs Allocated Out
To Residential Cart Solid Waste (6A)
To Residential Cart Recyclable Materials (6A)
To Residential Cart Organic Materials (6A)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Solid Waste (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Recyclable Materials (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Organic Materials (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Green Waste (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Food Waste (6B)
To Drop Box Solid Waste (6C)
To Drop Box Recyclable Materials (6C)
To Drop Box Organic Materials (6C)
To Drop Box C&D (6C)
To City‐Wide Clean‐Up (6D)
Total Depreciation and Start‐Up Costs Allocated Out
Lease Costs Allocated Out
To Residential Cart Solid Waste (6A)
To Residential Cart Recyclable Materials (6A)
To Residential Cart Organic Materials (6A)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Solid Waste (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Recyclable Materials (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Organic Materials (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Green Waste (6B)
To Commercial Cart & Bin Food Waste (6B)
To Drop Box Solid Waste (6C)
To Drop Box Recyclable Materials (6C)
To Drop Box Organic Materials (6C)
To Drop Box C&D (6C)
To City‐Wide Clean‐Up (6D)
Total Lease Costs Allocated Out

Total Allocated Out

Rate Period
From July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022
Vehicle
Container
Maintenance
Maintenance

Subtotal

$0

$0

$0

$0
$0
$0

$160,253

$5,045

$0

$165,298

100.00%

$0
$0
$128,202
$0
$0
$24,038
$0
$0
$0
$0
$8,013
$0
$0
$160,253

$0
$0
$4,036
$0
$0
$757
$0
$0
$0
$0
$252
$0
$0
$5,045

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$132,238
$0
$0
$24,795
$0
$0
$0
$0
$8,265
$0
$0
$165,298

0.00%

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

0.00%

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$160,253

$5,045

$0

$165,298

Percentage

80.00%

15.00%

5.00%
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Form 7

Disposal/Processing Cost Proposal

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority

West Valley ‐ 1383 Incremental Costs
Please provide all costs as $/Ton effective for Rate Period One (July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022).
Include processing residue disposal costs in "Disposal/Processing Cost"

Note to proposer: Input data in yellow shaded areas only.
Disposal/Processing Costs ‐
Rate Period From January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022
Solid Waste
Disposal/Processing Cost ($/ton)

Recyclable Materials

Organic Materials

Green Waste

$34.70

$79.32

$19.80

$0.52

Reusable Materials
Handling

Food Waste

C&D

Other (Specify)

Disposal/Processing Facility Regulatory Fees & Taxes (list separately)
City Taxes & Fees
________________________
________________________
________________________
________________________
________________________
Total Regulatory Fees ($/ton)

$19.80

$0.00

$0.00

$0.52

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

Total Disposal/Processing Cost ($/ton)

$54.50

$0.00

$0.00

$79.84

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$54.50

$0.00

$0.00

$79.84

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

Processor Fee and Curbside Supplemental Revenues from CRV ($/ton)
(show as a negative value)
Revenues from the Sale of Materials ($/ton)
(show as a negative value)
Net Disposal/Processing Cost ($/Ton)*
* If the net is a revenue, net processing cost/ton is to show as a negative amount.

Transfer Costs (if applicable)
Rate Period From January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022
Solid Waste

Recyclable Materials

Organic Materials

Green Waste

Reusable Materials
Handling

Food Waste

C&D

Other (Specify)

Transfer Station Cost ($/Ton)**
Transfer Station Regulatory Fees & Taxes (list separately)
________________________
________________________
________________________
________________________
________________________
________________________
Total Regulatory Fees ($/ton)

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

Total Transfer Cost ($/ton)

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

** Transfer station fee to include all transfer facility‐related costs and the long‐haul transportation costs from the
transfer station to the processing facility.
Total Disposal/Processing Costs
Rate Period From January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022
Solid Waste

Total Net Disposal/Processing Costs Including Transfer

Recyclable Materials

$54.50

$0.00

Organic Materials

$0.00

Green Waste

$79.84

Food Waste

$0.00

Reusable Materials
Handling

$0.00

C&D

Other (Specify)

$0.00

$0.00
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West Valley Collection & Recycling
Depreciation Schedule for Organic Carts
Depreciation Period (months)

84

Qty
35gal Carts
95gal Carts

520
780

Cost
$
$
$

Yr 1
Yr 2
Yr 3
Yr 3
Yr 4
Yr 5
Yr 6
Yr 7
Jun '22
Jun '23
Feb '24
Jun '24
Jun '25
Jun '26
Jun '27
Jun '28
22,442 $
3,206 $
3,206 $
2,137 $
1,069 $
3,206 $
3,206 $
3,206 $
3,206
40,178 $
5,740 $
5,740 $
3,826 $
1,913 $
5,740 $
5,740 $
5,740 $
5,740
62,620

Accumulated Depr ‐ 35gal Carts $
Accumulated Depr ‐ 95gal Carts $
$

3,206 $
5,740 $
8,946 $

6,412 $
11,479 $
17,891 $

8,549 $
15,306 $
23,855 $

9,618 $
17,219 $
26,837 $

12,824 $
22,959 $
35,783 $

16,030 $
28,699 $
44,729 $

19,236 $
34,438 $
53,674 $

22,442
40,178
62,620

Remaining Balance ‐ 35gal Carts $
Remaining Balance ‐ 95gal Carts $
$

19,236 $
34,438 $
53,674 $

16,030 $
28,699 $
44,729 $

13,893 $
24,872 $
38,765 $

12,824 $
22,959 $
35,783 $

9,618 $
17,219 $
26,837 $

6,412 $
11,479 $
17,891 $

3,206 $
5,740 $
8,946 $

‐
‐
‐
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AGENDA ITEM NO.
MEETING DATE:

WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
AUTHORITY

10
MAY 6, 2021

AGENDA REPORT

Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

FY 2021-22 Budget

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Approve Resolution 2021-05 adopting the FY 2020-21 budget.
DISCUSSION
Background
Article 5 of the Joint Powers Agreement defines how the Authority’s activities are to be
funded. Paragraph B states that the Authority must adopt a budget for each fiscal year
beginning on July 1 and ending on June 30 of the following calendar year. Paragraph A
specifies that the requisite funds are to be allocated among the Member Agencies in
amounts equal to each Member Agency’s percentage share of the total population of all
Member Agencies. Through 2011, each Member Agency’s assessment amount was
included in its respective annual budget. However, in 2012 and each year thereafter, the
Member Agencies have elected to recover their respective assessed costs in the collection
rates.
FY 2021-22 Proposed Budget
The attached budget shows the actual results for the previous five years by major
expenditure category, the approved FY 2020-21 budget, the proposed FY 2021-22 budget,
and four additional years of forecasted budgets. In total, the proposed FY 2021-22
budgeted expenditures are $421,715 net of the WVC&R Annual Payment expenditure of
$450,000. Excess reserves of $37,341 representing funds received in prior years for
assessed liquidated damages will be used to offset SB 1383 public education expenditures

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY

AGENDA REPORT

Page 2 of 6

May 6, 2021

in FY 2021-22. The Board’s Fund Balance policy is to maintain an operating reserve of
$100,000 and a rate stabilization reserve of $100,000. In general, expenditure categories
were increased by 2% to reflect inflationary increases. Specific tasks related to SB 1383
were added at the estimated costs. Therefore, we have set the budgeted revenues and
the budgeted expenditures accordingly.
Below is a summary of the FY 2021-22 proposed budget.
FY 2021-2022 Proposed Budget Summary
Personnel (Contract Services)
Executive Director
General Services
SB1383 Planning & Implementation
Collection Contract Negotiations - RFP
Detailed Rate Review

Professional Services
Legal
Accounting & Audit
Other

$ 127,200
60,890
50,030
75,485

27,775
13,057
5,000

313,605

45,832

Other Expenses

115,988

Total Authority Projected Expenditures before WVC&R Contract Payment

475,425

WVC&R Contract Payment

450,000

Total Authority Budgeted FY 2021-22 Expenditures

$ 925,425

Revenue from Member Agencies

$ 438,084

Payment of Annual Fee from WVC&R

450,000

Excess Fund Balance from FY2020-21

37,341

Total Authority FY2021-22 Budgeted Revenues

$ 925,425

Executive Director – This expenditure is for services provided by HF&H Consultants,
LLC including management of the Authority’s refuse, recycling, yard waste, disposal and
processing contracts; management of the Authority’s efforts to achieve its AB 939 targets;
SB 1383 and AB 1826 compliance; preparation for and facilitation of the Authority Board

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY

AGENDA REPORT

meetings; and, other administrative tasks assigned by the Board.
budgeted amount of $313,605 is based on the following:

The FY 2021-22
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•

General services: $127,200 an increase of $16,580 from the FY 2020-21 budget. This
increase reflects proposed additional meetings with individual Board members
prior to the quarterly board meetings, proposed increase in CalRecycle visit
preparation and attendance since it was not done in person last year and additional
time for monitoring WVCR’s service improvement plan started in 2021.

•

SB 1383 Planning and Implementation: $60,890, a decrease of $38,540 from the FY
2020-21 budget.
Continued planning for implementation and begin
implementation and monitoring for compliance with SB 1383 legislation that will
take effect in January of 2022. The Authority will assist each Member Agency in
the development of items, such as:
o Monitoring container colors and labeling;
o Generator waiver verifications;
o Mandatory ordinance adoptions;
o Procurement policies;
o Outreach programs for single-family, multi-family, and commercial
customers, edible food generators, and self-haulers;
o Inspection Protocols;
o CalRecycle Initial Compliance Report;
o CalRecycle Implementation Record;
o Contamination monitoring protocol; and,
o Recordkeeping to meet CalRecycle requirements, including the testing and
verification of data in the recordkeeping database.

•

Cost-Based Rate Review: $75,485, unbudgeted in FY 2020-2021. In the current
agreement with WVC&R, the rate setting process for RY 16 (FY 22-23) will be a
cost-based review where WVC&R will submit a rate adjustment application based
on its actual revenues and expenses in accordance with the compensation
methodology described in the agreement (Section 8.4). The last detailed cost
review was performed in 2012.

•

Collections Procurement Negotiations: $50,030, unbudgeted in FY 2020-2021. The
current collection agreement expires in February 2024. Approximately 24 months
lead time is required in order to fully evaluate current programs and new
programs to meet regulatory requirements and allow the selected contractor to

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
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purchase new trucks and containers. The Request for Proposal (RFP) process will
begin in early 2022 to meet the required timeframe.
The forecasted budgets in FY 2022-23 and FY 2023-24 include an estimated $150,000 (FY
2022-23) and $50,000 in FY 2023-2024 to complete the collections contract procurement
process. The new agreement will require all SB 1383 and any other new regulatory
requirements. The collections contract is one of, if not the biggest, contract impacting the
Member Agencies. Annual ratepayer revenues are more than $24 million.
Legal Services – This expenditure is for the services of Logan and Powell, LLP to provide
advice on Authority legal matters, including the conduct of meetings in accordance with
the provisions of the Brown Act; to perform legal research as needed; to prepare legal
notices as needed; and, to assist with other legal matters as directed by the Board. The
FY 2021-22 budgeted amount of $27,775 and includes the following:
•

General services: $19,525, an increase of $8,928 from FY 2020-21 budget.

•

Collection Procurement: $8,250, unbudgeted in FY 2020-21 budget. Provide legal
advice during the RFP process to secure collection services in 2024.

Public Education and Outreach – This expenditure is for outreach related to the
upcoming implementation of SB1383. It is partially funded from liquidated damages
received from WVC&R in prior years.
WVC&R Annual Payment - As part of the franchise agreement with WVC&R that began
March 1, 2014, the Authority receives a payment of $450,000 annually ($4,500,000 over
the term of the agreement). Consistent with FY 2020-21, the payment will be disbursed
to each Member Agency proportionally based on population.
Accounting and Bookkeeping – This expenditure is for the services of the City of
Campbell’s Finance Department staff for accounting and bookkeeping support. The
budgeted amount has been increased by CPI of 2.00% for FY 2021-22 compared to FY
2020-21.
Liability Insurance – This expenditure is for general liability and public officials’ errors
and omissions insurance. This amount reflects an increase by CPI of 2.00% in the
premium for FY 2021-22 compared to FY 2020-21.
Mileage and Meeting Expense – This expenditure is for Board Member attendance at
relevant industry conferences during the year. The budgeted amount is to be used to
provide for increased attendance by Board Members to allow them to become more
familiar with solid waste issues as the end of the WVC&R contract term approaches. The
budgeted amount was reduced by 50% from the prior year’s budget.

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
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Website Administration – This expenditure is for maintaining the Authority’s website
(www.wvswma.org). The budget includes registration fees as well as other services
required to maintain the website. The budgeted amount was increased by CPI of 2.00%
for FY 2021-22 compared to FY 2020-21.
Professional Services – This expenditure is for other professional services or studies (e.g.,
engineering consulting services and/or litigation services) authorized by the Board. The
budgeted amount is the same as prior years’ budgets.
Audit Services – This expenditure is for audit services required by Article 5.B of the Joint
Powers Agreement. The budgeted amount was decreased for FY 2021-22 by 43% based
on actual costs expenditures in prior years.
Projected Member Agency Assessments
The following table shows the Member Agencies’ projected five-year assessments under
various scenarios related to the extension of the current agreement:
Fund Balance
The current policy the Board established is to maintain in its fund balance an operating
reserve of $100,000 and a rate stabilization reserve of $100,000.
The following tables show the Member Agencies’ projected five-year assessments.
Table 1-A: Projected Five-Year Assessment by Member Agency

Agency
Campbell
Los Gatos
Monte Sereno
Saratoga

Approved
Fiscal Year
2020-21
$
117,487
$
84,178
$
10,287
$
85,316

Proposed
Fiscal Year
2021-22
$
141,518
$
105,211
$
12,027
$
103,842

Proposed
Fiscal Year
2022-23
$
178,982
$
133,064
$
15,211
$
131,333

Proposed
Fiscal Year
2023-24
$
128,737
$
95,710
$
10,941
$
94,465

Proposed
Fiscal Year
2024-25
$
111,326
$
82,765
$
9,461
$
81,688

Proposed
Fiscal Year
2025-26
$ 113,471
$
84,360
$
9,644
$
83,262

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
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DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Resolution 2021-05
FY 2021-22 Proposed Budget
FISCAL IMPACT
The attached FY 2021-22 proposed budget shows the expected assessment for each
Member Agency resulting from the proposed budget.

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-05
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE WEST VALLEY SOLID
WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY APPROVING THE BUDGET FOR FISCAL
YEAR 2021-22
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY that the document entitled “Fiscal Year
2021-22 Budget” a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference is hereby approved.
This resolution was passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of the West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority at a meeting on the 6th day of May 2021, by
the following vote:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
Approved:

__________________________
Paul Resnikoff, Chairperson

Attest:

__________________________
Marva M. Sheehan, Executive Director
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WVSWMA
Fiscal Year 2021-22
Budget
Expenditures

Services and Supplies
Consultant - Executive Director:
- General Services
- SB 1383 Regulatory Compliance
- Detailed Rate Review (FY21-22)
- Contract Negotiations (Disposal Agreement)
- Contract Negotiations (Collections Agreement)
Legal Services
SB1383 Education and Outreach
Record Keeping and Reporting
WVC&R Annual Payment to Agencies
Accounting & Bookkeeping
Liability Insurance
Consumable Supplies & Postage
Countywide Program Support
Mileage & Meeting Expense
Website Administration
Professional Services
Audit Services
Total Expenditures

Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Budgeted Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2015-16
2016-17
2017-18
2018-19
2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23
2023-24
2024-25
2025-26

$

76,465 $

84,332 $

87,258 $

129,744 $ 132,340 $ 134,987 $
35,000
35,700
36,414
150,000
50,000
28,331
19,897
20,295
35,000
10,000
10,200
56,200
57,324
58,471
450,000
300,000
9,748
9,943
10,142
2,843
2,900
2,958
2,000
2,000
2,000
1,225
1,249
1,274
5,000
5,000
5,000
3,500
3,500
3,500
908,591 $ 629,853 $ 285,241 $

137,687
37,143
20,701
10,404
59,641
10,345
3,017
2,000
1,300
5,000
3,500
290,737

Campbell
$ 45,302 $ 46,613 $ 49,336 $ 69,653 $ 42,680 $ 117,487 $ 141,518 $ 178,982 $ 128,737 $ 111,326 $
Los Gatos
33,914
34,895
36,351
51,049
30,590
84,178
105,211
133,064
95,710
82,765
10,941
9,461
Monte Sereno
3,835
3,946
4,026
5,707
3,629
10,287
12,027
15,211
Saratoga
34,429
35,425
35,011
49,835
31,424
85,316
103,842
131,333
94,465
81,688
Other - Reimb. of Contract Negotiations
Other - Reimb of Detailed Rate Review
75,485
Carryforward of Liquidated Damages Assessment
15,965
Annual Payment to Authority
450,000
450,000
450,000
450,000
450,000
450,000
450,000
450,000
300,000
Other Revenue from WVC&R
7,200
1,200
5,000
Investment Income
999
2,311
3,458
7,205
7,936
Total Revenues
$ 575,679 $ 574,390 $ 578,182 $ 638,450 $ 566,259 $ 763,234 $ 888,084 $ 908,591 $ 629,853 $ 285,241 $

113,471
84,360
9,644
83,262
290,737

2,080
820
5,593
450,000
450,000
450,000
7,958
9,411
8,501
1,156
2,787
2,944
6,535
2,565
2,630
2,695
$ 546,759 $ 549,980 $ 556,991

98,625 $ 109,430 $ 110,620 $ 127,200 $
99,430
60,890
75,485
32,360
49,200
66,235
50,030
6,940
8,900
22,597
27,775
15,965
50,000
60,000
450,000
450,000
450,000
450,000
9,369
9,557
1,377
3,605
2,732
2,787
500
1,000
4,000
2,000
1,177
1,201
5,000
5,000
2,830
2,970
6,167
3,500
$ 592,132 $ 624,105 $ 794,793 $ 925,425 $

Revenues

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures

$

Beginning Fund Balance

$ 200,636 $ 229,556 $ 253,966 $ 275,157 $ 321,475 $ 231,559 $ 237,341 $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $

200,000

Ending Fund Balance

$ 229,556 $ 253,966 $ 275,157 $ 321,475 $ 274,604 $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $

200,000

28,920 $

24,410 $

21,191 $

46,318 $ (46,871) $ (31,559) $ (37,341) $

-

$

-

$

-

$

-
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MEETING DATE:

WEST VALLEY
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AGENDA REPORT

Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

Guadalupe Landfill Disposal Rate Increase

`

11

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Approve Resolution 2021-06 ratifying the Guadalupe Landfill contractual disposal rate
increase effective July 1, 2021.
DISCUSSION
Background

On January 1, 2006, the Waste Disposal, Organic Waste and Construction and Demolition
Debris Processing Agreement between Guadalupe Rubbish and Disposal Company, Inc.
(Waste Management) and the West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
established rates for the disposal of solid waste and the processing of yard waste and
construction and demolition debris (C&D). The agreement calls for CPI-based
adjustments to be made effective July 1 of each year. The Agreement ends on December
31, 2021. This Resolution is to ratify the disposal rates through the end of the current
Agreement. A new Disposal and Processing Agreement will begin on January 1, 2022
with the rates were included for the period January 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023.
Proposed Adjustment
On April 26, 2021, Waste Management presented its calculation of the allowed
adjustment based on the December 2019 to December 2020 change in the Consumer Price
Index of 2.00%. The overall disposal or processing rates are composed of two elements:
the proprietary rate; and, per-ton governmental fees. The agreement allows an annual
adjustment to the proprietary disposal rate, yard waste processing rate, and C&D
processing rate equal to 90% of the change in CPI, or 1.80%.
The proprietary disposal, yard waste, and C&D rates increase by 1.80% as per the
Agreement.
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Table 1 compares the July 1, 2020 proprietary rates to the July 1, 2021 proprietary rates.
Table 1
Guadalupe Landfill Proprietary Rates

July 1, 2020
Disposal
Yard Waste
Construction & Demolition Debris

$
$
$

July 1, 2021

28.70
43.08
51.61

$29.22
$43.86
$52.54

% Change
1.8%
1.8%
1.8%

The current and anticipated governmental fee portion of the disposal rate is shown below
in Table 2. For Disposal, all fees in Table 2 are added to the Proprietary Rate. For Yard
Waste and C&D Debris, only the City of SJ SW Enforcement Fee is added.
Table 2
Guadalupe Landfill Governmental Fees

July 1, 2020
State AB 122 Fee
SCC AB 939 / HHW Fee
SCC Solid Waste Planning Fee
City of SJ Business Tax
City of SJ SW Enforcement Fee
Total Fees

$
$
$
$
$
$

1.40
4.10
0.78
13.00
0.48
19.76

July 1, 2021
$
$
$
$
$
$

1.40
4.10
0.78
13.00
0.52
19.80

% Change
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
8.3%
0.2%

Recommendation
I have reviewed Waste Management’s calculation of the contractual rate adjustment and
find that it was calculated in accordance with the terms of the agreement. I recommend
that the Board approve Resolution 2021-06 ratifying the Guadalupe Landfill contractual
disposal rate increase effective July 1, 2021.
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Resolution 2021-06
FISCAL IMPACT
The disposal rate increases are reflected in the proposed rates calculated by WVC&R as
shown in Agenda Item #12.

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-06
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
RATIFYING FY 2020-21 RATES FOR THE DISPOSAL OF SOLID WASTE AND
THE PROCESSING OF YARD WASTE AND CONSTRUCTION AND
DEMOLITION DEBRIS
WHEREAS, the West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority
("Authority") is an agency created pursuant to Government Code section 6500 et
seq. to manage and oversee the collection, disposal and recycling of solid waste
originating in the Cities of Campbell, Monte Sereno, Saratoga and the Town of Los
Gatos ("Member Agencies"); and
WHEREAS, the Authority entered into the Waste Disposal, Organic Waste
and Construction and Demolition Debris Processing Agreement between
Guadalupe Rubbish and Disposal Company, Inc. (The “Company”) and the West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority, which established rates for the disposal
of solid waste and the processing of yard waste and construction and demolition
debris from January 1, 2006, through June 30, 2007; and
WHEREAS, the Agreement provides for the rates to be increased by the
Consumers Price Index on July 1 of each year; and
WHEREAS, the Companies submitted the rate adjustment calculations in
accordance with the agreements for Fiscal Year 21-22; and
WHEREAS, the Executive Director has reviewed the calculations and
determined they are consistent with the terms of the Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY that:
1.

The Authority finds that the rates contained in the attached rate
schedules have been calculated in accordance with the Agreement.

2.

The attached rates are hereby ratified and effective July 1, 2021.

1

This resolution was passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of the
West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority at a regular scheduled meeting
on the 6th day of May, 2021, by the following vote:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
Approved:_____________________________
Paul Resnikoff, Chairperson
Attest:_________________________________
Marva M. Sheehan, Executive Director

2

FY 2021-22 RATES FOR THE DISPOSAL OF SOLID WASTE AND THE
PROCESSING OF YARD WASTE AND CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION
DEBRIS
Guadalupe Landfill Proprietary Rates per Ton
Rate
FY 21-22
Disposal
$29.22
Yard Waste
$43.86
Construction & Demolition Debris
$52.54
Guadalupe Landfill Governmental Fees per Ton
Fee
FY 21-22
State AB 1220 Fee
$1.40
SCC AB 939 Fee / HHW Fee
$4.10
SCC Solid Waste Planning Fee
$0.78
City of SJ Business Tax
$13.00
City of SJ SW Enforcement Fee
$0.52
Total Fees
$19.80

3
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WEST VALLEY
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
AUTHORITY
Date:

May 6, 2021

To:

West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority Board

From:

Executive Director

Subject:

Proposed Rates Effective July 1, 2021

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Approve Resolution 2021-07 ratifying the West Valley Collection & Recycling, LLC
(WVC&R) contractual collection rate increase effective July 1, 2021.
DISCUSSION
Background
At a special meeting on May 28, 2020, the Board ratified rates for solid waste collection
services under its contract with WVC&R effective July 1, 2020. The ratified residential
rates are shown in Table 1.
Table 1
Residential Collection Rates
Effective July 1, 2020

Campbell
20-gallon
35-gallon
65-gallon
95-gallon

$
$
$
$

26.38
33.33
62.80
92.28

Los Gatos
$
$
$
$

27.69
35.16
66.46
97.77

M onte Sereno
$
$
$
$

29.60
37.53
71.22
104.90

Saratoga
$
$
$
$

28.11
35.58
67.31
99.04

WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
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Contractual Rate Adjustment
The contract with WVC&R calls for Consumer Price Index (CPI) based adjustments to
be made effective July 1 of each year. On February 26, 2021, WVC&R presented its
calculation of the allowed adjustment based on the December 2019 to December 2020
change in the CPI of 2.00%. The agreement allows an adjustment to the collection rates
equal to 80% of the change in the CPI, or 1.60%. In addition, there are other factors that
impact the rates, as discussed below.
Disposal and Processing Rate Adjustment
As discussed in Agenda Item #11, Resolution 2021-06, the proprietary rate portion of the
landfill rate is increasing by 1.80% per ton effective July 1, 2021 to $29.22 on tons
disposed (MSW) and is increased to $34.70 per ton effective January 1, 2022, under the
new disposal and processing agreement with Waste Management. A blended rate of
$31.96 has been used in the FY 2021-2022 rate calculations to reflect the mid fiscal year
start date of January 1, 2022. The governmental fees charged on each ton disposed is
$19.80 per ton effective July 1, 2021.
The yard waste composting rate will be $43.86 per ton effective July 1, 2021. Under the
new disposal and processing agreement with Waste Management, the per ton mixed
organics processing rate is $79.32 effective January 1, 2022. The January 1, 2022 increase
incorporates a higher mixed organics processing rate due to the inclusion of food scraps
with the yard waste as required by SB 1383. A blended rate of $61.33 has been used in
the FY 2021-2022 rate calculations to reflect the mid fiscal year start date of January 1,
2022. The governmental fee on yard waste and mixed organics is limited to the City of
San Jose Enforcement Fee. The City of San Jose Enforcement Fee is $0.52 per ton effective
July 1, 2021.
The C&D rate will be $52.54 per ton effective July 1, 2021. Under the new disposal and
processing agreement with Waste Management, the C&D processing rate is $59.86 per
ton effective January 1, 2022. A blended rate of $55.94 has been used in the FY 2021-2022
rate calculations to reflect the mid fiscal year start date of January 1, 2022. The
governmental fee on C&D is limited to the City of San Jose Enforcement Fee. The City of
San Jose Enforcement Fee is $0.52 per ton effective July 1, 2021.
WVC&R delivered approximately 78,000 tons of material to Guadalupe Landfill in 2020
(January 1 through December 31, 2020). Of that total, approximately 69% was or MSW,
30% for yard waste, and 1% for C&D. A weighted average for the material composition
was applied to each material rate adjustment for an average rate adjustment of 17.64%.
This adjustment reflects six months of the rates from the new disposal and processing
agreement.
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Landfill charges are a component of the total collection rate as prescribed in the
collection contract. Therefore, the collection rates must be adjusted to include the ratified
landfill rate.
SB 1383 Adjustment
The proposed rates include added costs necessary to comply with SB 1383 regulations
effective January 1, 2022. These costs include:
1. WVC&R Amendment
a. Expansion processing requirements for compliance with Title 14
requirements;
b. Option for C&D materials to be delivered to high diversion facilities;
c. Purchase and distribute food pails to single-family and multi-family
generators;
d. Updated container colors and labeling;
e. Annual noticing to all generators and commercial edible food generators;
f. Annual route reviews by WVC&R to review a selection of generators’
containers and document contamination for subsequent noticing to the
individual generator if determine to out of compliance; and,
g. Monthly reporting to maintain an accurate and up-to-date
Implementation Record for CalRecycle.
2. Processing costs for organic materials
a. Residential now has food with green trimmings
b. Expansion of organics collection to multi-family dwellings
3. Authority will assist each Member Agency in
a. Monitoring container colors and labeling;
b. Generator waiver verifications;
c. Mandatory ordinance adoptions;
d. Procurement policies;
e. Outreach programs for single-family, multi-family, and commercial
customers, edible food generators, and self-haulers;
f. Inspection Protocols;
g. CalRecycle Initial Compliance Report;
h. CalRecycle Implementation Record;
i. Contamination monitoring protocol; and,
j. Recordkeeping to meet CalRecycle requirements, including the testing
and verification of data in the recordkeeping database.
4. Member Agency specific costs
a. Additional staff time to administer SB 1383 (Campbell & Los Gatos)
The following Table summarizes the SB 1383 cost adjustment for 35-gallon residential
service, the most common service level.
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Table 2
SB 1383 Costs by Category – 35 Gallon Residential Service
Campbell

Los Gatos

M onte Sereno

Saratoga

(1)

$

1.85 $

1.85 $

1.85 $

1.85

Mixed Organics Processing
JPA Administration Costs
Agency Administration Costs
Total SB 1383 Cost Adjustments

$
$
$
$

1.33
0.08
0.10
3.36

1.38
0.07
0.31
3.61

1.60
0.12
3.57

1.54
0.10
3.49

WVC&R Collection Amendment
(1)

(1)

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

Includes 19% Franchise Fee

Street Sweeping and Sanitation, HHW, and JPA Costs Adjustments
At its May 3, 2012 meeting, the Board discussed the inclusion of street sweeping and
sanitation costs, HHW collection costs, and the administrative costs of the Authority to
the collection rates. Each Member Agency determines the cost recovery basis for the
work the Agencies provide related to solid waste collection services and provide those
amounts for inclusion in the rate setting process.
Street Sweeping and Sanitation
Beginning in FY 2014-15, the Town of Los Gatos and the City of Campbell have elected
to include, as a part of the Street Sweeping program, additional costs for tree trimming
along the agencies’ streets (to prevent damage from WVC&R’s trucks). The Town of Los
Gatos also included trash reduction costs to offset litter pick-up from trash escaping
WVC&R’s trucks. The Town of Los Gatos adjusted its costs for FY 2021-22 with an
increase of $8,615. The City of Campbell did not adjust it costs for FY 2021-22.
HHW Fee
For FY 2021-22, the County of Santa Clara updated its HHW fee augmentation to
Member Agencies. Most of the Member Agencies’ HHW costs are funded through the
regulatory charges at the landfill. The HHW fee augmentation is for funding surpluses
or shortfalls at the County operated HHW facility and is allocated to agencies based on
customer participation and tonnage collected.
JPA Costs
All four Member Agencies adjusted JPA administrative costs based on the new JPA
budget included in which includes costs on-going Authority-related costs, including the
cost-based rate review and start of the collection agreement procurement process as well
as those costs related to SB 1383 implementation and compliance.
Beginning in FY 2013-14, the City of Campbell and the Town of Los Gatos elected to
increase JPA costs to administer its solid waste management responsibilities including
agency staff time and other related costs. The costs have since increased annually by the
change in CPI.
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For FY 2021-22 the City of Campbell elected to increase its JPA costs by $36,212 and the
Town of Los Gatos increased its JPA costs by $93,980, in anticipation of additional
funding required for SB 1383 implementation and compliance.
Refuse Vehicle Road Impact Charge Adjustment
A refuse vehicle road impact charge to WVC&R to provide funds to mitigate the damage
caused by heavy collection vehicles on the Member Agencies’ streets has been included
in WVC&R’s calculation of FY 2021-22 rates.
The cost for the Town of Los Gatos was increased by $126,124 for FY 2021-22 based on
the most recent Refuse Vehicle Road Impact Study. With the increase, the Town of Los
Gatos is fully funded based on the most recent study.
The City of Campbell is fully funded based on the most recent Refuse Vehicle Road
Impact Study and did not increase the charge for FY 2021-22.
The City of Saratoga is also fully funded based on the most recent Refuse Vehicle Road
Impact Study. However, it has the option to adjust its charge, once fully funded, based
on the change in the Construction Cost Index (CCI) for the San Francisco area. The City
of Saratoga elected to increase its charge in FY 2021-22 by $69,651 based on the
cumulative annual change in the CCI since its most recent study was completed.
The City of Monte Sereno completed a Refuse Vehicle Road Impact Study in FY 2017-18
but has elected to not charge WVC&R in the past or in FY 2021-22.
WVC&R allocates the increase in the vehicle impact charges across all lines of business.
The following table summarizes the solid waste-related agency costs that are included
in the rates. The costs are a component of the rates paid by WVC&R’s customers and
WVC&R remits the appropriate amount to each Member Agency. It should be noted all
SB 1383-related costs identified in Table 2 are included in the Table 3 with the on-going
costs.
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Table 3
Summary of Agency Recovered Costs

Current
Street Maintenance
Proposed
Costs
Proposed Change
Current
HHW Costs
Proposed
Proposed Change
Current
JPA Administrative
Proposed
Costs
Proposed Change
Current
Refuse Vehicle
Proposed
Road Impact
Charge
Proposed Change
Current
Total Recovered
Proposed
Costs
Proposed Change

Campbell

Los Gatos

$ 278,905
$ 278,905
$
$ 26,104
$ 45,525
$ 19,421
$ 153,750
$ 214,718
$ 60,968
$ 477,600
$ 477,600
$
$ 936,360
$ 1,016,748
$ 80,388

$ 430,780
$ 439,395
$
8,615
$ 57,896
$ 66,018
$
8,122
$ 120,441
$ 236,180
$ 115,739
$ 745,676
$ 871,800
$ 126,124
$ 1,354,794
$ 1,613,393
$ 258,599

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

M onte
Sereno

11,285
11,138
(147)
10,287
12,027
1,740
21,573
23,165
1,593

Saratoga
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

100,000
100,000
42,276
45,244
2,968
85,316
103,842
18,526
351,300
420,951
69,651
578,892
670,037
91,146

Franchise Fees
WVC&R pays each Member Agency a 19% franchise fee on gross revenue collected
within each Member Agency. However, the collection rates have many components but
not all components are included in the franchise fee.
Rate components that are included in the franchise fee include:
•
•
•
•

Collection costs for residential and commercial; solid waste, recycling, and
organics;
Disposal and Processing costs;
SB 1383 new program costs; and,
Refuse Vehicle Road Impact Charges.

Rate components that are considered pass-through and excluded from the franchise fee
include:
•
•
•

Street sweeping and related costs;
HHW costs;
JPA costs; and,
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The recycling markets adjustment added for FY 2020-21.

The attached rate schedules include the approved franchise fee of 19% for the applicable
rate components.
Total Rate Adjustment
Table 3 shows the calculated rates for a 35-gallon residential customer (the most common
service level), including all the relevant adjustments discussed above.
Table 4
35-Gallon Cart Comparison
Proposed vs. Current
Current FY 2020-21
New Disposal Agreement Additional
Adjustment (1)
Contractual Adjustment
SB 1383 Adjustment

(1)

(2)
(3) (4)

Cost Recovery Charges
JPA Administrative Costs
Proposed FY 2021-22
Annual Change
(1)

$

Campbell
Los Gatos
M onte Sereno
Saratoga
33.33 $
35.16 $
37.53 $
35.58

$

0.28 $

0.26 $

0.35 $

0.31

$

0.40 $

0.41 $

0.50 $

0.45

$

3.36 $

3.61 $

3.57 $

3.49

$
$
$
$

0.05
(0.01)
37.41
4.08

$
$
$
$

0.67
0.00
40.11
4.95

$
$
$
$

0.00
(0.03)
41.92
4.39

$
$
$
$

0.44
(0.01)
40.25
4.67

Includes 19% Franchise Fee
Includes 19% Franchise Fee on WVC& R Collections Costs and Organics Processing Costs
(3)
Includes 19% Franchise Fee on Refuse Vehicle Road Impact Charge
(4)
Cost Recovery Charges Include Refuse Vehicle Road Impact Charge, Street Maintenance, and HHW Fee Augmentation
(2)

Construction and Demolition Debris Surcharge
Over the past few years, the Board has received requests from businesses in the Member
Agencies to allow for C&D to be delivered to and processed at facilities offering higher
diversion levels. The materials are currently delivered to the Guadalupe Landfill,
restricting businesses from gaining LEED certifications. The amendment to the collection
contract with WVC&R allows customers to select an alternative facility with higher
diversion levels. Customers who choose to have materials taken to these high diversion
facilities will be charged a Construction and Demolition Debris Surcharge, which
includes the additional time and processing costs at the facility.
Exhibit 1, attached to this report, shows the rates for all service categories.
Exhibit 2 is a rate survey for Santa Clara County. The Member Agencies’ rates included
in the survey reflect the proposed July 1, 2021 rates adjusted for SB 1383 and related
costs. Rates for other jurisdiction are based on the most recent information available,
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which may not include adjustments for SB 1383. As a result, it is difficult to compare the
Member Agencies with the rest of the county.
This survey is presented as an indication of the reasonableness of the resulting rates
compared to neighboring jurisdictions. Rate comparisons are intrinsically difficult and
often misleading. This difficulty results from differences in issues such as:
•
•
•
•
•

The services provided;
The terrain in which the service is performed;
Disposal /processing costs;
Rate structures; and,
Governmental fees (e.g., franchise fees, refuse vehicle impact costs, etc.).

Recommendation
I recommend that the Board approve Resolution 2021-07 ratifying the calculated rates
effective July 1, 2021.
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Resolution 2021-07
Exhibit 1 – FY 2021-22 Rates
Exhibit 2 – Rate Survey
FISCAL IMPACT
None

Marva M. Sheehan
Executive Director

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-07
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
RATIFYING FY 2021-22 RATES FOR THE COLLECTION OF SOLID WASTE,
RECYCLABLE MATERIALS, GREEN WASTE, FOOD WASTE, AND
CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION DEBRIS
WHEREAS, the West Valley Solid Waste Management Authority ("Authority") is
an agency created pursuant to Government Code section 6500 et seq. to manage and
oversee the collection, disposal and recycling of solid waste originating in the cities of
Campbell, Monte Sereno, Saratoga, and the Town of Los Gatos ("Member Agencies");
and
WHEREAS, the Authority entered into the Agreement between West Valley Solid
Waste Management Authority and West Valley Collection & Recycling, LLC (the
“Company”) for the Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, Food
Scraps, and Construction and Demolition Debris, the Transportation of Such Materials
to Appropriate Places of Processing, Recycling, Composting, and/or Disposal and the
Processing of Recyclable Materials (the “Agreement”), which established rates for the
collection and disposal of solid waste, green waste, recyclable materials and
construction and demolition debris; and
WHEREAS, the Agreement provides for the rates to be increased by the
Consumer Price Index on July 1 of each year; and
WHEREAS, the Company submitted the rate adjustment calculations in
accordance with the agreements for Fiscal Year 2021-22; and
WHEREAS, the Executive Director has reviewed the calculations and determined
that they are consistent with the terms of the Agreement; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Agreement, the Company is entitled to include in
the rate calculations various costs associated or created by the collection of solid
waste, recyclable materials, green waste, and construction and demolition debris; and
WHEREAS, California law requires jurisdictions to provide household hazardous
waste collection and disposal services to their residents and the County of Santa Clara
fulfills this requirement for the Member Agencies by operating a household hazardous
waste program and facility to provide waste generators the opportunity to divert
household hazardous waste materials from the solid waste stream in accordance with
State law. This program has been funded by a landfill tipping fee but, due to the
decline in tonnage delivered to the landfills, revenues have declined and, with
increasing volumes of household hazardous waste delivered to the County facilities,
expenses have increased; and

WHEREAS, a Municipal Regional Stormwater NPDES Permit (“MRP”) was
adopted by the San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Board (“Water Board”) on
October 14, 2009, and covers stormwater discharges from municipalities and local
agencies in Alameda, Contra Costa, San Mateo, and Santa Clara counties, and the cities
of Fairfield, Suisun City, and Vallejo. Under the MRP, the Member Agencies must
eliminate all solid waste from their stormwater system by 2022 with an interim milestone
target of reducing the current level to 70% or more before 2017. In order to meet this
standard, the amount of litter on the streets must be reduced before it enters the storm
drain system and is discharged into the Bay. A significant amount of litter in the streets
is a direct result of solid waste generator behavior (i.e., improper and/or illegal discard of
waste materials, leaving solid waste and recycling container lids open, failing to utilize
public litter containers, spilling materials during collection from containers without
immediately cleaning the area, and failing to properly place materials and/or containers
for collection). The cumulative impact of these behaviors results in “trash load” (i.e., litter
and debris) in the City’s stormwater system which must be reduced, and ultimately
eliminated, in order to fulfill the MRP requirements. This can be reduced by street
sweeping programs that collect material from streets and gutters, thereby preventing
such debris and litter from entering the stormwater collection system; and
WHEREAS, the Public Resources Code requires cities to make adequate
provisions for Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, Green Waste, and Construction and
Demolition Debris handling. The Cities through their Joint Exercise of Powers
Agreement delegated to the JPA this obligation. The JPA has the authority and
obligation to adopt annually, by July 1 of each fiscal year, a budget setting forth all
administrative, operational and capital expense for the Authority, together with the
apportionment of such expenses by levy against each Member Agency to the extent
necessary. The expenses of the JPA for regulatory monitoring and compliance and
contract management are directly related to the collection of solid waste, recyclable
materials, green waste and construction and demolition debris.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY THAT:
1.
The Authority finds that the rates contained in the attached rate schedules
have been calculated in accordance with the Agreement.
2.

The attached rates (Exhibit 1) are hereby ratified and effective July 1, 2021.

This resolution was passed and adopted by the Board of Directors of the West
Valley Solid Waste Management Authority at a meeting on the 6th day of May, 2021, by
the following vote:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
Approved: _____________________________
Paul Resnikoff, Chairperson
Attest:

________________________________
Marva M. Sheehan, Executive Director
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Exhibit 1

West Valley Collection & Recycling
West Valley Cities Rates

Rates Effective July 1, 2021
Campbell

Los Gatos

Saratoga

Monte Sereno

Residential
Regular:
20-gallon
35-gallon
65-gallon
95-gallon

$
$
$
$

30.25
37.41
67.72
98.04

$
$
$
$

32.23
40.11
73.07
106.03

$
$
$
$

33.76
41.92
76.48
111.03

$
$
$
$

32.48
40.26
73.20
106.14

Sr. Citizen:
20-gallon
35-gallon

$
$

27.24
33.69

$
$

-

$
$

-

$
$

-

Low Income:
20-gallon
35-gallon

$
$

-

$
$

31.99
38.45

$
$

-

$
$

-

172.62
347.72
522.81
697.91
873.00
1,048.09
39.84
40.41

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

214.01
431.17
648.33
865.49
1,082.65
1,299.81
50.09
50.82

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

229.53
462.40
695.28
928.15
1,161.02
1,393.89
52.97
53.74

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

245.22
494.17
743.12
992.06
1,241.01
1,489.96
56.59
57.45

230.16
463.62
697.08
930.54
1,164.00
1,397.46
53.11
53.88

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

285.34
574.89
864.44
1,153.99
1,443.54
1,733.08
66.79
67.76

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

306.04
616.54
927.04
1,237.53
1,548.03
1,858.52
70.63
71.65

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

326.96
658.89
990.82
1,322.75
1,654.68
1,986.61
75.45
76.60

345.24
695.43
1,045.62
1,395.81
1,746.00
2,096.19
79.67
80.81

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

428.02
862.34
1,296.66
1,730.98
2,165.30
2,599.63
100.19
101.64

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

459.06
924.81
1,390.55
1,856.30
2,322.04
2,787.79
105.94
107.48

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

490.44
988.34
1,486.23
1,984.13
2,482.02
2,979.92
113.18
114.90

460.33
927.25
1,394.16
1,861.09
2,328.02
2,794.93
106.22
107.76

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

570.69
1,149.85
1,728.99
2,308.12
2,887.26
3,466.38
133.58
135.52

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

612.09
1,233.11
1,854.13
2,475.15
3,096.17
3,717.16
141.26
143.32

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

653.92
1,317.92
1,981.86
2,645.79
3,309.74
3,973.68
150.92
153.20

Commercial
Commercial-1.5 Yards
1 p/u per week
$
2 p/u per week
$
3 p/u per week
$
4 p/u per week
$
5 p/u per week
$
6 p/u per week
$
Extra Dump
$
Saturday Dump
$
Commercial-2 Yards
1 p/u per week
$
2 p/u per week
$
3 p/u per week
$
4 p/u per week
$
5 p/u per week
$
6 p/u per week
$
Extra Dump
$
Saturday Dump
$
Commercial-3 Yards
1 p/u per week
$
2 p/u per week
$
3 p/u per week
$
4 p/u per week
$
5 p/u per week
$
6 p/u per week
$
Extra Dump
$
Saturday Dump
$
Commercial-4 Yards
1 p/u per week
$
2 p/u per week
$
3 p/u per week
$
4 p/u per week
$
5 p/u per week
$
6 p/u per week
$
Extra Dump
$
$
Saturday Dump

West Valley Collection & Recycling
West Valley Cities Rates

Rates Effective July 1, 2021
Campbell
Commercial-6 Yards
1 p/u per week
$
2 p/u per week
$
3 p/u per week
$
4 p/u per week
$
5 p/u per week
$
6 p/u per week
$
Extra Dump
$
Saturday Dump
$

Los Gatos

Saratoga

Monte Sereno

690.49
1,390.87
2,091.24
2,791.62
3,492.00
4,192.38
159.34
161.63

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

856.03
1,724.68
2,593.32
3,461.96
4,330.61
5,199.25
200.37
203.29

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

918.13
1,849.62
2,781.11
3,712.59
4,644.08
5,575.57
211.88
214.96

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

980.88
1,976.67
2,972.46
3,968.25
4,964.04
5,959.83
226.36
229.80

17.26
34.52
51.79
69.05
86.31
103.57
120.83
138.10
155.36
207.14
224.41
258.93
310.72
379.76
466.07
517.86
586.91
742.27
863.10
932.15

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

21.40
42.79
64.19
85.58
106.98
128.38
149.77
171.17
192.57
256.75
278.15
320.94
385.13
470.71
577.70
641.88
727.47
920.03
1,069.81
1,155.39

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

22.95
45.91
68.86
91.81
114.76
137.72
160.67
183.62
206.58
275.43
298.39
344.29
413.15
504.96
619.73
688.59
780.40
986.97
1,147.64
1,239.46

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

24.52
49.04
73.56
98.09
122.61
147.13
171.65
196.17
220.69
294.26
318.78
367.82
441.39
539.48
662.08
735.65
833.74
1,054.43
1,226.08
1,324.17

Debris Box (cu. yds.)
8*
$
558.08
20
$
744.87
30
$
899.71
40
$
1,054.56
0 - Special - Woodwas $
640.38
*plus actual disposal charge

$
$
$
$
$

608.11
833.23
1,007.97
1,182.71
691.39

$
$
$
$
$

547.75
735.72
898.79
1,061.85
640.29

$
$
$
$
$

572.61
768.87
927.51
1,086.15
653.67

Commercial-Cans
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
12
13
15
18
22
27
30
34
43
50
54

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Depris Box to LEAD Facility- (Rate + Disposal Charge from Facility)
8
646.49 $
695.14 $
621.83 $
662.77
20
684.80 $
768.76 $
642.85 $
712.79
30
707.75 $
809.41 $
657.63 $
741.54
40
730.71 $
850.07 $
672.41 $
770.29
Approved Facilities: Newby LF, Zanker Processing / LF & Premier Recycling
Compactor (cu. yds.)
10
$
12
$
15
$
16
$
18
$
20
$
25
$
26
$
28
$
30
$
36
$
40
$

740.62
801.70
893.33
923.87
1,046.04
1,198.76
1,229.30
1,290.39
1,351.47
1,534.73
1,656.90

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

825.58
893.94
996.49
1,030.67
1,091.68
1,167.41
1,338.32
1,372.50
1,440.87
1,509.23
1,714.33
1,851.06

$
$
$
$

696.50
753.89
839.96
868.65

$
$
$
$

768.87
832.33
927.51
959.24

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

983.42
1,126.88
1,155.57
1,212.95
1,270.34
1,442.49
1,557.25

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1,086.15
1,244.80
1,276.52
1,339.98
1,403.44
1,593.81
1,720.72

West Valley Collection & Recycling
West Valley Cities Rates

Rates Effective July 1, 2021
Campbell

Los Gatos

Saratoga

Monte Sereno

FEL 2CY Compactor
1 p/u per week
$
2 p/u per week
$
3 p/u per week
$
4 p/u per week
$
5 p/u per week
$
6 p/u per week
$

309.33
621.21
933.56
1,558.30
1,868.56

$
$
$
$
$
$

369.55
743.26
1,117.01
1,487.57
1,858.23
2,228.42

$
$
$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$
$
$

FEL 3CY Compactor
1 p/u per week
$
2 p/u per week
$
3 p/u per week
$
4 p/u per week
$
5 p/u per week
$
6 p/u per week
$

458.25
921.69
1,385.11
2,062.29
2,530.04

$
$
$
$
$
$

554.37
1,114.90
1,670.89
2,229.43
-

$
$
$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$
$
$

625.54
1,258.15
1,890.77
-

604.59
1,204.02
1,805.21

$
$
$
$

739.08
1,486.53
2,231.94
2,977.37

$
$
$

-

$
$
$

834.04
1,677.57
2,521.10

590.95
774.03

$
$

661.14
-

$
$

-

$
$

639.93
734.10

FEL 4CY Compactor
1 p/u per week
$
2 p/u per week
$
3 p/u per week
$
4 p/u per week
Yard Waste Box
20
40

$
$

-

Exhibit 1

West Valley Collection & Recycling
Rates Effective July 1, 2021

MISCELLANEOUS RESIDENTIAL CHARGES
CHARGE

EXTRA Y/W CART (PER MONTH, UP TO 95-GALLONS, IN EXCESS OF THREE 95-GALLON CARTS)

START/STOP CHARGE (1 MONTH MINIMUM)
FIRST TIME SPECIAL PICK-UP (up to 3 items, limited to approved items) ( RESI Customers Only)

AMOUNT
$13.80
$13.44
$20.40

EXTRA PICKUP - RESI ONLY

$20.40

SPECIAL PICK-UP (UP TO 3 ITEMS; LIMITED TO APPROVED ITEMS)
Extra Stickers
AUTOMATIC BILL PAY

$106.12
$7.37
NO CHARGE

3-YARD “RENT-ME” SERVICE
4-YARD “RENT-ME” SERVICE

$268.84
$297.13

MISCELLANEOUS COMMERCIAL CHARGES
KEY/PUSH-OUT**
DIST IN FT

1

2

0-25 (LOCKS)
$25.19
$50.37
25-50
$50.37
$100.73
50-75
$75.54
$151.10
75-100
$100.73
$201.46
100-125
$125.91
$251.83
125-150
$151.10
$302.19
150-175
$176.27
$352.56
175-200
$201.46
$402.91
200-250
$226.64
$453.29
** ALL ARE MONTHLY CHARGES EXCEPT THE EXTRA P/U CHARGES

FREQUENCY PER WEEK
3
4
$75.54
$151.10
$226.64
$302.19
$377.73
$453.29
$528.83
$604.37
$679.91

$100.73
$201.46
$302.19
$402.91
$503.64
$604.37
$705.10
$805.83
$906.56

CHARGE
SMALL COMPACTOR CHARGE (COMMERCIAL COMPACTED BINS SERVICED BY A FRONTLOAD VEHICLE)

5
$125.91
$251.83
$377.73
$503.64
$629.56
$755.47
$881.37
$1,007.29
$1,133.20

extra P/U
$15.62
$31.23
$46.85
$62.45
$78.08
$93.68
$109.30
$124.91
$140.53

AMOUNT
REGULAR BIN RATE +
DISPOSAL CHARGE X (1+0.165)

LOCK INSTALLATION/REMOVAL
RELOCATE CHARGE (MOVE A DEBRIS BOX WITHOUT A DUMP)

$240.54
$141.49

“DRY RUN” CHARGE (REGULAR SERVICE – BOX EMPTY)

$141.49

R/O Over Limit Tonnage

$82.48

DEBRIS BOX RENTAL (PER DAY; IN EXCESS OF 7 DAYS)

$14.15

Exhibit 2

Santa Clara County Monthly Solid Waste Rates
FY 2021-2022
Res. Single-Family
30-35
60-65

20
Jurisdiction

Gallons

City of Cupertino
City of Mountain View
County of Santa Clara South
City of Milpitas 1
City of Sunnyvale
City of Campbell
City of Santa Clara2
City of Los Altos
City of San Jose3
County of Santa Clara East
Town of Los Gatos
City of Saratoga
City of Monte Sereno
County of Santa Clara West
Town of Los Altos Hills
City of Palo Alto

$
$
$
$

50th Percentile
75th Percentile
All City Average
WVSWMA Average
WVSWMA Average
over/under All City Average

Gallons

4

90-96

Gallons

Gallons

Commercial
3YD Bin
3YD Bin
1x/week

3x/week

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

288.39
414.25
492.75
279.14
429.37
345.24
322.03
457.29
267.99
485.87
428.02
490.44
459.06
443.95
188.56
504.40

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

865.15
1,067.65
1,400.55
790.21
1,251.50
1,045.62
914.01
1,371.93
766.51
1,379.70
1,296.66
1,486.23
1,390.55
1,331.83
440.93
1,455.48

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

33.45
35.65
36.13
37.04
37.36
37.41
37.90
38.86
39.12
39.33
40.11
40.26
41.92
46.54
47.85
50.07

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

64.38
71.30
80.79
43.56
41.47
67.72
55.70
77.69
78.24
72.76
73.07
73.20
76.48
96.70
95.74
100.15

$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

31.45
24.45
31.23
34.08
N/A
30.25
29.60
36.07
N/A
38.02
32.23
32.48
33.76
27.80
34.33
27.81

$
$

95.30
106.95
N/A
50.05
46.67
98.04
73.60
116.56
117.36
N/A
106.03
106.14
111.03
N/A
143.57
150.22

$
$
$
$

31.84
34.00
31.68
33.12

$
$
$
$

38.99
40.67
39.94
39.66

$
$
$
$

73.13
78.88
73.06
67.35

$
$
$
$

106.14
116.56
101.65
95.30

$
$
$
$

428.69
465.77
393.55
411.72

$
$
$
$

1,274.08
1,382.41
1,140.91
1,223.70

(6.35)

$

18.17

$

82.79

$
$
$

$

1.44 $

(0.27) $

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

(5.71) $

1

Effective
Date
2/1/2021
1/1/2021
7/1/2020
1/1/2021
7/1/2020
7/1/2021
8/1/2020
7/1/2020
7/1/2020
7/1/2020
7/1/2021
7/1/2021
7/1/2021
9/1/2020
7/1/2020
7/1/2019
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WEST VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Calendar of Future Agenda Items
September 2, 2021 Meeting
•

Receive and file annual CalRecycle Annual Reports

November 4, 2021 Meeting
•

Closed Session – annual evaluations of Authority Attorney and Executive Director

•

Consider a report on WVC&R’s prior Fiscal Year Complaints/Liquidated Damages

February 3, 2022 Meeting
•

Elect new officers

•

Review of Collection and Disposal contracts

•

Accept Audited Financial Statements

May 5, 2022 Meeting
•

Board meeting schedule

•

Ratify Guadalupe Landfill disposal contractual rate adjustment

•

Ratify WVC&R contractual collection rate adjustment

•

Approve Authority budget

•

Review Executive Director and Authority Counsel contracts

Recurring Meeting Agenda Items
•

Approval of prior meeting minutes

•

Receive and file the Executive Director financial report

•

SB 1383 Implementation Update

•

Regulatory and program updates

